University of Alberta

Active heterotrophic microbial communities from polar desert soils of the Canadian High Arctic

by

Elham Taghavimehr

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Microbiology and Biotechnology

Department of Biological Sciences

©Elham Taghavimehr

Fall 2012

Edmonton, Alberta

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Libraries to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only. Where the thesis is converted to, or otherwise made available in digital form, the University of Alberta will advise potential users of the thesis of these terms.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis and, except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission.

Abstract

Polar warming will lead to increased labile organic carbon in Arctic soils, both from the release of organic carbon stored in permafrost and increased plant production. The impact of increasing organic carbon on Arctic soil microbial community composition and activity is of great interest because microbial decomposition of Arctic soil organic carbon is a potential major source of CO₂ to the atmosphere. I determined the activity and composition of the active heterotrophic bacteria in soil cores of the Canadian High Arctic by stable isotope probing (SIP) with a labile organic carbon analogue, ¹³C-labeled algal lysate. The activity, measured as CO₂ production rate, was significantly higher with substrate added compared to the controls. There was a significant decrease in diversity and a shift in community composition following addition of labile carbon. These results suggest only a few groups within the community are active and responsive to increased complex organic carbon.

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I would like to remind myself of all the patience and support of my supervisor Dr. Brian Lanoil during the years of my study and research at the University of Alberta. I came to realize his love toward teaching which was very inspiring to me. It was with having all his knowledge, experience, effort, guidance and encouragement that this thesis came into existence. I would like to thank him for bringing me into the field of microbial ecology and taking me all the way to accomplish this honorable success.

I would also like to thank Dr. Yan Boucher and Dr. Tariq Siddique as being in my thesis committee and providing me with helpful inputs and comments.

I would like to express my sincere appreciation to our great collaborators Dr. Steven Siciliano and his research team including Martin Brummell for collecting soil samples, providing information from sites and *in situ* measurements for this research.

It is always very beneficial to work in a friendly lab environment. I had the opportunity to make great friends (Ido, Anna, Misha, Sina, Ryan and Rhianna) and have awesome lab-mates who always supported and helped in lab experiments and lab meetings with their ideas and guidance.

I would also like to thank my spouse, Babak Khamsehi for his understanding of the long and late hours involved with this research. He was a great source of inspiration and motivation and was always helping and supportive.

My parents are always the magic power keeping me continuing; however, so far away I would like to appreciate their encouragement to study abroad in a great academic environment.

Finally, I would like to thank Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC) and the department of Biological Sciences at the University of Alberta for the financial support.

Table of Contents

1.Literature Review1
1.1 Introduction1
1.2 Global climate change and the Arctic2
1.2.1 Significant changes in the Arctic terrestrial ecosystems due to
global warming2
1.2.1.1 Temperature2
1.2.1.2 Increased precipitation3
1.2.1.3 Increase in CO ₂ concentration
1.2.1.4 Effects of increased temperature, precipitation, CO ₂ on Arctic
soils4
1.2.2 Arctic soils
1.3 Arctic soils biogeochemistry10
1.3.1 Carbon and nutrient dynamics in the terrestrial northern high
latitudes11
1.3.2 Carbon fluxes in the Arctic with focus on CO ₂ 14
1.4 Microbiology of the Arctic soils16
1.4.1 Microbial diversity and ecology of permafrost and active
layer18
1.4.1.1 Microbial assemblages in active layer18
1.4.1.2 Microbial assemblages in permafrost: composition and
abundance22
1.4.1.3 Permafrost and the active layer similarity; a microbial
community26
1.4.2 Heterotrophs in the Arctic28

1.4.3	Microbial activity: identification of active microbes in cold	
	environments31	
1.5 Res	earch objectives and hypothesis34	
1.6 Ref	erence list	
• • •		
2. Act	ive heterotrophic microbial communities from polar desert soils	
of th	e Canadian High Arctic63	
2.1 Int	roduction63	
2.2 Ma	terial and methods65	
2.2.1	Sites description	
2.2.2	Soil characteristics	
2.2.3	Sample collection and handling66	
2.2.4	SIP microcosms and CO ₂ production67	
2.2.5	SIP DNA extraction and ultracentrifugation in CsCl	
	gradients68	
2.2.6	Amplicon PCR and Pyrosequencing70	
2.2.7	Sequence processing and classification70	
2.2.8	Community comparison analysis71	
2.3 Res	sults72	
2.3.1	Soil characteristics, Carbon dioxide production rate and in situ	
	CO ₂ flux72	
2.3.2	Estimation of bacterial community diversity75	
2.3.3	Community composition of active heterotrophs78	
2.3.4	Community similarity90	
2.4 Discussion		
2.5 Reference list101		
3. Conclusion		

3.1 Reference list	113
Appendix	114

List of Tables

Table 1. Phylogenetic groups of Bacteria (phylum level) in various
permafrost environments of the Arctic30
Table 2.1 Soil Parameters, in situ CO ₂ concentration, and CO ₂ flux in the
surface soils of the three polar desert sites on Ellesmere Island .substrate74
Table 2.2 Estimated OTU richness, diversity, and sample coverage for 16S
rRNA gene tags for all samples77
Table 2.3 Ten most abundant phylotypes from Resolute Bay
Table 2.4 Ten most abundant phylotypes from Okse Bay
Table 2.5 Ten most abundant phylotypes from DP
Table 2.6 Ten most abundant phylotypes from Patterson River
Table 2.7 Results from Libshuff and Unifrac (weighted and unweighted)
analysis of bacterial 16SrRNA sequences91

List of Figures

Fig 1. Amplification of Arctic temperature trend compared to Northern
Hemisphere temperature trend3
Fig 2.1 CO ₂ production rates of soil samples. The 13 suffix indicates samples incubated with ¹³ C-labeled substrate while the C suffix indicates incubated without the addition of substrate
Fig 2.2 Rarefaction curve of observed 97% OTU richness with increasing sequencing depth
Fig 2.3 Pie charts for bacterial 16SrRNA (V13) phylum level assemblage composition for site Res
Fig 2.4 Pie charts for bacterial 16SrRNA (V13) phylum level assemblage composition for site Pit
Fig 2.5 Pie charts for bacterial 16SrRNA (V13) phylum level assemblage composition for site DP
Fig 2.6 Pie charts for bacterial 16SrRNA (V13) phylum level assemblage composition for site Pat
Fig 2.7 Non-metric multidimensional scaling ordination (based on Yue & Clayton theta distance matrix)showing the degree of similarity between
samples92
Fig 2.8 A Relaxed Neighbor Joining dendrogram showing the clustering of the samples based on unweighted UniFrac
analysis

1. Literature review

1.1. Introduction

Permafrost soil contains an enormous amount of total organic carbon: twice as much as the amount of carbon that is extant in the atmospheric carbon pool (Zimov et al. 2006; Schuur et al. 2008). This carbon is estimated to be 50% of the world's soil organic carbon storage (Tarnocai et al. 2009). In the northern permafrost area, the highest mean soil organic carbon contents (32.2–69.6 kg m²) are found in organic soils (peatlands) and permafrost-affected mineral soils (Tarnocai et al. 2009). Warming in the Arctic is occurring two to three times faster than the global mean surface temperature increase (IPCC 2007). As a result, the previously inaccessible frozen organic carbon in permafrost will be subject to microbial decomposition following thaw, leading to increased carbon release to the atmosphere (Ping et al. 2008). Microbial decomposition is the main pathway for carbon turnover and its return to the atmosphere. As climate warms, this will lead to positive climate feedbacks from terrestrial ecosystems to the atmosphere (Zimov et al. 2006; Schuur et al. 2008). Most of the studies regarding these feedbacks have focused on peatlands or generally address tundra biome; however, permafrost-affected mineral soils that account for 5,000,000 square kilometers of land surface (Hogan 2011) have received little attention. Hence, it is not clear how a changing environment will affect these ecosystems or what role they may play in climate change.

The microbial organic carbon decomposition rate depends on several factors such as organic carbon quality (decomposability), environmental factors, and genetic and metabolic potential for degradation in the microbial community. Organic matter within permafrost and active layer soil is labile and decomposable (Coolen et al. 2011); thus, interactions between microorganisms and their environments are the primary regulators of soil organic matter degradation in the Arctic. Studying these ecosystems will lead to a better understanding of the functionality of microbial communities in permafrost soils and how they respond to ecosystem changes. Our knowledge of the bacterial populations present in these ecosystems is primarily via characterization of total DNA, which may include both active and inactive cells. Thus, to specifically identify and characterize the active microbial communities that are metabolically active and responsible for nutrient cycling, other approaches must be applied.

In this thesis, microbial populations of the High Arctic (polar desert mineral soils) from different sites in dry tundra biome are investigated. The main focus is to find the links between bacterial community structure, activity, and carbon turnover in Arctic soils. This will lead to a better understanding of the role of bacterial assemblages in climate change as having a positive or negative feedback.

1.2. Global climate change and the Arctic

1.2.1. Significant changes in the Arctic terrestrial ecosystems due to global warming

1.2.1.1. Temperature

According to the International Panel on Climate Change (IPCC 2007), global mean surface temperatures have increased by $0.74^{\circ}C \pm 0.18^{\circ}C$ over the last 100 years (1906–2005). Additionally, the last 50-year average atmospheric warming rate is twice the rate for the last 100-year. Temperatures are increasing more rapidly in the Arctic (especially northwestern North America and central Siberia) as compared to a general rise in global temperatures over the last 50 years (Turner et al. 2007) (Fig. 1). This exaggeration of temperature changes in high latitudes compared to lower latitudes is called polar amplification and has been shown in model projections of future climate (Holland and Bitz 2003; ACIA 2005). Polar amplification of climate warming has also been found in proxy-records of deep past warm periods (Zachos et al. 2001) as well as the more recent cold glacials (Masson-Delmotte et al. 2006). Most climate models predict an increase of 7 to 8 $^{\circ}C$ for the late 21st century in the Arctic (IPCC 2007). Since 1980s, up to 3 $^{\circ}C$ increase has been observed over the permafrost layer (IPCC 2007).



Fig 1. Amplification of Arctic temperature trend compared to Northern Hemisphere temperature trend. Temperature anomalies were measured in dark months (November-February). Solid lines and open circles represent measurements north of 65^0 N while the dashed lines and dots are for the entire Northern Hemisphere (Picture modified from Graversen et al (2008).

1.2.1.2. Increased precipitation

Another change in the Arctic that is associated with temperature elevation is increased precipitation. Findings based on six global land-area precipitation data sets, including the Global Historical Climate Network (GHCN) database (ACIA 2005) and the Fourth Assessment Report (AR4) (IPCC 2007) led to the conclusion that precipitation has risen over land north of 30 $^{\circ}$ C from 1900 to 2005. This is a general trend of 6-8 % increase for northern parts of the globe and is consistent with 1.4% per decade increase from 1900 to 2005 for the Arctic (IPCC 2005). A synthesis of new simulations for use in IPCC 2007 by Kattsov et al (2007) showed that percentage increases in the Arctic (33%) are much larger than the global mean precipitation (4.5%).

1.2.1.3. Increase in CO₂ concentration

 CO_2 is the second most important greenhouse gas after H_2O in the atmosphere and its contribution to climate change through human activity has been reported to be a large factor in the context of global warming (IPCC 2007). Due to being radiatively active and adsorbing radiant energy from the sun, the increase in its concentrations in the atmosphere will affect temperature and climate on a global scale. These effects are more tangible in northern latitudes because there will potentially be more changes in atmospheric and surface properties in those environments (Hinzman and Kane 1992). Levels of atmospheric CO_2 at present is about 390 parts per million (ppm) and may increase to concentrations between 500 ppm and 900 ppm by the end of this century (IPCC 2007). Surprisingly, CO_2 levels over the past 650,000 years never exceeded ~280–300p.p.m. by volume (Petit et al. 1999). It was during the industrial era that CO_2 abundance rose roughly exponentially to 379 ppm in 2005 (IPCC 2007).

1.2.1.4. Effects of increased temperature, precipitation, CO₂ on Arctic soils

Based on Arctic Climate Impact Assessment (ACIA 2007), permafrost has experienced warming over the past several decades in Alaska, Canada, Russia, and northern Europe as a consequence of Arctic warming. This warming strongly affects the permafrost and leads to the deepening of the active layer overlying the permafrost (Vincent et al. 2009). All the near-surface permafrost will disappear by the end of 21^{st} century (Lawrence et al. 2008). Permafrost occupies 22% of the exposed land area of the Northern Hemisphere (Zhang et al. 2008) and 16% of the global soil area (Tarnocai et al. 2009). In colder regions with thick permafrost, climate warming turns massive ground ice and frozen water to new water bodies called thermokarst (Romanovsky et al. 2007). Thermokarst lakes are sources of methane emissions as organic matter released into the lake bottom upon permafrost thaw gets degraded anaerobically (Walter et al. 2006). Permafrost is a large carbon reservoir and once was underestimated in its size of stock organic carbon (Post et al. 1982). Recent estimates reports 1672 Pg (1 Pg = 1 billion metric tons) of organic C is stored in permafrost (Schuur et al. 2008).

The increase in precipitation will have several impacts including acceleration of permafrost degradation (Jorgenson et al. 2006), rise in soil moisture and increased plant growth and biomass (Hill and Henry 2011), all of which exert ecological modifications (Castro et al. 2010). Precipitation increase also leads to increased nutrient deposition which leads to elevated nutrient availability. It may shift plant community composition and further quality and quantity of carbon substrates originating from litter inputs (Castro et al. 2010).

Furthermore, climate change has indirect effects on these ecosystems through aforementioned changes such as increase in nutrient availability. Higher temperatures lead to higher decomposition rates accompanied by higher availability of nutrients (Chapin III and Shaver 1996). This is specifically important regarding the fate of soil organic carbon due to climate change which raises many concerns as warming and more precipitation will lead to release of carbon to the atmosphere due to likely enhanced microbial decomposition. It is assumed that in warmer environments, microbial decomposition of soil organic matter will be triggered through increase in soil moisture, nutrient availability, and better biological conditions for enzymatic reactions (Davidson and Janssens 2006). However, the knowledge about the rate and form of the carbon release due to microbial decomposition is in its infancy (Schuur et al. 2008).

Organic matter decomposition, driven mainly by microorganisms, leads to the efflux of carbon dioxide (CO₂) with minor amounts of methane (CH₄) and hydrologic leaching of dissolved and particulate carbon compounds (Davidson and Janssens 2006). Though many studies have investigated the warminginduced acceleration of organic matter decomposition, the temperature sensitivity of soil carbon decomposition remains controversial. Several models have been proposed to predict how microbes will use SOM released by permafrost thawing; these models segregate SOM into conceptual pools with different mean residence times (MRT), such as labile and recalcitrant (Smith et al. 1997). For example, RothC model which is amongst the most wildly applied SOM simulation models, divide SOM into decomposable plant material (DPM), microbial biomass (BIO), resistant plant material (RPM), humified organic matter (HUM) and inert organic matter (IOM) (Jenkinson and Rayner 1977; Paustian et al. 1992; Brady and Weil 2002). HUM and IOM have the highest mean residence time (500-5000 years) and contain lignin, long chain n-alkanes, humic substances and biochar, which make this pool recalcitrant (Dungait et al. 2012). RPM with 15-100 years MRT is composed of lignified tissues, waxes and polyphenols. BIO that has a shorter MRT (1-2 year(s)) contains polysaccharides from plant litter. It is less recalcitrant since many fungi and bacteria degrade plant polysaccharides. DPM (0.1-0.50 year MRT) is composed of highly labile compounds such as simple sugars and organic acids which quickly decompose in soils. The response of different pools of soil organic matter to temperature increase and a changing climate has not yet been determined due to lack of accurate forecast for global change-driven alterations in soil carbon stocks (Conant et al. 2011). Conant et al (2011) presented a conceptual model with three component processes. Changes in these processes response. rate could affect temperature These processes include depolymerization of biochemically complex compounds; production and conformation of microbial enzyme production; and processes that limit the availability of soil organic matter. Altogether, many models predict that microbial decomposition of soil organic matter will be stimulated (Lloyd and Taylor 1994; Friedlingstein et al. 2006); however field experiments showed a later decrease in CO2 release after an initial increase in the loss of CO₂ from the soils (Oechel et al. 2000; Luo et al. 2001). It has been proposed that efficiency of soil microbes in using carbon should also be considered in the soil-carbon response to climate warming and constructing models. Since many factors, including protein structure and conformation, altered protein expression, shifts in microbial community structure have never been incorporated into models (Waldrop et al. 2010), there are many uncertainties regarding the decomposition rate of organic matter in a warmer future environment.

Elevated atmospheric CO_2 has direct and indirect effects on Arctic ecosystems (Billings et al. 1983). The direct effect might be seen as enhanced carbon uptake by plants through a direct stimulation of photosynthesis. The indirect effect of enhanced CO_2 concentrations is through increase in temperature. This increase in temperature affects the photosynthesis. The indirect effect is more pronounced than the direct effect. Field experiments in some Arctic sites (Tissue and Oechel 1987; Gwynn-Jones et al. 1997; Korner et al. 1997) revealed that responses of plant growth and biomass to increased CO_2 concentrations are normally small or nonexistent (direct effect). However, these responses might vary among different species (Dormann and Woodin 2002). Indeed, a rise in net ecosystem productivity through increase in net photosynthesis rate resulting from elevated CO_2 has been observed in many studies (Oechel and Vourlitis 1994; Norby et al. 2005; Grant et al. 2011); however, over the long-term, a simultaneous increase in temperature is needed to allow the increased carbon accumulation to persist (Oechel and Vourlitis 1994; Oechel et al. 1994). This might be due to the increase of nutrient availability in the ecosystem in the light of temperature increase (Oechel et al. 1994). It is unlikely that without an increase in nutrient availability CO_2 alone can trigger plant growth in long term.

The effect of climate change on global soil carbon stocks might exert positive or negative feedback on ecosystems. Soil respiration of plant roots and microorganisms counteracts increased net primary productivity. The carbon released from belowground to atmosphere (both in the form of CO_2 and CH_4) upon permafrost thaw will generate a positive feedback to climate change (i.e. the Arctic would act as a carbon source). Conversely, if net primary productivity exceeds soil respiration the feedback would be negative (i.e. the Arctic would act as a carbon sink). This concept is fundamental regarding Arctic terrestrial carbon fluxes as to whether Arctic terrestrial ecosystems are acting as a source or sink for GHGs (greenhouse gas) emissions.

Recent studies show the weakening of land-based CO_2 sink of the northern latitudes and a change to being a source (Grulke et al. 1990; Oechel et al. 1993; Oechel and Vourlitis 1994; Hayes et al. 2011; Lamb et al. 2011). Nonetheless, this might change due to other factors such as water content as was shown by Zona et al (2012) that CO_2 loss increased as a result of flooding. Some models reveal that Arctic is still small sink for carbon (IPCC 2007; Sitch et al. 2007). Shrubs expansion over the past 40 years in the Alaskan Arctic and more greening and productivity (Stow et al. 2004) might contribute to negative feedback while other findings based on enhanced availability of organic material claim a positive feedback and contribution to a warmer climate. Nevertheless, uncertainty regarding the models and measurements findings remains. A more complete understanding of the feedbacks might be achieved through improving the models and field-lab experiments by incorporating information from detailed analysis of SOM substrate availability and microbial community profiles.

1.2.2. Arctic soils

The Arctic has a unique range of soils that are known to have special features. These soils are defined as being in cryosolic order in the Canadian soil classification system (Agriculture Canada 1998). Cryosols (Gelisols) cover more than 8% of the earth's ice-free land surface (Soil Survey Staff 1999). These soils can be found in a broad range of temperature, moisture and physiographic conditions. They are defined as permafrost affected soils and have two portions that are thermally distinct (Smith 2004): the lower portion that is frozen for at least two consecutive years is called permafrost (ACIA 2005) and the upper portion that thaws seasonally in summer and freezes in winter is called the active layer.

Permafrost distribution varies through the Arctic and can be continuous (90-100 % of land), discontinuous (50-90 %), sporadic (10-50 %) or isolated (<10%), primarily dependent on the latitude (Brown et al., 1998, revised Feb. 2001). Permafrost thickness differs from a few decimeters at the most southern regions to 740 m in Alaska and 1500 m in Siberia (U.S. Arctic Research Commission Permafrost Task Force 2003; Anisimov and Reneva 2006). In Canada, permafrost thickness varies from a few decimeters at the southern limit of the permafrost to over 700 meters in the High Arctic islands (Heginbottom et al. 1995).

The active layer ranges from decimeters deep in the High Arctic and extend to more than 2 m at lower latitudes (Steven et al. 2006). Permafrost thickness depends on several factors including ground temperature, soil moisture content, snow cover (French 2007), peat coverage (Kujala et al. 2008), and other factors. The boundary separating the permafrost and active layer, known as the permafrost table, acts as a biogeochemical barrier that blocks the flow of surface water and penetration of external environmental factors into the permafrost (Gilichinsky 2002) and also accumulates water, thereby having different biogeochemistry than either the drier active layer soils or the frozen permafrost.

Arctic soil formation is dominated by cryogenic processes. These processes involve the migration of unfrozen soil water from the active layer towards the frozen front along the thermal gradient in the permafrost system (cryoturbation). This movement disturbs the ground and incorporates a large amount of soil organic matter into lower soil layers. This phenomenon leads to the formation of many special features of the soils of the Arctic; irregular or broken soil horizons, involution and organic matter accumulation in the subsoil oriented rock fragments (Bockheim and Tarnocai 1998) and can also lead to deep mixing of surficial organic carbon to great depths (in some cases, >3 m) in the soils.

The Arctic includes three main climatic subzones: polar desert, subpolar desert and the tundra (Tedrow 1977), which are equivalent to High Arctic, Middle Arctic and Sub/Low Arctic, respectively, in the Canadian classification system (Ecoregions Working Group 1989). Each of these subzones has unique features including the soil texture, vegetation cover and precipitation. The most extreme conditions are found in the High Arctic, followed by Middle Arctic, and finally Low Arctic with the mildest conditions.

Low and Middle Arctic Soils

The southernmost part of the Arctic- Low Arctic- has the winter temperatures the same as Mid-Arctic but is at least 5 ⁰C warmer later in summer. Low Arctic receives more precipitation and has many different types of soil cover including Cryosols, Gleysols- soils permanently waterlogged- and Histosols-soils with organic matter as the primary parent material- while in the Middle Arctic, one can find Cryosols and Histosols due to less precipitation. Shrubs, dwarf shrubs, herbs and mosses are the main plant cover in both regions (Goryachkin et al. 2004).

High Arctic barren

The northern most zone of the Arctic was previously termed as polar desert by Tedrow (1977), however, "High Arctic tundra" or "High Arctic Barren" was proposed by Goryachkin et al (2004) to convey a better landscape image of this zone. These areas are different from cold deserts and are moist during early summer thaw; they receive occasional summer rainfall and some moisture from condensation (Tedrow 1991) so the term "polar desert" is not an appropriate naming for this area (Goryachkin et al. 2004). This area has lower temperatures in both summer and winter relative to the other subzones. The vegetation is limited to lichens, mosses and herbs (Goryachkin et al. 2004). Most of these soils are calcareous, with a pH above 6.0. A salt crust can often be seen on the soil surface. This phenomenon happens under polar desert conditions where there is less precipitation and the snow does not remain for a long time. Therefore, salts and carbonates do not leach and produce a thin salty crust in surface soil. Salinization and calcification do not happen in all High Arctic soils; however, there is a general tendency toward an increased salt accumulation (Tedrow 1977). It is mistakenly assumed that because of sparse vegetation, the organic carbon content of High Arctic soils is low; however, these soils undergo heavy cryoturbation and have higher soil organic matter than was assumed (Tarnocai et al. 2009).

1.3. Arctic soils biogeochemistry

Biogeochemical cycles of carbon and other elements in the Arctic terrestrial ecosystems operate at a slow rate compared to other ecosystems due to the extreme environmental conditions found there. However, the vulnerability of huge carbon stocks in the Arctic to climate change makes the carbon cycle, the most attention and research demanding of all geochemical cycles in the Arctic. Much of the organic carbon in High Arctic soils is relict, deriving from ancient sources and preserved in permafrost. Modern fixation is dominated by land plants and the response of Arctic plants to climate change is a major area of study (Callaghan et al. 2004b; Jónsdóttir 2011; Elmendorf et al. 2012).

However, since my focus in this thesis is on the role of microbial communities in soil organic carbon turnover and heterotrophic respiration and its association with CO_2 is a critical part of this research, I will focus here on heterotrophic respiration in High Arctic soils.

1.3.1. Carbon and nutrient dynamics in the terrestrial northern high latitudes

The terrestrial ecosystems of the Arctic cover approximately $5.05 \times 10^6 \text{ km}^2$ (Walker et al. 2005). The stock of fixed C per unit area in the arctic averages approximately 550 g m⁻² (David McGuire et al. 1997). As this number is small compared to a global average of 7150 g m⁻² for vegetated ecosystems, Arctic ecosystems are recognized as having low primary productivity, low element input, and slow biogeochemical cycling. These features could be mainly due to the lack of trees as a result of N and P deprived soils (Callaghan et al. 2004a). Nonetheless, slow rates of decomposition and mineralization processes lead to accumulation of carbon and other elements (Jonasson et al. 2001) equivalent to that observed in other soil ecosystems.

The ratio of vegetation C assimilation to ecosystem C release is known as net primary productivity (NPP) of the ecosystem. NPP usually decreases with increasing latitude, but local factors such as topography, depth of snow cover, active layer depth, temperature, and soil moisture (Billings, 1973; Shaver et al, 1996) are also significant in influencing productivity. NPP in the High Arctic is usually limited by available nitrogen. Sources of N include atmospheric deposition and microbially-mediated N fixation (Callaghan et al. 2004a). Therefore, carbon fixation and productivity in the sparsely vegetated Canadian High Arctic is restricted to wet areas where there is more N fixation (Gold and Bliss, 1995). The cold atmosphere in the Arctic is not capable of holding high concentrations of volatile fixed N species; therefore, N deposition rates are slow. The other form of "new" nitrogen, N fixation, may account for more than 10% of plant requirement; the remainder is obtained from "old" N, provided by recycling from the soils (Lennihan et al. 1994). N loss from the system occurs through prokaryotic nitrification-denitrification and fungal denitrification; some of this is

lost as the greenhouse gas N_2O (Ma et al. 2007). Based on early field studies of N_2O fluxes from the Arctic (Christensen et al. 1999), very small releases of N_2O were expected; however, recently Lamb et al (2011) showed that at least one High Arctic terrestrial environment is a substantial emitter of N_2O . In fact, the ammonia oxidizer and denitrifier populations were as abundant as in temperate soils (Henry et al. 2006; Leininger et al. 2006; He et al. 2007; Nicol et al. 2008).

Soil Organic Matter (SOM)

There is a considerable range (1400-2400 Pg) in the quantity of global soil organic carbon reported by several studies (Jobbágy and Jackson 2000; Post et al. 1982).

The differences in estimates result from the use of different soil depths to determine the estimated average integrated soil organic carbon content per unit area (Tarnocai et al. 2009). In cryosols, cryoturbation mixes organic carbon deeply into the soils, leading to high reserves of carbon in deep soil layers (Schirrmeister et al. 2002; Zimov et al. 2006). For example, Batjes' (1996) estimates showed that the amount of carbon in the upper-2m-layer in global terrestrial ecosystems is approximately equivalent to twice as much as in the upper-1m-layer. However, many studies focus exclusively on the surface soils, assuming that most of the organic carbon is derived from surface plants and does not migrate to a significant depth. Thus, Post et al (1982) indicates that all soils (both peatland and non-peatland soils) in the tundra zone contain about 1395 Pg based on samples of 100 cm surface soil. Meanwhile, Schuur et al (2008) finds that just non-peatland-vegetation-type northern high latitude regions hold 750 Pg carbon—almost four times as much as Post et al (1982) estimated for the entire Arctic environment—based on the upper 3 m of soil.

Peatlands are characterized as a wetland containing more than 40 cm thickness of peat (NWWG 1988). Peatlands contain 20-60 % of the total pool of organic C in permafrost, 1-20% is stored at mineral soils and the remainder in thaw lakes/thin peat areas (Bockheim 2006; Schuur et al. 2008). New estimations of the carbon pools in soils of the northern permafrost regions by Tarnocai et al (2009), revealed that organic soils (peatlands) and cryoturbated permafrost-affected

mineral soils contain the highest mean organic carbon pools (69.6 and 32.2 kg m⁻², respectively) compared to other soils types. This model could still be an underestimation of total C pools in mineral soils because of data scarcity (Schuur et al. 2008). For example, the most recent estimates of soil organic carbon in the Arctic, based on deep sampling, estimates the value at 1672 Pg C which is twice as much as the amount of carbon extant in the atmosphere and double that of previous estimates (Gorham 1991; Jobbágy and Jackson 2000).

Our knowledge about the quality (decomposability) of soil organic matter is limited to a few studies (Dutta et al. 2006; Ström and Christensen 2007; Coolen et al. 2011; Lee et al. 2012) and most of them are limited to few Arctic locations. The general assumption is that the quality depends on the soil genesis process; therefore, organic soils harboring peat are likely to decompose at slower rates compared to organic upland soils or mineral soils (Schuur et al. 2008). Although it was thought that permafrost C from both peatland and mineral soil have slow decomposition rate upon permafrost thaw (Schuur et al. 2008), recent research reveals much higher decomposition rates than previously expected. For example, Siberian loess permafrost, which contains a large carbon pool (450 Pg), quickly decomposes upon thaw and could release about 1 Pg C immediately followed by another 40 Pg C over the subsequent 40 years with a temperature increase to 5^{0} C if only 10% of total permafrost pool thaws (Dutta et al. 2006). Moist acidic tundra from Alaska has also been shown to have labile carbon that is easily decomposed (Coolen et al. 2011). Although Lee et al (2012) used a range of soils from organic and minerals soils and investigated the decomposability of carbon in aerobic and anaerobic conditions; still there remains a huge amount of work on different soils from different ecosystems of the Arctic. Many factors, including parent material of the soil, vegetation cover, soil physicochemical characteristics and climate influence the soil composition, which will affect the rate of decomposition and lability of the soil organic matter.

1.3.2. Carbon fluxes in the Arctic with focus on CO₂

Methane

Methane is both produced and consumed in soils of terrestrial ecosystems. It is produced from anaerobic decomposition of organic matter in water-saturated, anaerobic soil. Wet Arctic tundra is known as a significant contributor to methane emissions (Bartlett and Harriss 1993). One-quarter to one-third of the world's soils total methane emissions are emitted from the wet soils of high latitudes (Walter et al. 2001). The microbial process of methanogenesis is responsible for methane production in anaerobic soil zones. Conversely, in aerobic parts of the soil column, methane is consumed by microbial methane oxidation. Most of the methane consumption happens in the dry and well-drained soils (Ridgwell et al. 1999). Methanotrophy is responsible for the removal of approximately half of the produced methane. Hence, it is a very important process in regulating methane net emissions from soils. High Arctic well-drained and dry soils are not a source of methane; however, they might have a significant role in oxidation of atmospheric methane. Recent findings (Lamb et al. 2011) confirm this model as it was shown that several High Arctic dry soils act as a slight sink for methane. Based on atmospheric analyses, the Arctic is an overall net source of methane (Denman et al. 2007); therefore, these soils might play a crucial role in regulating feedbacks to a future warmer climate.

Carbon dioxide

Net CO_2 exchange from soils is an outcome of several factors: CO_2 uptake for photosynthesis minus CO_2 respiration by plants, the microbial decomposition of organic matter and CO_2 produced by fires that burn vegetation and organic matter. There is high temporal and spatial variation in C fluxes of different sites in the Arctic that makes it difficult to determine if this ecosystem as a whole will act as a source or sink of CO_2 (Aurela et al. 2001; Hobbie et al. 2002). For example, C accumulation in plant biomass is limited to vegetation-growing season (Blodau 2002; Rennermalm et al. 2005) and in summer time; many ecosystems are more efficient in terms of ecosystem productivity via photosynthesis (Rennermalm et al. 2005). Moisture conditions also influence the uptake of CO_2 and increase in water table due to increased precipitation, proliferates net ecosystem production (Rennermalm et al. 2005). In northern wetlands of the permafrost zone, increase in temperature and moisture helps the ecosystem to act as a sink for CO_2 and produce methane in anoxic conditions (Smith et al. 2007).

Most of the models during 1990s indicate that northern high latitudes were a net sink for CO_2 (Baker et al. 2006; Gurney et al. 2004; Rödenbeck et al. 2003) Coupled climate-carbon models indicate a continuing Arctic CO_2 sink throughout the 21st century (Friedlingstein et al. 2006; Sitch et al. 2008; Qian et al. 2010). This is mainly due to a trend of increasing productivity and vegetation in response to elevated CO_2 concentrations and temperature (Norby et al. 2005; Oechel et al. 2000). On the other hand, microbial decomposition of carbon is a key determinant of changes in fluxes that might reverse these predictions by turning these soils into net sources of CO_2 . In addition, episodic process of wild fire and disturbance of soil also converts soil organic carbon and adds to the release of carbon to the atmosphere and the fire response of the landscape to climate change is poorly understood (Schuur et al. 2008). But both of these processes depend enormously on the ecosystem type and climate conditions (Flannigan et al. 2005; Davidson and Janssens 2006).

When permafrost thaws, carbon that enters the soil can face two different conditions; oxic or anoxic soil conditions. In upland environments, lack of water saturation creates a desirable environment for aerobic microbial respiration. In water-saturated lowland regions, an anoxic soil condition is observed where development of thermokarst lakes results in the introduction of carbon to aquatic environments (Walter et al. 2006). Due to lack of oxygen, other elements such as nitrate, sulfate, iron and CO₂ will be used as electron acceptors for respiration. This leads to slower decomposition rates and the release of methane to the atmosphere. This process raises concerns as methane has 25 times more warming potential compared to CO₂ on a per molecule basis (IPCC 2007). To investigate the carbon balance, Lee et al (2012) examined the rate of permafrost CO₂ and

 CH_4 release under aerobic and anaerobic conditions. Over a 500-day period, permafrost soils from Alaska and Siberia from both organic and mineral soil types containing 40% and 1-16% carbon, respectively, were incubated to measure the production rate of CH_4 and CO_2 . As expected, higher decomposition rates were observed in carbon-rich soils on a per gram soil basis. However, when carbon release rate was expressed based on a per gram carbon basis, a measure that reflects only differences in C quality, mineral soils showed similar or greater C release to the organic soils, indicating that mineral soils may play similar roles in climate feedbacks as organic-rich peat soils. Based on these results, an aerobic upland ecosystem will probably be more critical in having larger effects on global climate change than anaerobic wetland environments in spite of methane release from wetlands. However, permafrost soils from various regions in the Arctic vary in their response and a broader study with more samples with different soil topography is needed to determine whether these findings are universal.

Laboratory studies alongside precise measurements of greenhouse gas productions and the models that take into account many key factors such as rate and extent of permafrost thaw, the hydrological and plant reaction to permafrost thaw, the decomposition timescale of organic matter and regional heterogeneities in soil properties (Von Deimling et al. 2012) will help to reach an accurate prediction of the magnitude and effect of thawing permafrost on global climate change.

1.4. Microbiology of the Arctic soils

Microorganisms in Arctic soils live in extreme environments where constant subzero temperatures, low water and nutrient availability can be seen all year round. Despite the harsh conditions of the cold environments, microorganisms manage to thrive in these extreme ecosystems. Early studies delving into the microbiology of polar regions tried to answer the question if these microbes are only surviving or actively growing (James and Sutherland 1942; Boyd and Boyd 1964; Horowitz et al. 1972; Cameron and Morelli 1974). However, they all needed to prove that there was no contamination from equipment and handling the process of sampling from the environment. It was very likely that microbes get introduced to the ecosystem through sampling. Recently, with the development of new techniques and methods such as the utilization of fluorescent microspheres and green fluorescent protein-marked strains, there have been improvements in obtaining intact soil and permafrost samples (Shi et al. 1997; Juck et al. 2005). We now know that the frozen ground harbors ancient viable cells. It is difficult to find the timeline or age of a microbial species without a fossil record or evident events of the origin time of a microorganisms' appearance (Vreeland and Rosenzweig 2002). Thus, the age of the environment surrounding microorganisms determines their age. That is why microorganisms found in permafrost are believed to be ancient and as old as the permafrost they are isolated from. These ancient viable cells represent an important portion of the biosphere; the cryobiosphere regarding their response to future climatic warming and their role in biogeochemical cycling (Gilichinsky et al. 2008).

Precise knowledge about the abundance, diversity, viability, activity and distribution of microbial assemblages in these ecosystems is essential to understanding the ecological roles they have and their future potential response to global warming. Predicting future carbon fluxes is dependent on microbial activity in these ecosystems. Frozen conditions put limitations to the ecosystem such as low availability of water, reduced protein flexibility and enzyme activity. Therefore, these environments are very sensitive to even small changes in temperature which could exert many changes in soil composition, hydrology and thermal regimes as well as influencing microbial assemblages and their ecological roles (Doran et al. 2002).

Biodiversity and composition; importance and role in ecosystem functioning

All forms of life including, plants, animals and microbial species control ecosystem processes such as the physical formation of habitats (ecosystem engineering (Jones et al. 1994), fluxes of elements in biogeochemical cycles (for example, ecological stoichiometry (Sterner and Elser 2002), and the productivity of ecosystems (for example, via trophic cascades and keystone species (Power et

al. 1996). Biological communities' diversity has been shown to regulate these ecological processes (Hooper and Vitousek 1997; McGrady-Steed et al. 1997; Naeem et al. 1994; Symstad et al. 1998; Tilman 1997; Tilman et al. 1997). Therefore, biodiversity loss and its ecological consequences has recently been the focus of many researches (Chapin III et al. 2000; Loreau 2000; McCann 2000; Schwartz et al. 2000; Cottingham et al. 2001). Any substantial loss of biodiversity could influence these critical processes and therefore plant productivity, soil fertility, water quality, atmospheric chemistry and many other environmental and global conditions that are associated with human welfare (Naeem et al. 1999).

Microorganisms including, bacteria and their diversity is part of the aforementioned maintenance of ecosystem and human being welfare (Hunter-Cevera 1998). They are almost found and adapted to every environment on earth (Øvreås 2000).

In order to describe bacterial diversity, several culture dependent and independent methods have been used. Cultivation selects as low as 1% of the bacteria present in the environment (Perry et al. 1989)

1.4.1. Microbial diversity and ecology of permafrost and active layer

Permafrost and active layers of soils are both exposed to extreme physical and chemical conditions. Scientists have tried to unravel the complexities associated with microbial communities in both sections of cryosols. Here I review the microbial diversity and abundance of each environment as well as discussing similarities and critical dissimilarities between them.

1.4.1.1 Microbial assemblages in active layer

Bacterial abundance

Boyd and Boyd (1964) carried out the first investigation on the abundance of microorganisms in arctic soils and reported 55,000 bacteria per gram of dry soil growing at +22 °C. Later, total microbial counts of the active layer using

fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) showed 1.2-23 x 10^8 cells g-1 soil (Kobabe et al. 2004). These results indicate that microbial abundance in Arctic soils is comparable to peat (Dedysh et al. 2003) and soils of other regions (Atlas and Bartha1993; Richter and Markewitz 1995). Based on Kobabe et al (2004), the highest total bacterial cell count (23 x 10^8 cells g⁻¹ soil) was detected in uppermost 5 cm layer of the soil and decreased with depth. However, the abundance of microorganisms rises again close to the permafrost table. The process responsible for such increase at the boundary of active layer-permafrost is likely the infiltration of melted water which carries microorganisms from the surface down to permafrost table (Spirina and Fedorov-Davydov 1998).

Bacterial community composition

In cryosolic soils of the Arctic, temperatures fluctuates between -35 and +15°C, producing a distinct temperature gradient in the surface soils that leads to the formation of a hostile environment for living cells (Wagner 2008). However, microorganisms have overcome these extreme conditions and adapted to the cold temperatures, freeze-thaw cycles, and low water and nutrient availability found in Arctic soils (Rodrigues and Tiedje 2008). In order to characterize the microorganisms thriving in this extreme environment, various culture-dependent and independent methods since the 1940s and late 1990s, respectively, have been used. Early studies using culturing showed the existence of many types of bacteria including members of: Alphaproteobacteria, Betaproteobacteria, Gammaproteobacteria, Firmicutes, Actinobacteria, Cyanobacteria and members of Bacteroidetes previously known as CFB group Parkinson (*Cytophaga**Flexibacter**Bacteriodes*) 1978; (Nelson and Dobrovol'skaya et al. 1996). Culture-dependent studies revealed dominance of Gram-negative bacteria such as Burkholderia sp., Collimonas sp., Pedobacter sp., Janthinobacter sp., Duganella sp., Dyella sp., Achromobacter sp., Pseudomonas sp. and Sphingomonas sp., over Gram-positive strains (Belova et al. 2006; Männistö and Häggblom 2006).

With advances in molecular methods and their usage in microbial ecology,

evaluating the microbial diversity and abundance has developed at an unprecedented rate. Because of this, much of the information about environmental microbial diversity is based on nucleic acid composition of microbial communities.

Neufeld and Mohn (2005) found greater bacterial diversity in active layer Arctic tundra soils than in temperate boreal forest soils. Surprisingly, the highest diversity was related to a sample from the High Arctic. The observed higher diversity at higher latitudes stands in stark contrast to the ecological patterns for plants and animals in which there is an observed decrease in species richness and diversity with the increase in latitude (Willig et al. 2003).

Zhou et al (1997) showed the presence of members of Proteobacteria (60.5%), especially from Delta (25.6%), Alpha (20.9%), Beta (9.3%) and Gamma (4.7%) subdivisions as well as Fibrobacter (16%), Gram-positive bacteria (11.6%) and members of the Bacteroidetes (2.3%) in 16S rRNA gene clone libraries from Siberian tundra soils. However, because the number of environmental clones was very small (43), these results likely do not reflect the total diversity of the soils. More extensive analysis (Neufeld and Mohn, 2005) found Proteobacteria and substantial proportions of Actinobacteria, Acidobacteria, *Firmicutes*, Bacteroidetes, Verrucomicrobia, and Cyanobacteria as the dominant groups of bacteria.

Arguably, one of the important findings of culture-independent methods is in demonstrating the presence of about 10-30 % of the total population in unclassified bacterial group- sequences that cannot be assigned to any previously described phylogenetic group- in Arctic soils. For example, Gilichinsky et al (2008) investigated the microbial soil diversity in a non-enriched soil sample in addition to aerobic and anaerobic enrichments; a high proportion of the phylotypes were related to Proteobacteria and unclassified bacteria. In general, in all their samples they had 15 phyla and about 29% of the phylotypes belonged to unclassified bacteria. In contrast, Liebner et al (2008) in a study addressing the bacterial diversity of polygonal surface tundra soils of Lena Delta, Siberia found

the majority of the community members related to Bacteroidetes, in particular Sphingobacteriaceae. This is surprising as the previous research on Arctic soils showed only a small proportion of community share of Bacteroidetes (Sørheim et al. 1989; Zhou et al. 1997; Gilichinsky et al. 2008). Yet another study on the active layer soils of the Canadian High Arctic revealed the presence of Actinobacteria (54% of clones) and Proteobacteria (42%), predominantly related to the Betaproteobacteria (25%), as well as Bacteroidetes (4%) (Steven et al. 2008). Thus, there is a significant variability in overall community composition at multiple phylogenetic levels when examining Arctic soils.

There are many factors such as organic matter content, soil physicochemical characteristics that might contribute to the minor and major differences in bacterial community composition between different sites. Unfortunately, there are few studies focusing on the differences and patterns controlling the ecological niche for microorganisms. An investigation of diversity and distribution of alkaliphilic psychrotolerant bacteria in the Qinghai-Tibet Plateau permafrost region showed a few differences with other permafrost environments (Shi et al. 1997) in that high content G + C Gram positive bacteria dominated the total community, although the results were solely dependent on culturable isolates (Zhang et al. 2007). Since, culture conditions can determine the type of strains isolated (Shi et al. 1997; Vishnivetskaya et al. 2000), the methodology adds to the difficulty of interpreting data. In addition, differences in physicochemical characteristics of the soils might be another controlling factor (Zhang et al. 2007). Distinctive vegetation types has also been shown to exert changes in the community profile as shrub soils harbor different bacterial and fungal communities than tundra tussock soils (Wallenstein et al. 2007). However, the bacterial community structure in Arctic soils is not fundamentally different from the bacterial communities in lower latitudes (Chu et al. 2010). The bacterial community compositions and diversity of the Canadian, Alaskan and European Arctic soils are as variable as 85 soils from a wide range of lower latitude sites and soil pH better accounts for soil community composition than latitude or other related factors such as mean annual temperature. However, this study did not

include Arctic tundra barren sites and was only limited to the total community structure based on total DNA analysis. It is not known if the same findings are true for the active components in the community that contribute to the functions of the ecosystem.

1.4.1.2 Microbial assemblages in permafrost: composition and abundance

Bacterial abundance

Investigation of bacterial cell count in permafrost has shown quite large numbers such as 10^5 - 10^6 cells g⁻¹ in the Antarctic (Horowitz et al. 1972; Cowan 2002), 10^3 - 10^8 cells g⁻¹ in Siberia (Rivkina et al. 1998), and 10^7 cells g⁻¹ in the Canadian High Arctic (Steven et al. 2004). Due to the extreme conditions of Arctic, a large proportion of these cells are non-viable (Giller et al. 1997; Torsvik et al. 1998; Trevors 1998). All these finding are based on plate counts of bacteria cultured and might not reflect an accurate estimation of viable cell numbers due to restrictions originating from culturing. However, the use of LIVE/DEAD stain showed that only 26% of bacteria were viable (Kirk et al. 2004), therefore, the inhospitable conditions has put cells into a recalcitrant state making the inferences for viable community limited.

Bacterial community composition

Over 70 bacterial genera belonging to aerobic heterotrophs, anaerobic heterotrophs, iron reducers, sulfate reducers, nitrifying and nitrogen fixing bacteria have been isolated from the Arctic permafrost (Gilichinsky et al. 1995; Shi et al. 1997; Vorobyova et al. 1997; Steven et al. 2009). It is technically very challenging to culture and isolate microbes including cold environment inhabiting microorganisms since the culture media itself can only favor the growth and enrichment of specific groups of bacteria and be very selective (Steven et al. 2006). As a result, cultivation can only identify a small proportion of the microbial community such that only 0.1–1% of the total cells in arctic permafrost are represented by cultured isolates (Vorobyova et al. 2001).

Nevertheless, the organisms that were successfully cultivated have the optimal growth at room temperature and therefore are psychrotolerant rather than psychrophilic- psychrophiles have an optimal growth temperature at 15 °C or below (Morita 1975); however, both psychrotolerant and psychrophilic microorganisms have been isolated (Bai et al. 2006; Steven et al. 2007; Steven et al. 2008). This finding led to the proposition of "community of survivors" for the permafrost microbes (Friedmann 1994), meaning they do not prefer their environment but rather are adapted and resistant to the hostile conditions of cold environments.

Both Gram-negative and Gram-positive cells, including spore-forming bacteria, are commonly isolated. However, the spore-forming genera vary in abundance in geographically distant areas of permafrost (Steven et al. 2009). For instance, Canadian High Arctic permafrost harbors between 69% and 100% of spore-forming bacteria in the total isolates from 2 and 9 m samples, respectively while Siberian (Shi et al. 1997), Spitsbergen Island (Hansen et al. 2007) and Chinese alpine (Bai et al. 2006) permafrost only contain 30%, 5% and 1%, respectively, of the total viable bacteria from spore-forming genera. Firmicutes and Actinobacteria are usually the major component of the permafrost microbial community with a 100, 60 and 45% representation in Canadian High Arctic isolates (Steven et al. 2008), Chinese alpine permafrost isolates (Bai et al. 2006) and Siberian permafrost isolates, respectively. A study on a permafrost sample from Northeast Siberian seacoast showed the dominance of phyla Firmicutes, Proteobacteria, and Actinobacteria. 85% of these isolates belong to the genera Arthrobacter and Planococcus (Hinsa-Leasure et al. 2010), both of which have been shown to be present in other permafrost samples (Steven et al. 2007; Zhang et al. 2007; Steven et al. 2009). Another study on permafrost samples from a tundra ecosystem in Northeast of Eurasia (Vishnivetskaya et al. 2006), isolated members of Actinomycetales (Arthrobacter and Microbacteriaceae), Firmicutes (Exiguobacterium and Planomicrobium), Gammaproteobacteria (Psychrobacter) and Alphaproteobacteria (Sphingomonas). They also isolated Bacteroidetes which was lacking from Northeast Siberian seacoast permafrost. The differences

observed in the occurrence of the isolates might be due the various culture conditions and culture media that have been used in different studies. Therefore, culturing techniques and strategies have been developed to improve the isolation of microorganisms from permafrost samples such as improving the culture media through using natural permafrost sediment (NPS) enrichment (Vishnivetskaya et al. 2000) and liquid media incubation prior to plating (Miteva et al. 2004; Hansen et al. 2007). This indeed has helped to retrieve more viable cells through culturing experiment (Nocker et al. 2007).

The microorganisms recovered from permafrost have adapted to the low nutrient availability of these environments. Hence, their chance of recovery from soil gets improved in nutrient-poor media (Gilichinsky et al. 1989; Bai et al. 2006; Steven et al. 2007). Generally, these isolates have distinctive characteristics that enable them to survive in these environments. One of these features is halotolerancy, which is an important factor contributing to low water tolerance of the microorganisms (Steven et al. 2009). In extreme cold conditions of permafrost, there is little biologically available liquid water and during freezing the water, ions get expelled into the remaining liquid phase (Su et al. 2012) . This generated salt stress favors halotolerant bacteria. This might explain the connection between halotolerancy and microbial survival in cold temperatures (Nowrousian 2010).

The application of molecular-based tools has added to the number of phylogenetic groups of bacteria found in permafrost. For instance, the phyla *Gemmatimonadetes*, and *Planctomyces* have been only found using culture-independent survey of a Canadian High Arctic permafrost sample (Steven et al. 2007). The phyla abundance was also found to alter using the molecular-based methods as Actinobacteria and Proteobacteria-related sequences became predominant with the decrease in Firmicutes-related sequences. In addition, phyla that have no cultured representatives such as candidate division TM7, OP10 and OD1 have been shown to be present in Spitsbergen Island of High Arctic permafrost samples (Hansen et al. 2007). Bacterial classes such as

Thermomicrobia, alphaproteobacteria, Betaproteobacteria, Mollicutes, Gammaproteobacteria, Epsilonproteobacteria, Clostridia, Actinobacteria, Planctomycetacia, Spirochaetes, Acidobacteria, Bacteroidetes, Flavobacteria, Sphingobacteria, and Verrucomicrobiae were present though Actinobacteria was the dominating class. Acidobacteria were detected in Northeast Siberian seacoast permafrost through constructing a clone library, while they could not be isolated from plating (Hinsa-Leasure et al. 2010). Another study by Yang et al (2008) investigated the community structure and diversity of bacteria in permafrost sediments in the Tianshan Mountains, China and found a rich diversity of bacteria. Their analysis revealed the presence of Proteobacteria, Actinobacteria, Acidobacteria, Gemmatimonadetes, Bacteroidetes, Firmicutes, and Chloroflexi with the dominance of Proteobacteria. Quantitative PCR of several bacterial Phyla in High Arctic permafrost sample from Eureka, revealed the dominancy of Actinobacteria with a codominance of Betaproteobacteria. Bacteroidetes and Alphaproteobacteria were also found in high abundance while Acidobacteria and Firmicutes were the least abundant groups measured (Melamede 1985; Hyman 1988).

Nonetheless, few reports on the microbial diversity of permafrost affected soils have been published using culture-independent methods. Because of that we find most of the knowledge about permafrost microbiology so far coming from culturing experiments. There are still many uncertainties on microbial diversity based on the detection of the DNA since much of our knowledge about microbial diversity comes from the extraction and analysis of DNA. It is unclear if they are viable and not culturable or they are just naked DNA preserved in permafrost. Although it is unlikely that dead cells will be a large proportion of community DNA due to having a reduced residence time in soil (Ronaghi 2001), constant subzero temperatures can preserve DNA for years (Simon and Daniel 2011); therefore naked DNA could be easily isolated and used as representative of microbial community.

1.4.1.3 Permafrost and the active layer similarity; a microbial community comparison

While both permafrost and active layer of the cryosols are hostile environments, there are differences in the types of challenges faced by microorganisms in these different environments. For instance, in the active layer, freeze-thaw cycles and temperature fluctuations are the main sources of stress, while in permafrost constantly below zero temperatures exert enduring cold stress (Rodrigues and Tiedje 2008).

These differences led microbial ecologists to question if there are any alterations or similarities in the microbial assemblages between the two environments. Steven et al (2008) in a study that compared the microbial diversity and composition of active layer and permafrost from Eureka in Canadian High Arctic found that diversity was similar in the two horizons. However, the composition was different as Actinobacteria (54%) and Proteobacteria (42%) were predominant in the active layer while Preteobacteriarelated sequences dominated the permafrost clone library. Considering the results from culturing, the number and diversity of the bacterial isolates were higher in the active layer. In permafrost, they could only recover isolates belonging to Firmicutes. In addition, the viable cell counts and diversity of the isolates from the permafrost was lower than in the active layer. Another study on a wetland permafrost sample from Axel Heiberg Island, Canada showed that a greater diversity of isolates was recovered from permafrost than active layer, though viable cell counts were opposite (Wilhelm et al. 2011). The bacterial community composition was also different based on clone library results. Acidobacteria were dominant in the active layer while Actinobacteria were dominant in Permafrost clones. A complete list of the common occurring phyla in Canadian, Alaskan and European Arctic and a comparison of active layer and permafrost can be found in table 1.

It is likely that permafrost microbial community could be a subset of active layer as these communities formed in the surface ecosystems are trapped and buried during sediment accumulation and freezing (Hoffmann et al. 2007). However, the differences reported between upper soil layers and underlain permafrost is possibly due to the complex vertical structure of soil/sediments and the physical/chemical differences between the horizons (Kircher and Kelso 2010). In spite of these physicochemical differences, Gilichinsky et al (2008) found similarities between active layer and permafrost of an Arctic soil. Grampositive bacteria with high and low G+C content, Alphaproteobacteria, Betaproteobacteria, Gammaproteobacteria, and Bacterioedetes were present in both soil and sediments; however, the genera diversity was higher in permafrost. Also Gammaproteobacteria was predominant in permafrost while Alphaproteobacteria, Betaproteobacteria and Delta proteobacteria dominated the active layer.

Yergeau et al. (2010) investigated the phylogenetic and functional community composition in an active layer sample and a 2 m deep permafrost sample from the same site in Canadian High Arctic, and found *Actinobacteria* as the dominant phylum in both the active layer soil and permafrost, even though *Betaproteobacteria* was codominant with Actinobacteria in permafrost. The authors indicated that these results, which were in agreement with previous studies in finding Actinobacteria as the dominant group (Kobabe et al. 2004; Steven et al. 2007; Liebner et al. 2008; Steven et al. 2008; Wagner et al. 2009), confirms how well-adapted Actinobacteria are to cold environments.. They suggested that permafrost microbial community could be a subset of the active layer microbial community and originated from overlying active layer.

A recent metagenome sequencing study on Alaskan active layer and permafrost soils investigated the microbial phylogenetic and functional genes at the frozen state and after thaw on two replicate cores (MacKelprang et al. 2011). Active layer samples from both cores were more closely related to each other than to their underlying permafrost. The same result was observed for 2-day and 7-day incubations. Despite a higher level of similarity between active layer cores, active layer and permafrost still shared similar community composition. Actinobacteria, Proteobacteria, Chloroflexi, Verrucomicrobia, Acidobacteria, Bacteroidetes, Firmicutes were present in both. Actinobacteria and Proteobacteria were abundant in active layer while Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes were less than 10% abundant. In comparison, Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes were dominant as more than 30% of the total community in permafrost.

1.4.2 Heterotrophs in the Arctic

Understanding heterotrophic soil respiration and its sensitivity to global warming will help fill many gaps in the knowledge about arctic climate feedbacks. Recent findings indicate that changes in the structure and diversity of terrestrial microbial communities will have important effects on CO_2 production. Allison et al (2010) indicated that microbial adaptation or shifts in microbial communities will accelerate carbon loss from the ecosystem (Allison et al. 2010). Moreover, higher concentrations of CO_2 interfere and alter soil microbial composition and activity, leading to carbon loss from ecosystems (Carney et al. 2007). Heterotrophic bacteria that oxidize organic C to inorganic forms to extract energy for growth is then considered to have the greatest role in determining the amount and rate of C transfer to the atmosphere especially in areas that that are sparsely vegetated.

Microorganisms are restricted to low nutrient availability due to the frozen state of the environment in Arctic. Actinobacteria are commonly found at high abundance in the bacterial community of Arctic soils (Vishnivetskaya et al. 2006; Steven et al. 2007; Yergeau et al. 2010). They are believed to maintain metabolic activity and DNA repair mechanisms in cold environments (Johnson et al. 2007). Furthermore, they have the capacity to degrade complex organic carbon compounds which makes them an important group in organic matter degradation in these extreme ecosystems (Yergeau et al. 2010). Based on most of the studies on Arctic soils and cold environments which was reviewed in 1.4.1, only very few studies have found *Acidobacteria* (Yang et al. 2008; Hinsa-Leasure et al. 2010) and they used culture-independent methods. A recent study also by Chu et al (2010), showed the presence of *Acidobacteria* among the dominant phyla;
however, they used a high resolution bar-coded pyrosequencing technique. It was not until very recently that researches have tried to fill the gap observed in the background literature in linking microbial communities to ecosystem function. While it has only been very recently that our knowledge has improved about the microbial diversity of permafrost-affected soils due to the application of genomic methods, we still do not know much which bacteria among the detected bacteria are growing in low temperatures in Arctic or what their role and physiological abilities are in the total microbial community. This will be the focus of the next section of my literature review.

Table 1. Phylogenitic groups of Bacteria (phylum level) in various permafrost environments of the Arctic

	Canadian Arctic	Alaskan Arctic		European Arctic	
	Eureka,		Toolik	SamoylovIsland,	Adventdalen valley,
Phylogenetic classification	Ellesmere Island,		LTER, moist	LenaDelta,	Spitsbergen
	Nunavut Canada ^a	Hess Creek ^b	acidic tundra ^c	northeastern Siberia ^d	NorthernNorway ^e
proteobacteria	+	+		+	NS
Alpha-proteobacteria			+	+	NS
Beta-proteobacteria	+		+	+	NS
Gamma-proteobacteria		+	+		NS
Delta-proteobacteria			+	+	NS
Bacteroidetes		+	+	+	NS
Actinobacteria	+	+	+	+	NS
Acidobacteria			+	+	NS
Verrucomicrobia		+	+	+	NS
Gemmatimonadetes		+	+		NS
Chloroflexi		+		+	NS
Planctomycetes				+	NS
Thermomicrobia				+	NS
Firmicutes					NS
proteobacteria	+	+	NS	NS	
Alpha-proteobacteria	+		NS	NS	
Beta-proteobacteria	+		NS	NS	+
Gamma-proteobacteria	+	+	NS	NS	+
Delta-proteobacteria			NS	NS	+
Bacteroidetes		+	NS	NS	+
Actinobacteria	+	+	NS	NS	+
Acidobacteria	+		NS	NS	
Verrucomicrobia		+	NS	NS	
Gemmatimonadetes	+	+	NS	NS	
Chloroflexi		+	NS	NS	
Firmicutes			NS	NS	

Permafrost affected soils

active layer

^aSteven et al. (2008), ^bMackelprang et al. (2011), ^cWallenstein et al. (2007), , ^dWagner et al. (2009), ^eHansen et al. (2007). Ns: not studied

1.4.3 Microbial activity: identification of active microbes in cold environments

With the advances in molecular methods and the recent progress in microbial diversity analysis of permafrost-affected soils, there remains many unanswered questions regarding the biologically active microorganisms. If they are actively growing, what is the level of activity? How can the activity be linked to a function and therefore help us understand the physiological and functional changes in the community in different conditions? These questions recently have driven many microbial ecologists' attentions toward the investigation of the activity at subzero and cold temperatures of cold ecosystems. The ability of microorganisms to grow at temperatures as low as -12 °C has been shown (Breezee et al. 2004). Several recent studies have explored microbial activity in the range of -20 °C to 0 °C using various methods, including incorporation of labeled precursors such as ³H-thymidine for DNA synthesis ¹⁴C-Leucine for proteins synthesis (Carpenter et al. 2000; Rivkina et al. 2000; Junge et al. 2004), gas evolution (Mikan et al. 2002; Rivkina et al. 2002; Panikov et al. 2006), gas uptake (Kato et al. 2005; Panikov and Sizova 2007), organic matter decomposition (Schimel et al. 2004; Panikov et al. 2006) and UV microscopy (Junge et al. 2004). Incorporation of labeled DNA and protein precursors are normally used for homogeneous frozen objects and less frequently for soils. In the case of soils as heterogeneous habitats, gas exchange rate (CO₂, O₂, CH₄ and N2O) and decomposition processes are often used (Simon and Daniel 2011). For example, tundra soil incubations at 0 to -39° C had positive and measurable CO₂ production rate during the experiment. It was shown that permafrost had higher activity than overlying active layer. Microscopy is also a powerful tool to visualize active cells; however, it does not provide activity or growth rate. All these methods have advantages and limitations of their own. For example, decomposition processes are not usually satisfactorily sensitive as it does not

generate an instant rate of a particular microbial activity; therefore, it is not indicative of current temperature conditions and only gives a time averaged integral curve (Panikov 2008). Although gas exchange rates are used as a precise and sensitive method, there is the possibility that abiotic release of gases interferes with gas release originating from instant respiratory activity of soil biota (Panikov et al. 2006).

Overall, microbial activity and growth at subzero temperatures in various cold environments have been observed but the rate is rather different from other biomes. In a study addressing temperature dependence of metabolic rates of microorganisms for growth, maintenance, and survival, Price and Sowers (2004) suggested that metabolic rates can be seen in three different situations where 1) there is active growth; 2) there is metabolism providing insufficient for growth, but capable of supporting maintenance of the organism; or 3) survival of the microorganism such that is able to repair macromolecular damage.

Measuring activity through the aforementioned methods and techniques does not provide much insight toward the key players of microbial community. A useful method that could provide access to the whole DNA pool of a microbial community that is related to a specific function is needed. Phylogeny per se does not provide much information about the function of the microorganism in the environment (Quince et al. 2009; Quince et al. 2011; Schloss et al. 2011). rRNA gene sequencing has revealed a vast microbial diversity; however, the interactions and metabolic capabilities of the bacteria related to the sequences cannot be inferred from these data. In order to link the identity of microorganisms to metabolic analyses, a favorable experimental method for microbial ecologists is to track substrate usage by a specific group of microorganisms and a few methods such as fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH)–microautoradiography (Nocker et al. 2007) have been developed and used. In this method environmental samples are incubated with specific radio labeled substrates and then thin sections of samples are fixated and analyzed by FISH and inverse confocal laser scanning microscopy. Bacteria that are biologically active in taking up a specific radio labeled substrate will be detected using specific 16S rRNA-targeted FISH probes. This method has been used to track nitrifiers and denitrifiers in complex microbial communities (Kindaichi et al. 2004). Another technique that helps to study identity in relation to function and activity is isotope array. This method also involves the ¹⁴C-labelled substrate incubation; however, RNA is extracted and labelled with a fluorophore and analyzed with an oligonucleotide array that targets 16S rRNA of the bacteria of interest. The array will be further scanned to find the community members that have actively incorporated the radiolabeled substrate (Steven et al. 2009). Both these methods deal with radioactive material handling and there might be a high background fluorescence and non-specific binding probe that interferes with sensitivity and accuracy (Hansen et al. 2007).

Another approach that filters active populations from the total microbial DNA consuming a given substrate is called stable isotope probing (SIP).

Use of stable isotope probing in the identification of active microbial communities

An isotopically-labeled substrate of interest is provided to a microbial community and the incorporation of isotopic label in biomarker molecules is investigated. Parts of the community that assimilate the substrate are actively growing on the specific substrate. If the biomarker is DNA, the method is called DNA-SIP (Radajewski et al. 2000). Following feeding with the substrate, DNA is isolated and the labeled DNA is separated from the unlabeled DNA by CsCl density gradient ultracentrifugation. Genetic markers such as 16S rRNA genes can then be used to identify which components of the microbial assemblage are utilizing that substrate. A great example of SIP application has been the study of active methanotrophs through the use of ¹³C-methane. In a study investigating the activity and diversity of methanotroph populations in active layer soils of Ellesmere Island in the Canadian high Arctic using SIP, active methanotrophs

revealed to be related to type I methanotrophs mostly Methylobacter tundripaludum (Steven et al. 2006). DNA-SIP has been extensively used in finding the active microbial communities responsible for biodegradation of organic pollutants. For example, Jeon et al (2003) studied the flow of carbon from pollutants to microbial community using ¹³C-naphthalene as the stable isotope and found that a cluster of Betaproteobacteria was responsible in the metabolism of 13C-naphthalene. A combination of traditional enrichment and isolation methods with DNA-SIP led to the isolation of a strain that had been only characterized in environmental DNA sample. Overall, SIP-metagenomics has enabled microbial ecologists to dissect many biological processes in the environment including, methanotrophy (Price 2007) nitrification (Steven et al. 2009; Yergeau et al. 2010) rhizosphere–microorganism interactions and bioremediation (Turpin et al. 1993). Application of metagenomics and high-throughput sequencing alongside the DNA-SIP has enabled researchers to look for active microbial groups carrying out a specific task and find their identity.

1.5. Research objectives and hypothesis

My research objectives were divided into three main branches; 1) activity measurements of the heterotrophic bacterial communities; 2) characterization of the bacterial community and the diversity in four polar sites of the High Arctic barren; and 3) identification of the active members of the heterotrophic bacterial assemblages.

In this project, I added ¹³C-labeled complex, labile organic carbon in the form of algal lysate to active layer high Arctic barren soils for incubation experiments at 4°C. The algal lysate was chosen to approximate the complex organic carbon present in these soils to investigate how the microbial communities will respond to increased labile organic carbon.

The soil respiration rates were measured by CO_2 efflux measurements as a measure of overall microbial activity. The goal was to examine the soil

respiration capacity in Arctic soils and their response to increased labile organic carbon. I predicted that the microbial activity (carbon consumption rate: μ mols CO₂ g⁻¹ soil day⁻¹) would significantly increase in the incubated samples with the addition of labile carbon compared to the control samples and that all sites would respond similarly.

DNA-SIP was used to isolate DNA of active bacterial community. I hypothesized that the addition of labile carbon to the polar desert soils would lead to a decrease in the diversity of heterotrophic bacterial community. If the total community is considered based on total DNA analysis, I expected that only a few taxa would dominate the community. I was interested to find out whether these numerically dominant taxa which are detected in the total community are also numerically functional meaning that I will observe them in enriched heavy band as well.

Following incubation with ¹³C-labeled algal lysate, isolated DNA was separated by CsCl gradient fractionation into heavy DNA belonging to the active members and light DNA of inactive community. Real-time PCR was used to determine the 16S rRNA gene copy numbers in different fractions. High-throughput sequencing of 16S rRNA gene PCR products from SIP fractions was used to examine the microbial diversity of the samples. The last prediction for the proposed hypothesis was that there would be a directional shift toward a specific group of microbes in the incubated samples compared to non-incubated sub cores, i.e. that all sites would show higher levels of similarity in their active components than the overall assemblage. Furthermore, this directional shift will lead to a decrease in the diversity.

My second hypothesis was that there is a core Arctic desert soil microbial community found at all sites and not found in non-Arctic soils. I predicted that the microbial community composition (variability, richness and phylogenetic diversity) is similar between sites but different from other biomes i.e. temperate soils, tundra and boreal forest soils.

1.6. Reference List:

ACIA. 2005. Arctic Climate Impact Assessment. Scientific report. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

ACIA. 2007. Arctic Climate Impact Assessment. Scientific report. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

Adamczyk, J., Hesselsoe, M., Iversen, N., Horn, M., Lehner, A., Nielsen, P.H., Schloter, M., Roslev, P., and Wagner, M. 2003. The Isotope Array, a New Tool that Employs Substrate-Mediated Labeling of rRNA for Determination of Microbial Community Structure and Function. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 69(11): 6875-6887.

Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada (1998) The Canadian System of Soil Classification (3rd edition). Ottawa, ON: NRC Research Press, 187: <http://sis.agr.gc.ca/cansis/references/1998sc_a.html>Allan C, Schiff S, Pierson D, English M, Ecclestone

Alawi, M., Lipski, A., Sanders, T., Eva-Maria-Pfeiffer, and Spieck, E. 2007. Cultivation of a novel cold-adapted nitrite oxidizing betaproteobacterium from the Siberian Arctic. ISME Journal 1(3): 256-264.

Allison, S.D., Wallenstein, M.D., and Bradford, M.A. 2010. Soil-carbon response to warming dependent on microbial physiology. Nature Geoscience 3(5): 336-340.

Anisimov, O., and Reneva, S. 2006. Permafrost and changing climate: The Russian perspective. Ambio 35(4): 169-175.

Atlas, R.M., and Bartha, R. 1993. Microbial Ecology: Fundamentals and Applications .

Aurela, M., Tuovinen, J.-., and Laurila, T. 2001. Net CO₂ exchange of a subarctic mountain birch ecosystem. Theoretical and Applied Climatology 70(1-4): 135-148.

Bai, Y., Yang, D., Wang, J., Xu, S., Wang, X., and An, L. 2006. Phylogenetic diversity of culturable bacteria from alpine permafrost in the Tianshan Mountains, northwestern China. Res. Microbiol. 157(8): 741-751.

Baker, D.F., Law, R.M., Gurney, K.R., Rayner, P., Peylin, P., Denning, A.S., Bousquet, P., Bruhwiler, L., Chen, Y.-., Ciais, P., Fung, I.Y., Heimann, M., John, J., Maki, T., Maksyutov, S., Masarie, K., Prather, M., Pak, B., Taguchi, S., and Zhu, Z. 2006. TransCom 3 inversion intercomparison: Impact of transport model errors on the interannual variability of regional CO₂ fluxes, 1988-2003. Global Biogeochem. Cycles 20(1).

Bartlett, K.B., and Harriss, R.C. 1993. Review and assessment of methane emissions from wetlands. Chemosphere 26(1-4): 261-320.

Batjes, N.H. 1996. Total carbon and nitrogen in the soils of the world. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 47(2): 151-163.

Belova, S.E., Pankratov, T.A., and Dedysh, S.N. 2006. Bacteria of the genus Burkholderia as a typical component of the microbial community of sphagnum peat bogs. Mikrobiologiia 75(1): 110-117.

Billings, W.D., Luken, J.O., Mortensen, D.A., and Peterson, K.M. 1983. Increasing atmospheric carbon dioxide: Possible effects on arctic tundra. Oecologia 58(3): 286-289.

Blodau, C. 2002. Carbon cycling in peatlands - A review of processes and controls. Env. Rev. 10(2): 111-134.

Bockheim, J.G. 2006. Coring Data from Drained Thaw-Lake Basins of the Arctic Coastal Plain .

Bockheim, J.G., and Tarnocai, C. 1998. Recognition of cryoturbation for classifying permafrost-affected soils. Geoderma 81(3-4): 281-293.

Boyd, W.L., and Boyd, J.W. 1964. The presence of bacteria in permafrost of the Alaskan Arctic. Can. J. Microbiol. 10: 917-919.

Boynton, W.V., Feldman, W.C., Squyres, S.W., Prettyman, T.H., Brückner, J., Evans, L.G., Reedy, R.C., Starr, R., Arnold, J.R., Drake, D.M., Englert, P.A.J., Metzger, A.E., Mitrofanov, I., Trombka, J.I., D'Uston, C., Wänke, H., Gasnault, O., Hamara, D.K., Janes, D.M., Marcialis, R.L., Maurice, S., Mikheeva, I., Taylor, G.J., Tokar, R., and Shinohara, C. 2002. Distribution of hydrogen in the near surface of Mars: Evidence for subsurface ice deposits. Science 297(5578): 81-85.

Brady, N.C., and Weil, R.R. 2002. Soil organic matter. The Nature and Properties of Soils : 498-542.

Breezee, J., Cady, N., and Staley, J.T. 2004. Subfreezing growth of the sea ice bacterium "Psychromonas ingrahamii". Microb. Ecol. 47(3): 300-304.

Brown, J., Ferrians Jr., O. J., Heginbottom, J. A., Melnikov, E. S. (1998, revised Feb. 2001): Circum-Arctic map of permafrost and ground-ice conditions. National Snow and Ice Data Center/World Data Center for Glaciology, Digital Media, Boulder, CO,USA. GIS data available at: accessedftp://sidads.colorado.edu/pub/DATASETS/fgdc/ggd318_map_circumArc tic (last accessNovember, 18, 2008).

Brummell, M.E., Farrell, R.E., and Siciliano, S.D. 2012. Greenhouse gas soil production and surface fluxes at a high arctic polar oasis. Soil Biol. Biochem. 52: 1-12.

Bunn, A.G., and Goetz, S.J. 2006. Trends in satellite-observed circumpolar photosynthetic activity from 1982 to 2003: The influence of seasonality, cover type, and vegetation density. Earth Interact. 10(12).

Callaghan, T.V., Björn, L.O., Chernov, Y., Chapin, T., Christensen, T.R., Huntley, B., Ims, R.A., Johansson, M., Jolly, D., Jonasson, S., Matveyeva, N., Panikov, N., Oechel, W., Shaver, G., Schaphoff, S., and Sitch, S. 2004a. Effects of changes in climate on landscape and regional processes, and feedbacks to the climate system. Ambio 33(7): 459-468.

Callaghan, T.V., Björn, L.O., Chernov, Y., Chapin, T., Christensen, T.R., Huntley, B., Ims, R.A., Johansson, M., Jolly, D., Jonasson, S., Matveyeva, N., Panikov, N., Oechel, W., Shaver, G., Elster, J., Henttonen, H., Laine, K., Taulavuori, K., Taulavuori, E., and Zöckler, C. 2004b. Biodiversity, distributions and adaptations of arctic species in the context of environmental change. Ambio 33(7): 404-417.

Cameron, R.E., and Morelli, F.A. 1974. Viable microorganisms from ancient Ross Island and Taylor Valley drill core. Antarct. J. U. S. 9: 113-116.

Campen, R.K., Sowers, T., and Alley, R.B. 2003. Evidence of microbial consortia metabolizing within a low-latitude mountain glacier. Geology 31(3): 231-234.

Carney, K.M., Hungate, B.A., Drake, B.G., and Megonigal, J.P. 2007. Altered soil microbial community at elevated CO_2 leads to loss of soil carbon. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 104(12): 4990-4995.

Carpenter, E.J., Lin, S., and Capone, D.G. 2000. Bacterial activity in South Pole snow. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 66(10): 4514-4517.

Castro, H.F., Classen, A.T., Austin, E.E., Norby, R.J., and Schadt, C.W. 2010. Soil microbial community responses to multiple experimental climate change drivers. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 76(4): 999-1007.

Chapin III, F.S., Zavaleta, E.S., Eviner, V.T., Naylor, R.L., Vitousek, P.M., Reynolds, H.L., Hooper, D.U., Lavorel, S., Sala, O.E., Hobbie, S.E., Mack, M.C., and Díaz, S. 2000. Consequences of changing biodiversity. Nature 405(6783): 234-242.

Chapin III, F.S., and Shaver, G.R. 1996. Physiological and growth responses of arctic plants to a field experiment simulating climatic change. Ecology 77(3): 822-840.

Christensen, T.R., Michelsen, A., and Jonasson, S. 1999. Exchange of CH4 and N2O in a subarctic heath soil: Effects of inorganic N and P amino acid addition. Soil Biol. Biochem. 31(4): 637-641.

Chu, H., Fierer, N., Lauber, C.L., Caporaso, J.G., Knight, R., and Grogan, P. 2010. Soil bacterial diversity in the Arctic is not fundamentally different from that found in other biomes. Environ. Microbiol. 12(11): 2998-3006.

Cleveland, C.C., Nemergut, D.R., Schmidt, S.K., and Townsend, A.R. 2007. Increases in soil respiration following labile carbon additions linked to rapid shifts in soil microbial community composition. Biogeochemistry 82(3): 229-240.

Conant, R.T., Ryan, M.G., Ågren, G.I., Birge, H.E., Davidson, E.A., Eliasson, P.E., Evans, S.E., Frey, S.D., Giardina, C.P., Hopkins, F.M., Hyvönen, R., Kirschbaum, M.U.F., Lavallee, J.M., Leifeld, J., Parton, W.J., Megan Steinweg, J., Wallenstein, M.D., Martin Wetterstedt, J.A., and Bradford, M.A. 2011. Temperature and soil organic matter decomposition rates - synthesis of current knowledge and a way forward. Global Change Biol. 17(11): 3392-3404.

Coolen, M.J.L., van de Giessen, J., Zhu, E.Y., and Wuchter, C. 2011. Bioavailability of soil organic matter and microbial community dynamics upon permafrost thaw. Environ. Microbiol. 13(8): 2299-2314.

Cottingham, K.L., Brown, B.L., and Lennon, J.T. 2001. Biodiversity may regulate the temporal variability of ecological systems. Ecol. Lett. 4(1): 72-85.

Cowan, D.A., Russell, N.J., Mamais, A., and Sheppard, D.M. 2002. Antarctic Dry Valley mineral soils contain unexpectedly high levels of microbial biomass. Extremophiles 6(5): 431-436.

Daims, H., Nielsen, J.L., Nielsen, P.H., Schleifer, K.-., and Wagner, M. 2001. In Situ Characterization of Nitrospira-Like Nitrite-Oxidizing Bacteria Active in Wastewater Treatment Plants. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 67(3-12): 5273-5284.

David McGuire, A., Melillo, J.M., Kicklighter, D.W., Pan, Y., Xiao, X., Helfrich, J., Moore III, B., Vorosmarty, C.J., and Schloss, A.L. 1997. Equilibrium responses of global net primary production and carbon storage to doubled atmospheric carbon dioxide: Sensitivity to changes in vegetation nitrogen concentration. Global Biogeochem. Cycles 11(2): 173-189.

Davidson, E.A., and Janssens, I.A. 2006. Temperature sensitivity of soil carbon decomposition and feedbacks to climate change. Nature 440(7081): 165-173.

Dedysh, S.N., Dunfield, P.F., Derakshani, M., Stubner, S., Heyer, J., and Liesack, W. 2003. Differential detection of type II methanotrophic bacteria in acidic peatlands using newly developed 16S rRNA-targeted fluorescent oligonucleotide probes. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 43(3): 299-308.

Denman, K.L. 2007. Couplings between changes in the climate system and biogeochemistry. Climate change 2007: The physical science basis.Contribution of working group I to the fourth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change : 499-587.

Dobrovol'skaya, T.G., Lysak, L.V., and Zvyagintsev, D.G. 1996. Soils and microbial diversity. Eurasian Soil Sci. 29(6): 630-634.

Doran, P.T., Priscu, J.C., Berry Lyons, W., Walsh, J.E., Fountain, A.G., McKnight, D.M., Moorhead, D.L., Virginia, R.A., Wall, D.H., Clow, G.D., Fritsen, C.H., McKay, C.P., and Parsons, A.N. 2002. Antarctic climate cooling and terrestrial ecosystem response. Nature 415(6871): 517-520. Dormann, C.F., and Woodin, S.J. 2002. Climate change in the Arctic: Using plant functional types in a meta-analysis of field experiments. Funct. Ecol. 16(1): 4-17.

Dungait, J.A.J., Hopkins, D.W., Gregory, A.S., and Whitmore, A.P. 2012. Soil organic matter turnover is governed by accessibility not recalcitrance. Global Change Biol. 18(6): 1781-1796.

Dutta, K., Schuur, E.A.G., Neff, J.C., and Zimov, S.A. 2006. Potential carbon release from permafrost soils of Northeastern Siberia. Global Change Biol. 12(12): 2336-2351.

Ecoregions Working Group. 1989. Ecoclimatic Regions of Canada, First Approximation. Environment Canada, Canadian Wildlife Service, Sustainable Development Branch. Ecological Land Classification Series No. 23.

Elmendorf, S.C., Henry, G.H.R., Hollister, R.D., Björk, R.G., Bjorkman, A.D., Callaghan, T.V., Collier, L.S., Cooper, E.J., Cornelissen, J.H.C., Day, T.A., Fosaa, A.M., Gould, W.A., Grétarsdóttir, J., Harte, J., Hermanutz, L., Hik, D.S., Hofgaard, A., Jarrad, F., Jónsdóttir, I.S., Keuper, F., Klanderud, K., Klein, J.A., Koh, S., Kudo, G., Lang, S.I., Loewen, V., May, J.L., Mercado, J., Michelsen, A., Molau, U., Myers-Smith, I.H., Oberbauer, S.F., Pieper, S., Post, E., Rixen, C., Robinson, C.H., Schmidt, N.M., Shaver, G.R., Stenström, A., Tolvanen, A., Totland, O., Troxler, T., Wahren, C.-., Webber, P.J., Welker, J.M., and Wookey, P.A. 2012. Global assessment of experimental climate warming on tundra vegetation: Heterogeneity over space and time. Ecol. Lett. 15(2): 164-175.

Eswaran, H., Van Den Berg, E., and Reich, P. 1993. Organic carbon in soils of the World. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 57(1): 192-194.

Euskirchen, E.S., McGuire, A.D., Kicklighter, D.W., Zhuang, Q., Clein, J.S., Dargaville, R.J., Dye, D.G., Kimball, J.S., McDonald, K.C., Melillo, J.M., Romanovsky, V.E., and Smith, N.V. 2006. Importance of recent shifts in soil thermal dynamics on growing season length, productivity, and carbon sequestration in terrestrial high-latitude ecosystems. Global Change Biol. 12(4): 731-750.

Fierer, N., Bradford, M.A., and Jackson, R.B. 2007. Toward an ecological classification of soil bacteria. Ecology 88(6): 1354-1364.

Flannigan, M.D., Logan, K.A., Amiro, B.D., Skinner, W.R., and Stocks, B.J. 2005. Future area burned in Canada. Clim. Change 72(1-2): 1-16.

French, 2007 H.M. French The Periglacial Environment (Third edition)Wiley 458 pp

Friedlingstein, P., Cox, P., Betts, R., Bopp, L., von Bloh, W., Brovkin, V., Cadule, P., Doney, S., Eby, M., Fung, I., Bala, G., John, J., Jones, C., Joos, F., Kato, T., Kawamiya, M., Knorr, W., Lindsay, K., Matthews, H.D., Raddatz, T., Rayner, P., Reick, C., Roeckner, E., Schnitzler, K.-., Schnur, R., Strassmann, K., Weaver, A.J., Yoshikawa, C., and Zeng, N. 2006. Climate-carbon cycle feedback analysis: Results from the C 4MIP model intercomparison. J. Clim. 19(14): 3337-3353.

Friedmann, E.I. 1994. Permafrost as microbial habitat. Viable Microorganisms in Permafrost : 21-26. Gilichinsky D.A., Ed., Russian Academy of Sciences, Pushchino, Russia, pp. 21–26.

Gilichinsky, D., Wegener, S., and Vishnivetskaya, T. 1995. Permafrost microbiology. Permafrost Periglacial Processes 6: 281-291.

Gilichinsky, D., Vishnivetskaya, T., Petrova, M., Spirina, E., Mamykin, V., and Rivkina, E. 2008. Bacteria in Permafrost. Psychrophiles: From Biodiversity to Biotechnology : 83-102.

Gilichinsky, D., Rivkina, E., Bakermans, C., Shcherbakova, V., Petrovskaya, L., Ozerskaya, S., Ivanushkina, N., Kochkina, G., Laurinavichuis, K., Pecheritsina, S., Fattakhova, R., and Tiedje, J.M. 2005. Biodiversity of cryopegs in permafrost. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 53(1): 117-128.

Gilichinsky, D.A. 2002. Permafrost model of extraterrestrial habitat. Astrobiology : 125-142.

Gilichinsky DA (2002) permafrost. In; G Bitton (ed) Encyclopedia of Environmental Microbiology, John Wiley and Sons, New York, NY, pp 2367-2385

Gilichinsky, D.A., Soina, V.S., and Petrova, M.A. 1993. Cryoprotective properties of water in the Earth cryolithosphere and its role in exobiology. Origins of Life and Evolution of the Biosphere 23(1): 65-75.

Gilichinsky, D.A., Khlebnikova, G.M., Zvyagintsev, D.G., Fedorov-Davydov, D.G., and Kudryavtseva, N.N. 1989. Microbiology of sedimentary materials in the permafrost zone. Int. Geol. Rev. 31: 847-858.

Giller, K.E., Beare, M.H., Lavelle, P., Izac, A.-.N., and Swift, M.J. 1997. Agricultural intensification, soil biodiversity and agroecosystem function. Applied Soil Ecology 6(1): 3-16.

Goetz, S.J., Bunn, A.G., Fiske, G.J., and Houghton, R.A. 2005. Satellite-observed photosynthetic trends across boreal North America associated with climate and fire disturbance. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102(38): 13521-13525.

Gold, W. G. and Bliss, L. C. 1995. The nature of water limitations for plants in a high arctic polar desert. In: Global Change and Arctic Terrestrial Ecosystems. Callaghan, T.V. et al. (eds). Ecosystems research report 10, European Commission, Brussels. pp. 149-155

Gorham, E. 1991. Northern peatlands: role in the carbon cycle and probable responses to climatic warming. Ecol. Appl. 1(2): 182-195.

Goryachkin SV, Blume HP, Beyer L, Campbell I, Claridge G,Bockheim JG, Karavaeva NA, Targulin V, Tarnocai C, 2004.Similarities and differences in Arctic and Antarctic soil zones. In: Kimble JM (ed), Cryosols. Springer Verlag, pp. 49-70.

Grant, R.F., Humphreys, E.R., Lafleur, P.M., and Dimitrov, D.D. 2011. Ecological controls on net ecosystem productivity of a mesic arctic tundra under current and future climates. Journal of Geophysical Research G: Biogeosciences 116(1).

Graversen, R.G., Mauritsen, T., Tjernström, M., Källén, E., and Svensson, G. 2008. Vertical structure of recent Arctic warming. Nature 451(7174): 53-56

Grulke, N.E., Riechers, G.H., Oechel, W.C., Hjelm, U., and Jaeger, C. 1990. Carbon balance in tussock tundra under ambient and elevated atmospheric CO₂. Oecologia 83(4): 485-494.

Gurney, K.R., Law, R.M., Denning, A.S., Rayner, P.J., Pak, B.C., Baker, D., Bousquet, P., Bruhwiler, L., Chen, Y.-., Ciais, P., Fung, I.Y., Heimann, M., John, J., Maki, T., Maksyutov, S., Peylin, P., Prather, M., and Taguchi, S. 2004. Transcom 3 inversion intercomparison: Model mean results for the estimation of seasonal carbon sources and sinks. Global Biogeochem. Cycles 18(1): GB1010 1-18.

Gwynn-Jones, D., Lee, J.A., and Callaghan, T.V. 1997. Effects of enhanced UV-B radiation and elevated carbon dioxide concentrations on a sub-arctic forest heath ecosystem. Plant Ecol. 128(1-2): 242-249.

Hansen, A.A., Herbert, R.A., Mikkelsen, K., Jensen, L.L., Kristoffersen, T., Tiedje, J.M., Lomstein, B.A., and Finster, K.W. 2007. Viability, diversity and composition of the bacterial community in a high Arctic permafrost soil from Spitsbergen, Northern Norway. Environ. Microbiol. 9(11): 2870-2884.

Hayes, D.J., McGuire, A.D., Kicklighter, D.W., Gurney, K.R., Burnside, T.J., and Melillo, J.M. 2011. Is the northern high-latitude land-based CO₂ sink weakening? Global Biogeochem. Cycles 25(3).

He, J.-., Shen, J.-., Zhang, L.-., Zhu, Y.-., Zheng, Y.-., Xu, M.-., and Di, H. 2007. Quantitative analyses of the abundance and composition of ammonia-oxidizing bacteria and ammonia-oxidizing archaea of a Chinese upland red soil under longterm fertilization practices. Environ. Microbiol. 9(9): 2364-2374.

Heginbottom, J.A., Dubreuil M.A. and Harker P.A.1995. Canada - Permafrost, in: National Atlas of Canada, 5th Edition, National Atlas Information Service, Natural Resources Canada, MCR 4177.

Henry, S., Bru, D., Stres, B., Hallet, S., and Philippot, L. 2006. Quantitative detection of the nosZ gene, encoding nitrous oxide reductase, and comparison of the abundances of 16S rRNA, narG, nirK, and nosZ genes in soils. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 72(8): 5181-5189.

Hill, G.B., and Henry, G.H.R. 2011. Responses of High Arctic wet sedge tundra to climate warming since 1980. Global Change Biol. 17(1): 276-287.

Hinsa-Leasure, S.M., Bhavaraju, L., Rodrigues, J.L.M., Bakermans, C., Gilichinsky, D.A., and Tiedje, J.M. 2010. Characterization of a bacterial community from a Northeast Siberian seacoast permafrost sample. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 74(1): 103-113.

Hinzman, L.D., and Kane, D.L. 1992. Potential response of an Arctic watershed during a period of global warming. Journal of Geophysical Research 97(D3): 2811-2820.

Hobbie, S.E., Nadelhoffer, K.J., and Högberg, P. 2002. A synthesis: The role of nutrients as constraints on carbon balances in boreal and arctic regions. Plant Soil 242(1): 163-170.

Hoffmann, C., Minkah, N., Leipzig, J., Wang, G., Arens, M.Q., Tebas, P., and Bushman, F.D. 2007. DNA bar coding and pyrosequencing to identify rare HIV drug resistance mutations. Nucleic Acids Res. 35(13).

Hogan, M.C., (Lead Author); McGinley, M (Topic Editor). 2011. "Polar desert". In: Encyclopedia of Earth. Eds. Cutler J. Cleveland (Washington, D.C.: Environmental Information Coalition, National Council for Science and the Environment). [First published in the Encyclopedia of Earth November 30, 2011; Last revised Date December 5, 2011; Retrieved July 2, 2012

Holland, M.M., and Bitz, C.M. 2003. Polar amplification of climate change in coupled models. Clim. Dyn. 21(3-4): 221-232.

Hooper, D.U., and Vitousek, P.M. 1997. The effects of plant composition and diversity on ecosystem processes. Science 277(5330): 1302-1305.

Horowitz, N.H., Cameron, R.E., and Hubbard, J.S. 1972. Microbiology of the dry valleys of Antarctica. Science 176(4032): 242-245.

Hunter-Cevera, J.C. 1998. The value of microbial diversity. Curr. Opin. Microbiol. 1(3): 278-285.

Hyman, E.D. 1988. A new method of sequencing DNA. Anal. Biochem. 174(2): 423-436.

IPCC. 2007. Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.

Jahn, M., Sachs, T., Mansfeldt, T., and Overesch, M. 2010. Global climate change and its impacts on the terrestrial Arctic carbon cycle with special regards to ecosystem components and the greenhouse-gas balance. Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science 173(5): 627-643.

Jakosky, B.M., Nealson, K.H., Bakermans, C., Ley, R.E., and Mellon, M.T. 2003. Subfreezing activity of microorganisms and the potential habitability of Mars' polar regions. Astrobiology 3(2): 343-350. James, N., and Sutherland, M.L. 1942. Are there living bacteria in permanently frozen subsoil? Can J Res Sect C Bot Sci 20(6): 228-235.

Jenkinson, D.S., and Rayner, J.H. 1977. The turnover of soil organic matter in some of the Rothamsted classical experiments. Soil Sci. 123(5): 298-305.

Jeon, C.O., Park, W., Padmanabhan, P., DeRito, C., Snape, J.R., and Madsen, E.L. 2003. Discovery of a bacterium, with distinctive dioxygenase, that is responsible for in situ biodegradation in contaminated sediment. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 100(23): 13591-13596.

Jobbágy, E.G., and Jackson, R.B. 2000. The vertical distribution of soil organic carbon and its relation to climate and vegetation. Ecol. Appl. 10(2): 423-436.

Johnson, S.S., Hebsgaard, M.B., Christensen, T.R., Mastepanov, M., Nielsen, R., Munch, K., Brand, T., Gilbert, M.T.P., Zuber, M.T., Bunce, M., Rønn, R., Gilichinsky, D., Froese, D., and Willerslev, E. 2007. Ancient bacteria show evidence of DNA repair (Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America (2007) 104, 36 (14401-14405) (DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0706787104). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 104(51): 20635.

Jonasson, S., Chapin, III, F. S. and Shaver, G. R. 2001. Biogeochemistry in the Arctic:

Jones, C.G., Lawton, J.H., and Shachak, M. 1994. Organisms as ecosystem engineers. Oikos 69(3): 373-386.

Jónsdóttir, I.S. 2011. Diversity of plant life histories in the Arctic. Preslia 83(3): 281-300.

Jorgenson, M.T., Shur, Y.L., and Pullman, E.R. 2006. Abrupt increase in permafrost degradation in Arctic Alaska. Geophys. Res. Lett. 33(2).

Juck, D.F., Whissell, G., Steven, B., Pollard, W., McKay, C.P., Greer, C.W., and Whyte, L.G. 2005. Utilization of fluorescent microspheres and a green fluorescent protein-marked strain for assessment of microbiological contamination of permafrost and ground ice core samples from the Canadian High Arctic. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 71(2): 1035-1041.

Junge, K., Eicken, H., and Deming, J.W. 2004. Bacterial Activity at -2 to -20°C in Arctic Wintertime Sea Ice. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 70(1): 550-557.

Kato, T., Hirota, M., Tang, Y., Cui, X., Li, Y., Zhao, X., and Oikawa, T. 2005. Strong temperature dependence and no moss photosynthesis in winter CO_2 flux for a Kobresia meadow on the Qinghai-Tibetan plateau. Soil Biol. Biochem. 37(10): 1966-1969.

Kattsov, V.M., Walsh, J.E., Chapman, W.L., Govorkova, V.A., Pavlova, T.V., and Zhang, X. 2007. Simulation and projection of Arctic freshwater budget components by the IPCC AR4 global climate models. J. Hydrometeorol. 8(3): 571-589.

Kindaichi, T., Ito, T., and Okabe, S. 2004. Ecophysiological Interaction between Nitrifying Bacteria and Heterotrophic Bacteria in Autotrophic Nitrifying Biofilms as Determined by Microautoradiography-Fluorescence In Situ Hybridization. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 70(3): 1641-1650.

Kircher, M., and Kelso, J. 2010. High-throughput DNA sequencing - Concepts and limitations. Bioessays 32(6): 524-536.

Kirk, J.L., Beaudette, L.A., Hart, M., Moutoglis, P., Klironomos, J.N., Lee, H., and Trevors, J.T. 2004. Methods of studying soil microbial diversity. J. Microbiol. Methods 58(2): 169-188.

Kobabe, S., Wagner, D., and Pfeiffer, E.-. 2004. Characterisation of microbial community composition of a Siberian tundra soil by fluorescence in situ hybridisation. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 50(1): 13-23.

Korner, C., Diemer, M., Schappi, B., Niklaus, P., and Arnone III, J. 1997. The responses of alpine grassland to four seasons of CO₂ enrichment: A synthesis. Acta Oecol. 18(3): 165-175.

Koven, C.D., Ringeval, B., Friedlingstein, P., Ciais, P., Cadule, P., Khvorostyanov, D., Krinner, G., and Tarnocai, C. 2011. Permafrost carbonclimate feedbacks accelerate global warming. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 108(36): 14769-14774.

Kujala, K., Seppälä, M., and Holappa, T. 2008. Physical properties of peat and palsa formation. Cold Reg. Sci. Technol. 52(3): 408-414.

Lamb, E.G., Han, S., Lanoil, B.D., Henry, G.H.R., Brummell, M.E., Banerjee, S., and Siciliano, S.D. 2011. A High Arctic soil ecosystem resists long-term environmental manipulations. Global Change Biol. 17(10): 3187-3194.

Lawrence, D.M., Slater, A.G., Romanovsky, V.E., and Nicolsky, D.J. 2008. Sensitivity of a model projection of near-surface permafrost degradation to soil column depth and representation of soil organic matter. Journal of Geophysical Research F: Earth Surface 113(2).

Lee, N., Nielsen, P.H., Andreasen, K.H., Juretschko, S., Nielsen, J.L., Schleifer, K.-., and Wagner, M. 1999. Combination of fluorescent in situ hybridization and microautoradiography - A new tool for structure-function analyses in microbial ecology. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 65(3): 1289-1297.

Lee, H., Schuur, E.A.G., Inglett, K.S., Lavoie, M., and Chanton, J.P. 2012. The rate of permafrost carbon release under aerobic and anaerobic conditions and its potential effects on climate. Global Change Biol. 18(2): 515-527.

Leininger, S., Urich, T., Schloter, M., Schwark, L., Qi, J., Nicol, G.W., Prosser, J.I., Schuster, S.C., and Schleper, C. 2006. Archaea predominate among ammonia-oxidizing prokaryotes in soils. Nature 442(7104): 806-809.

Lennihan, R., Chapin, D.M., and Dickson, L.G. 1994. Nitrogen fixation and photosynthesis in high Arctic forms of Nostoc commune. Canadian Journal of Botany 72(7): 940-945.

Liebner, S., Harder, J., and Wagner, D. 2008. Bacterial diversity and community structure in polygonal tundra soils from Samoylov Island, Lena Delta, Siberia. International Microbiology 11(3): 195-202.

Lipson, D.A. 2007. Relationships between temperature responses and bacterial community structure along seasonal and altitudinal gradients. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 59(2): 418-427.

Lloyd, J., and Taylor, J.A. 1994. On the temperature dependence of soil respiration. Funct. Ecol. 8(3): 315-323.

Loreau, M. 2000. Biodiversity and ecosystem functioning: Recent theoretical advances. Oikos 91(1): 3-17.

Lovett, G.M., Cole, J.J., and Pace, M.L. 2006. Is net ecosystem production equal to ecosystem carbon accumulation? Ecosystems 9(1): 152-155.

Luo, Y., Wan, S., Hui, D., and Wallace, L.L. 2001. Acclimatization of soil respiration to warming in a tall grass prairie. Nature 413(6856): 622-625.

Lu, Y., Zhuang, Q., Zhou, G., Sirin, A., Melillo, J., and Kicklighter, D. 2009. Possible decline of the carbon sink in the Mongolian Plateau during the 21st century. Environmental Research Letters 4(4): 045023.

Ma, W.K., Schautz, A., Fishback, L.-.E., Bedard-Haughn, A., Farrell, R.E., and Siciliano, S.D. 2007. Assessing the potential of ammonia oxidizing bacteria to produce nitrous oxide in soils of a high arctic lowland ecosystem on Devon Island, Canada. Soil Biol. Biochem. 39(8): 2001-2013.

MacKelprang, R., Waldrop, M.P., Deangelis, K.M., David, M.M., Chavarria, K.L., Blazewicz, S.J., Rubin, E.M., and Jansson, J.K. 2011. Metagenomic analysis of a permafrost microbial community reveals a rapid response to thaw. Nature 480(7377): 368-371.

Manefield, M., Whiteley, A.S., and Bailey, M.J. 2004. What can stable isotope probing do for bioremediation? International Biodeterioration and Biodegradation 54(2-3): 163-166.

Männistö, M.K., and Häggblom, M.M. 2006. Characterization of psychrotolerant heterotrophic bacteria from Finnish Lapland. Syst. Appl. Microbiol. 29(3): 229-243.

Martineau, C., Whyte, L.G., and Greer, C.W. 2010. Stable isotope probing analysis of the diversity and activity of Methanotrophic bacteria in soils from the Canadian high Arctic. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 76(17): 5773-5784.

Masson-Delmotte, V., Kageyama, M., Braconnot, P., Charbit, S., Krinner, G., Ritz, C., Guilyardi, E., Jouzel, J., Abe-Ouchi, A., Crucifix, M., Gladstone, R.M., Hewitt, C.D., Kitoh, A., LeGrande, A.N., Marti, O., Merkel, U., Motoi, T., Ohgaito, R., Otto-Bliesner, B., Peltier, W.R., Ross, I., Valdes, P.J., Vettoretti, G., Weber, S.L., Wolk, F., and Yu, Y. 2006. Past and future polar amplification of climate change: Climate model intercomparisons and ice-core constraints. Clim. Dyn. 26(5): 513-529.

McCann, K.S. 2000. The diversity-stability. Nature 405(6783): 228-233.

McGrady-Steed, J., Harris, P.M., and Morin, P.J. 1997. Biodiversity regulates ecosystem predictability. Nature 390(6656): 162-165.

Mcguire, A.D., Clein, J.S., Melillo, J.M., Kicklighter, D.W., Meier, R.A., Vorosmarty, C.J., and Serreze, M.C. 2000. Modelling carbon responses of tundra ecosystems to historical and projected climate: Sensitivity of pan-Arctic carbon storage to temporal and spatial variation in climate. Global Change Biol. 6(SUPPLEMENT 1): 141-159.

McGuire, A.D., Hayes, D.J., Kicklighter, D.W., Manizza, M., Zhuang, Q., Chen, M., Follows, M.J., Gurney, K.R., McClelland, J.W., Melillo, J.M., Peterson, B.J., and Prinn, R.G. 2010. An analysis of the carbon balance of the Arctic Basin from 1997 to 2006. Tellus Ser. B-Chem. Phys. Meteorol. 62(5): 455-474.

Melamede, R.J. 1985. Automatable process for sequencing nucleotide. Automatable Process for Sequencing Nucleotide.

Mikan, C.J., Schimel, J.P., and Doyle, A.P. 2002. Temperature controls of microbial respiration in arctic tundra soils above and below freezing. Soil Biol. Biochem. 34(11): 1785-1795.

Miteva, V.I., Sheridan, P.P., and Brenchley, J.E. 2004. Phylogenetic and Physiological Diversity of Microorganisms Isolated from a Deep Greenland Glacier Ice Core. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 70(1): 202-213.

Morita, R.Y. 1975. Psychrophilic bacteria. Bacteriol. Rev. 39(2): 144-167.

Myneni, R.B., Keeling, C.D., Tucker, C.J., Asrar, G., and Nemani, R.R. 1997. Increased plant growth in the northern high latitudes from 1981 to 1991. Nature 386(6626): 698-702.

Naeem, S., F.S. Chapin III, R. Costanza, P.R. Ehrlich, F.B. Golley, D.U. Hooper, J.H. Lawton, R.V. O'Neill, H.A. Mooney, O.E. Sala, A.J. Symstad, and D. Tilman. 1999. Biodiversity and ecosystem functioning: Maintaining natural life support processes. *Issues in Ecology* 4:2–11.

Naeem, S., Thompson, L.J., Lawler, S.P., Lawton, J.H., and Woodfin, R.M. 1994. Declining biodiversity can alter the performance of ecosystems. Nature 368(6473): 734-737.

Nelson, L.M., and Parkinson, D. 1978. Growth characteristics of three bacterial isolates from an arctic soil. Can. J. Microbiol. 24(8): 909-914.

Neufeld, J.D., and Mohn, W.W. 2005. Unexpectedly high bacterial diversity in arctic tundra relative to boreal forest soils, revealed by serial analysis of ribosomal sequence tags. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. **71**(10): 5710-5718.

Nicol, G.W., Leininger, S., Schleper, C., and Prosser, J.I. 2008. The influence of soil pH on the diversity, abundance and transcriptional activity of ammonia oxidizing archaea and bacteria. Environ. Microbiol. 10(11): 2966-2978.

Nocker, A., Burr, M., and Camper, A.K. 2007. Genotypic microbial community profiling: A critical technical review. Microb. Ecol. 54(2): 276-289.

Norby, R.J., DeLucia, E.H., Gielen, B., Calfapietra, C., Giardina, C.P., Kings, J.S., Ledford, J., McCarthy, H.R., Moore, D.J.P., Ceulemans, R., De Angelis, P., Finzi, A.C., Karnosky, D.F., Kubiske, M.E., Lukac, M., Pregitzer, K.S., Scarascia-Mugnozza, G.E., Schlesinger, W.H., and Oren, R. 2005. Forest response to elevated CO₂ is conserved across a broad range of productivity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102(50): 18052-18056.

Nowrousian, M. 2010. Next-generation sequencing techniques for eukaryotic microorganisms: Sequencing-based solutions to biological problems. Eukaryotic Cell 9(9): 1300-1310.

Oechel, W.C., and Vourlitis, G.L. 1994. The effects of climate change on landatmosphere feedbacks in Arctic tundra regions. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 9(9): 324-329.

Oechel, W.C., Vourlitis, G.L., Hastings, S.J., Zuluete, R.C., Maxman, L., and Kane, D. 2000. Acclimation of ecosystem CO₂ exchange in the Alaskan Arctic in response to decadal climate warming. Nature 406(6799): 978-981.

Oechel, W.C., Hastings, S.J., Vourlitis, G., Jenkins, M., Riechersi, G., and Grulke, N. 1993. Recent change of Arctic tundra ecosystems from a net carbon dioxide sink to a source. Nature 361(6412): 520-523.

Oechel, W.C., Cowles, S., Grulke, N., Hastings, S.J., Lawrence, B., Prudhomme, T., Riechers, G., Strain, B., Tissue, D., and Vourlitis, G. 1994. Transient nature of CO₂ fertilization in Arctic tundra. Nature 371(6497): 500-502.

Øvreås, L. 2000. Population and community level approaches for analysing microbial diversity in natural environments. Ecol. Lett. 3(3): 236-251.

Padmanabhan, P., Padmanabhan, S., DeRito, C., Gray, A., Gannon, D., Snape, J.R., Tsai, C.S., Park, W., Jeon, C., and Madsen, E.L. 2003. Respiration of 13Clabeled substrates added to soil in the field and subsequent 16S rRNA gene analysis of 13C-labeled soil DNA. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 69(3): 1614-1622. Panikov, N.S., and Sizova, M.V. 2007. Growth kinetics of microorganisms isolated from Alaskan soil and permafrost in solid media frozen down to -35°C. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 59(2): 500-512.

Panikov, N.S., Flanagan, P.W., Oechel, W.C., Mastepanov, M.A., and Christensen, T.R. 2006. Microbial activity in soils frozen to below -39°c. Soil Biol. Biochem. 38(4): 785-794.

Panikov, N. S. 2008. Microbial activity in frozen soils. In M. Rosa (Ed.), Permafrost soils (pp. 119–147). Berlin: Springer.

Paustian, K., Parton, W.J., and Persson, J. 1992. Modeling soil organic matter in organic-amended and nitrogen- fertilized long-term plots. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 56(2): 476-488.

Perry, D.A., Amaranthus, M.P., Borchers, J.G., Borchers, S.L., and Brainerd, R.E. 1989. Bootstrapping in ecosystems. Bioscience 39(4): 230-237.

Petit, J.R., Jouzel, J., Raynaud, D., Barkov, N.I., Barnola, J.-., Basile, I., Bender, M., Chappellaz, J., Davis, M., Delaygue, G., Delmotte, M., Kotiyakov, V.M., Legrand, M., Lipenkov, V.Y., Lorius, C., Pépin, L., Ritz, C., Saltzman, E., and Stievenard, M. 1999. Climate and atmospheric history of the past 420,000 years from the Vostok ice core, Antarctica. Nature 399(6735): 429-436.

Ping, C.-., Michaelson, G.J., Jorgenson, M.T., Kimble, J.M., Epstein, H., Romanovsky, V.E., and Walker, D.A. 2008. High stocks of soil organic carbon in the North American Arctic region. Nature Geoscience 1(9): 615-619.

Ponder, M.A., Gilmour, S.J., Bergholz, P.W., Mindock, C.A., Hollingsworth, R., Thomashow, M.F., and Tiedje, J.M. 2005. Characterization of potential stress responses in ancient Siberian permafrost psychroactive bacteria. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 53(1): 103-115.

Post, W.M., Emanuel, W.R., Zinke, P.J., and Stangenberger, A.G. 1982. Soil carbon pools and world life zones. Nature 298(5870): 156-159.

Power, M.E., Tilman, D., Estes, J.A., Menge, B.A., Bond, W.J., Mills, L.S., Daily, G., Castilla, J.C., Lubchenco, J., and Paine, R.T. 1996. Challenges in the quest for keystones: Identifying keystone species is difficult-but essential to understanding how loss of species will affect ecosystems. Bioscience 46(8): 609-620.

Price, P.B. 2007. Microbial life in glacial ice and implications for a cold origin of life. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 59(2): 217-231.

Price, P.B., and Sowers, T. 2004. Temperature dependence of metabolic rates for microbial growth, maintenance, and survival. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 101(13): 4631-4636.

Qian, H., Joseph, R., and Zeng, N. 2010. Enhanced terrestrial carbon uptake in the northern high latitudes in the 21st century from the Coupled Carbon Cycle Climate Model Intercomparison Project model projections. Global Change Biol. 16(2): 641-656.

Quince, C., Lanzen, A., Davenport, R.J., and Turnbaugh, P.J. 2011. Removing Noise From Pyrosequenced Amplicons. BMC Bioinformatics 12.

Quince, C., Lanzén, A., Curtis, T.P., Davenport, R.J., Hall, N., Head, I.M., Read, L.F., and Sloan, W.T. 2009. Accurate determination of microbial diversity from 454 pyrosequencing data. Nature Methods 6(9): 639-641.

Radajewski, S., Webster, G., Reay, D.S., Morris, S.A., Ineson, P., Nedwell, D.B., Prosser, J.I., and Murrell, J.C. 2002. Identification of active methylotroph populations in an acidic forest soil by stable-isotope probing. Microbiology 148(8): 2331-2342.

Radajewski, S., Ineson, P., Parekh, N.R., and Murrell, J.C. 2000. Stable-isotope probing as a tool in microbial ecology. Nature 403(6770): 646-649.

Randerson, J.T., Chapin III, F.S., Harden, J.W., Neff, J.C., and Harmon, M.E. 2002. Net ecosystem production: A comprehensive measure of net carbon accumulation by ecosystems. Ecol. Appl. 12(4): 937-947.

Rangel-Castro, J.I. Stable isotope probing analysis of the influence of liming on root exudate utilization by soil microorganisms. Environ. Microbiol. .

Rennermalm, A.K., Soegaard, H., and Nordstroem, C. 2005. Interannual variability in carbon dioxide exchange from a high arctic fen estimated by measurements and modeling. Arct. Antarct. Alp. Res. 37(4): 545-556.

Richter, D.D., and Markewitz, D. 1995. How deep is soil? Bioscience **45**(9): 600-609.

Ridgwell, A.J., Marshall, S.J., and Gregson, K. 1999. Consumption of atmospheric methane by soils: A process-based model. Global Biogeochem. Cycles 13(1): 59-70.

Rivkina, E., Gilichinsky, D., Wagener, S., Tiedje, J., and Mcgrath, J. 1998. Biogeochemical activity of anaerobic microorganisms from buried permafrost sediments. Geomicrobiol. J. 15(3): 187-193.

Rivkina, E., Laurinavichius, K., McGrath, J., Tiedje, J., Shcherbakova, V., and Gilichinsky, D. 2004. Microbial life in permafrost. Advances in Space Research 33(8): 1215-1221.

Rivkina, E.M., Laurinavichus, K.S., Gilichinsky, D.A., and Shcherbakova, V.A. 2002. Methane generation in permafrost sediments. Doklady Biological Sciences 383(1-6): 179-181.

Rivkina, E.M., Friedmann, E.I., McKay, C.P., and Gilichinsky, D.A. 2000. Metabolic activity of Permafrost Bacteria below the freezing point. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 66(8): 3230-3233.

Rödenbeck, C., Houweling, S., Gloor, M., and Heimann, M. 2003. CO₂ flux history 1982-2001 inferred from atmospheric data using a global inversion of atmospheric transport. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics 3(6): 1919-1964.

Rodrigues, D.F., and Tiedje, J.M. 2008. Coping with our cold planet. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 74(6): 1677-1686.

Romanovsky, V., Armstrong, R., Hinzman, L. D., Oberman, N. & Shiklomanov, A. 2007. ArcticReport Card 2007: Land. NOAA.

Ronaghi, M. 2001. Pyrosequencing sheds light on DNA sequencing. Genome Res. 11(1): 3-11.

Schimel, J.P., Bilbrough, C., and Welker, J.M. 2004. Increased snow depth affects microbial activity and nitrogen mineralization in two Arctic tundra communities. Soil Biol. Biochem. 36(2): 217-227.

Schirrmeister, L., Siegert, C., Kuznetsova, T., Kuzmina, S., Andreev, A., Kienast, F., Meyer, H., and Bobrov, A. 2002. Paleoenvironmental and paleoclimatic records from permafrost deposits in the Arctic region of Northern Siberia. Quaternary International 89: 97-118.

Schloss, P.D., and Handelsman, J. 2004. Status of the microbial census. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews 68(4): 686-691.

Schloss, P.D., Gevers, D., and Westcott, S.L. 2011. Reducing the effects of PCR amplification and sequencing Artifacts on 16s rRNA-based studies. PLoS ONE 6(12).

Schuur, E.A.G., Bockheim, J., Canadell, J.G., Euskirchen, E., Field, C.B., Goryachkin, S.V., Hagemann, S., Kuhry, P., Lafleur, P.M., Lee, H., Mazhitova, G., Nelson, F.E., Rinke, A., Romanovsky, V.E., Shiklomanov, N., Tarnocai, C., Venevsky, S., Vogel, J.G., and Zimov, S.A. 2008. Vulnerability of permafrost carbon to climate change: Implications for the global carbon cycle. Bioscience 58(8): 701-714.

Schwartz, M.W., Brigham, C.A., Hoeksema, J.D., Lyons, K.G., Mills, M.H., and Van Mantgem, P.J. 2000. Linking biodiversity to ecosystem function: Implications for conservation ecology. Oecologia 122(3): 297-305.

Shaver, G.R., Laundre, J.A., Giblin, A.E., and Nadelhoffer, K.J. 1996. Changes in live plant biomass, primary production, and species composition along a riverside toposequence in Arctic Alaska, U.S.A. Arct. Alp. Res. 28(3): 363-379.

Shcherbakova, V.A., Chuvilskaya, N.A., Rivkina, E.M., Pecheritsyna, S.A., Laurinavichius, K.S., Suzina, N.E., Osipov, G.A., Lysenko, A.M., Gilichinsky, D.A., and Akimenko, V.K. 2005. Novel psychrophilic anaerobic spore-forming bacterium from the overcooled water brine in permafrost: Description Clostridium algoriphilum sp. nov. Extremophiles 9(3): 239-246.

Shi, T., Reeves, R.H., Gilichinsky, D.A., and Friedmann, E.I. 1997. Characterization of viable bacteria from siberian permafrost by 16S rDNA sequencing. Microb. Ecol. 33(3): 169-179.

Simon, C., and Daniel, R. 2011. Metagenomic analyses: Past and future trends. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 77(4): 1153-1161.

Sitch, S., David Mcguire, A., Kimball, J., Gedney, N., Gamon, J., Engstrom, R., Wolf, A., Zhuang, Q., Clein, J., and McDonald, K.C. 2007. Assessing the carbon balance of circumpolar Arctic tundra using remote sensing and process modeling. Ecol. Appl. 17(1): 213-234.

Sitch, S., Huntingford, C., Gedney, N., Levy, P.E., Lomas, M., Piao, S.L., Betts, R., Ciais, P., Cox, P., Friedlingstein, P., Jones, C.D., Prentice, I.C., and Woodward, F.I. 2008. Evaluation of the terrestrial carbon cycle, future plant geography and climate-carbon cycle feedbacks using five Dynamic Global Vegetation Models (DGVMs). Global Change Biol. 14(9): 2015-2039.

Smith, T.M., and Reynolds, R.W. 2004. Improved extended reconstruction of SST (1854-1997). J. Clim. 17(12): 2466-2477.

Smith, L.C., Sheng, Y., and MacDonald, G.M. 2007. A first pan-arctic assessment of the influence of glaciation, permafrost, topography and peatlands on northern hemisphere lake distribution. Permafrost Periglacial Processes 18(2): 201-208.

Smith, P., Smith, J.U., Powlson, D.S., McGill, W.B., Arah, J.R.M., Chertov, O.G., Coleman, K., Franko, U., Frolking, S., Jenkinson, D.S., Jensen, L.S., Kelly, R.H., Klein-Gunnewiek, H., Komarov, A.S., Li, C., Molina, J.A.E., Mueller, T., Parton, W.J., Thornley, J.H.M., and Whitmore, A.P. 1997. A comparison of the performance of nine soil organic matter models using datasets from seven long-term experiments. Geoderma 81(1-2): 153-225.

Soil Survey Staff. 1999, Soil Taxonomy A basic system of soil classification for making and interpreting soil surveys; 2nd edition. Agricultural Handbook 436; Natural ResourcesConservation Service, USDA, Washington DC, USA, pp. 869

Sombroek, W.G., Nachtergaele, F.O., and Hebel, A. 1993. Amounts, dynamics and sequestering of carbon in tropical and subtropical soils. Ambio 22(7): 417-426.

Sørheim, R., Torsvik, V.L., and Goksøyr, J. 1989. Phenotypical divergences between populations of soil bacteria isolated on different media. Microb. Ecol. 17(2): 181-192.

Spirina, E.V., and Fedorov-Davydov, D.G. 1998. Microbiological Characterization of Cryogenic Soils in the Kolymskaya Lowland. Eurasian Soil Sci. 31(12): 1331-1344.

Sterner, R.W., and Elser, J.J. 2002. Ecological Stoichiometry: The Biology of Elements from Molecules to the Biosphere .

Steven, B., Niederberger, T.D., and Whyte, L.G. 2009. Bacterial and archaeal diversity in permafrost. Permafrost Soils 16: 59-72.

Steven, B., Pollard, W.H., Greer, C.W., and Whyte, L.G. 2008. Microbial diversity and activity through a permafrost/ground ice core profile from the Canadian high Arctic. Environ. Microbiol. 10(12): 3388-3403.

Steven, B., Léveillé, R., Pollard, W.H., and Whyte, L.G. 2006. Microbial ecology and biodiversity in permafrost. Extremophiles 10(4): 259-267.

Steven, B., Pollard, W., McKay, C.P., Greer, C.W., and Whyte, L.G. 2004. Diversity of culturable bacteria isolated from permafrost and ground ice from the Canadian High Arctic. 10th International Symposium on Microbial Ecology .

Steven, B., Briggs, G., McKay, C.P., Pollard, W.H., Greer, C.W., and Whyte, L.G. 2007. Characterization of the microbial diversity in a permafrost sample from the Canadian high Arctic using culture-dependent and culture-independent methods. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 59(2): 513-523.

Stow, D.A., Hope, A., McGuire, D., Verbyla, D., Gamon, J., Huemmrich, F.,
Houston, S., Racine, C., Sturm, M., Tape, K., Hinzman, L., Yoshikawa, K.,
Tweedie, C., Noyle, B., Silapaswan, C., Douglas, D., Griffith, B., Jia, G., Epstein,
H., Walker, D., Daeschner, S., Petersen, A., Zhou, L., and Myneni, R. 2004.
Remote sensing of vegetation and land-cover change in Arctic Tundra
Ecosystems. Remote Sens. Environ. 89(3): 281-308.

Ström, L., and Christensen, T.R. 2007. Below ground carbon turnover and greenhouse gas exchanges in a sub-arctic wetland. Soil Biol. Biochem. 39(7): 1689-1698.

Sturm, M., Schimel, J., Michaelson, G., Welker, J.M., Oberbauer, S.F., Liston, G.E., Fahnestock, J., and Romanovsky, V.E. 2005. Winter biological processes could help convert arctic tundra to shrubland. Bioscience 55(1): 17-26.

Su, C., Lei, L., Duan, Y., Zhang, K.-., and Yang, J. 2012. Culture-independent methods for studying environmental microorganisms: Methods, application, and perspective. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 93(3): 993-1003.

Symstad, A.J., Tilman, D., Willson, J., and Knops, J.M.H. 1998. Species loss and ecosystem functioning: Effects of species identity and community composition. Oikos 81(2): 389-397.

Tarnocai, C., Canadell, J.G., Schuur, E.A.G., Kuhry, P., Mazhitova, G., and Zimov, S. 2009. Soil organic carbon pools in the northern circumpolar permafrost region. Global Biogeochem. Cycles 23(2).

Tarnocai C. 2004. Cryosols of Arctic Canada. In: Kimble JM (ed) Cryosols: Permafrost-affected soils. Springer, Berlin, pp 95–117

Tarnocai, C., Canadell, J.G., Schuur, E.A.G., Kuhry, P., Mazhitova, G., and Zimov, S. 2009. Soil organic carbon pools in the northern circumpolar permafrost region. Global Biogeochem. Cycles 23(2).

Tedrow, J.C.F. 1977. Soils of the Polar Landscapes. Rutgers University Press, New Brunswick, NJ.

Tedrow, J. C. E, 1991: Pedogenic linkage between the cold deserts of Antarctica and the polar deserts of the High Arctic. Antarctic Research Series, 53. Washington, D.C.: American Geophysical Union, 1-17. Tedrow, J. C. E and Brown, J

Thomson, B.C., Ostle, N., McNamara, N., Bailey, M.J., Whiteley, A.S., and Griffiths, R.I. 2010. Vegetation affects the relative abundances of dominant soil bacterial taxa and soil respiration rates in an upland grassland soil. Microb. Ecol. 59(2): 335-343.

Tilman, D. 1997. Distinguishing between the effects of species diversity and species composition. Oikos 80: 185-185.

Tilman, D., Knops, J., Wedin, D., Reich, P., Ritchie, M., and Siemann, E. 1997. The influence of functional diversity and composition on ecosystem processes. Science 277(5330): 1300-1302.

Tissue, D.T., and Oechel, W.C. 1987. Response of Eriophorum vaginatum to elevated CO_2 and temperature in the Alaskan tussock tundra. Ecology 68(2): 401-410.

Torsvik, V., Daae, F.L., Sandaa, R.-., and Øvreås, L. 1998. Novel techniques for analysing microbial diversity in natural and perturbed environments. J. Biotechnol. 64(1): 53-62.

Trevors, J.T. 1998. Bacterial biodiversity in soil with an emphasis on chemicallycontaminated soils. Water Air Soil Pollut. 101(1-4): 45-67. Turner, J., Overland, J.E., and Walsh, J.E. 2007. An Arctic and Antarctic perspective on recent climate change. Int. J. Climatol. 27(3): 277-293.

Turpin, P.E., Maycroft, K.A., Rowlands, C.L., and Wellington, E.M.H. 1993. Viable but non-culturable salmonellas in soil. J. Appl. Bacteriol. 74(4): 421-427.

U.S. Arctic Research Commission Permafrost Task Force. 2003. Climate Change, Permafrost, and Impacts on Civil Infrastructure. Special Report 01-03, U.S. Arctic Research Commission, Arlington, Virginia.

Vincent, W.F., Whyte, L.G., Lovejoy, C., Greer, C.W., Laurion, I., Suttle, C.A., Corbeil, J., and Mueller, D.R. 2009. Arctic microbial ecosystems and impacts of extreme warming during the International Polar Year. Polar Science 3(3): 171-180.

Vishnivetskaya, T., Kathariou, S., McGrath, J., Gilichinsky, D., and Tiedje, J.M. 2000. Low-temperature recovery strategies for the isolation of bacteria from ancient permafrost sediments. Extremophiles 4(3): 165-173.

Vishnivetskaya, T.A., Petrova, M.A., Urbance, J., Ponder, M., Moyer, C.L., Gilichinsky, D.A., and Tiedje, J.M. 2006. Bacterial community in ancient Siberian permafrost as characterized by culture and culture-independent methods. Astrobiology 6(3): 400-414.

Von Deimling, T.S., Meinshausen, M., Levermann, A., Huber, V., Frieler, K., Lawrence, D.M., and Brovkin, V. 2012. Estimating the near-surface permafrost-carbon feedback on global warming. Biogeosciences 9(2): 649-665.

Vorobyova, E., Soina, V., Gorlenko, M., Minkovskaya, N., Zalinova, N., Mamukelashvili, A., Gilichinsky, D., Rivkina, E., and Vishnivetskaya, T. 1997. The deep cold biosphere: Facts and hypothesis. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 20(3-4): 277-290.

Vorobyova, E.A., Minkovsky, N., Mamukelashvili, A., Zvyagintsev, D.G., Soina, V.S., Polanskaya, L., and Gilichinsky, D.A. 2001. Microorganisms and biomarkers in permafrost. Permafrost Response on Economic Development, Environmental Security and Natural Resources : 527-541.

Vreeland, R., and Rosenzweig, W. 2002. The question of uniqueness of ancient bacteria. Journal of Industrial Microbiology and Biotechnology 28(1): 32-41.

Wackett, L.P. 2004. Stable isotope probing in biodegradation research. Trends Biotechnol. 22(4): 153-154.

Wagner, D. 2008. Microbial communities and processes in Arctic permafrost environments. Microbiology of Extreme Soils.Soil Biology 13: 133-154.

Wagner, D., Kobabe, S., and Liebner, S. 2009. Bacterial community structure and carbon turnover in permafrost-affected soils of the Lena Delta, northeastern Siberia. Can. J. Microbiol. 55(1): 73-83.

Waldrop, M.P., Wickland, K.P., White, R., Berhe, A.A., Harden, J.W., and Romanovsky, V.E. 2010. Molecular investigations into a globally important carbon pool: Permafrost-protected carbon in Alaskan soils. Global Change Biol. 16(9): 2543-2554.

Walker, D.A., Reynolds, M.K., Daniëls, F.J.A., Einarsson, E., Elvebakk, A.,
Gould, W.A., Katenin, A.E., Kholod, S.S., Markon, C.J., Melnikov, E.S.,
Moskalenko, N.G., Talbot, S.S., Yurtsev, B.A., Bliss, L.C., Edlund, S.A., Zoltai,
S.C., Wilhelm, M., Bay, C., Gudjónsson, G., Moskalenko, N.G., Ananjeva, G.V.,
Drozdov, D.S., Konchenko, L.A., Korostelev, Y.V., Melnikov, E.S., Ponomareva,
O.E., Matveyeva, N.V., Safranova, I.N., Shelkunova, R., Polezhaev, A.N.,
Johansen, B.E., Maier, H.A., Murray, D.F., Fleming, M.D., Trahan, N.G.,
Charron, T.M., Lauritzen, S.M., and Vairin, B.A. 2005. The Circumpolar Arctic
vegetation map. Journal of Vegetation Science 16(3): 267-282.

Wallenstein, M.D., McMahon, S., and Schimel, J. 2007. Bacterial and fungal community structure in Arctic tundra tussock and shrub soils. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 59(2): 428-435.

Walter, B.P., Heimann, M., and Matthews, E. 2001. Modeling modern methane emissions from natural wetlands 1. Model description and results. Journal of Geophysical Research D: Atmospheres 106(D24): 34189-34206.

Walter, K.M., Zimov, S.A., Chanton, J.P., Verbyla, D., and Chapin III, F.S. 2006. Methane bubbling from Siberian thaw lakes as a positive feedback to climate warming. Nature 443(7107): 71-75.

Whitby, C.B., Hall, G., Pickup, R., Saunders, J.R., Ineson, P., Parekh, N.R., and McCarthy, A. 2001. 13C incorporation into DNA as a means of identifying the

active components of ammonia-oxidizer populations. Lett. Appl. Microbiol. 32(6): 398-401.

Wilhelm, R.C., Niederberger, T.D., Greer, C., and Whyte, L.G. 2011. Microbial diversity of active layer and permafrost in an acidic wetland from the Canadian high arctic. Can. J. Microbiol. 57(4): 303-315.

Willerslev, E., Hansen, A.J., Rønn, R., Brand, T.B., Barnes, I., Wiuf, C., Gilichinsky, D., Mitchell, D., and Cooper, A. 2004. Long-term persistence of bacterial DNA. Current Biology 14(1): R9-R10.

Willig, M.R., Kaufman, D.M., and Stevens, R.D. 2003. Latitudinal Gradients of Biodiversity: Pattern, Process, Scale, and Synthesis. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 34: 273-309.

Yang, D., Wang, J., Bai, Y., Xu, S., and An, L. 2008. Diversity and distribution of the prokaryotic community in near-surface permafrost sediments in the Tianshan Mountains, China. Can. J. Microbiol. 54(4): 270-280.

Yergeau, E., Hogues, H., Whyte, L.G., and Greer, C.W. 2010. The functional potential of high Arctic permafrost revealed by metagenomic sequencing, qPCR and microarray analyses. ISME Journal 4(9): 1206-1214.

Zachos, J., Pagani, H., Sloan, L., Thomas, E., and Billups, K. 2001. Trends, rhythms, and aberrations in global climate 65 Ma to present. Science 292(5517): 686-693.

Zhang, G., Ma, X., Niu, F., Dong, M., Feng, H., An, L., and Cheng, G. 2007. Diversity and distribution of alkaliphilic psychrotolerant bacteria in the Qinghai-Tibet Plateau permafrost region. Extremophiles 11(3): 415-424.

Zhang, T., Barry, R.G., Knowles, K., Heginbottom, J.A., and Brown, J. 2008. Statistics and characteristics of permafrost and ground-ice distribution in the Northern Hemisphere. Polar Geography 31(1-2): 47-68.

Zhou, J., Davey, M.E., Figueras, J.B., Rivkina, E., Gilichinsky, D., and Tiedje, J.M. 1997. Phylogenetic diversity of a bacterial community determined from Siberian tundra soil DNA. Microbiology 143(12): 3913-3919.

Zhuang, Q., Melillo, J.M., Sarofim, M.C., Kicklighter, D.W., McGuire, A.D., Felzer, B.S., Sokolov, A., Prinn, R.G., Steudler, P.A., and Hu, S. 2006. CO₂ and

CH4 exchanges between land ecosystems and the atmosphere in northern high latitudes over the 21st century. Geophys. Res. Lett. 33(17): L17403.

Zimov, S.A., Schuur, E.A.G., and Stuart Chapin III, F. 2006. Permafrost and the global carbon budget. Science 312(5780): 1612-1613.

Zona, D., Lipson, D.A., Paw U, K.T., Oberbauer, S.F., Olivas, P., Gioli, B., and Oechel, W.C. 2012. Increased CO₂ loss from vegetated drained lake tundra ecosystems due to flooding. Global Biogeochem. Cycles 26(2).

Zvyagintsev, D.G. 1994. Vertical distribution of microbial communities in soils. Beyond the Biomass : 29-37.

2. Active heterotrophic microbial communities from polar desert soils of the Canadian High Arctic

2.1 Introduction

Permafrost soil contains an enormous amount of total organic carbon: twice as much as the amount of carbon that is extant in the atmosphere (Schuur et al. 2008; Zimov et al. 2006). Warming in the Arctic is occurring two to three times faster than the global mean surface temperature increase (IPCC 2007). As a result, the previously inaccessible frozen organic carbon in permafrost will be subject to microbial decomposition following thaw, leading to increased carbon release to the atmosphere (Ping et al. 2008). Additionally, increased productivity and extent of vegetation in a warmer climate (Norby et al. 2005; Oechel et al. 2000) will also increase labile organic carbon input in soils. Microbial decomposition is the main pathway for carbon turnover and its return to the atmosphere. As the climate warms, this will lead to positive climate feedbacks from terrestrial ecosystems to the atmosphere (Zimov et al. 2006; Schuur et al. 2008). Most studies regarding these feedbacks have focused on peatlands or generally address the tundra biome; however, few have focused on permafrost-affected mineral soils that account for 5,000,000 square kilometers of land surface (Hogan 2011). Hence, it is not clear how a changing environment will affect these ecosystems or what role they may play in climate change.

Polar desert ecosystems of the High Arctic, termed high Arctic tundra or high Arctic barren (Goryachkin et al. 2004), are permafrost affected mineral soils that undergo heavy cryoturbation and have been shown to have higher soil organic matter than was assumed (Tarnocai et al. 2009). Based on the observation that decomposition rates are similar on a per g C basis between mineral and organic Arctic soils (Lee et al. 2012), mineral soils may be a significant source of CO_2 to the atmosphere. Arctic mineral soils may also be a slight sink for atmospheric methane and substantial sources of N_2O (Lamb et al. 2011); thus, their potential impact on feedbacks to the climate system is complex and difficult to predict.

Since microbial communities play a major role in soil organic carbon turnover and heterotrophic respiration and carbon balance, therefore, more research should be focused on these environments, microbial activity and community composition and their response to future climate changes.

The microbial organic carbon decomposition rate depends on several factors such as organic carbon quality (decomposability), environmental factors, and genetic and metabolic potential for degradation in the microbial community. Organic matter within permafrost and active layer soil is labile and decomposable (Coolen et al. 2011); thus, interactions between microorganisms and their environments are the primary regulators of soil organic matter degradation in the Arctic. Changes in the structure and diversity of terrestrial microbial communities will accelerate carbon loss from the ecosystem (Allison et al. 2010). Moreover, higher concentrations of CO_2 alter soil microbial composition and activity, leading to carbon loss from ecosystems (Carney et al. 2007). Heterotrophic bacteria that oxidize organic C to inorganic forms to extract energy for growth are considered to have the greatest role in determining the amount and rate of C transfer to the atmosphere especially in areas that are sparsely vegetated.

The bacterial community structure in a variety of Arctic soils is not fundamentally different from the bacterial communities in lower latitudes (Chu et al. 2010); however, this study did not include high Arctic barrens soils. Furthermore, it is not clear whether all components of that community are active and potentially responsive to increased levels of complex organic carbon. Therefore, this study had three objectives 1) to measure the activity of heterotrophic bacterial communities 2) to characterize the bacterial community and diversity in four polar sites of the High Arctic barren and 3) to identify the active members of the heterotrophic bacterial assemblages using stable isotope probing (SIP) of DNA and high throughput barcoded-pyrosequencing. With this work, we identify for the first time the active members of the heterotrophic
bacterial assemblages of High Arctic Barren in response to labile carbon addition to active layer of permafrost-affected mineral soils.

2.2 Material and methods

2.2.1 Sites description

Soil samples were collected from three High Arctic barren sites on Ellesmere Island in the Canadian High Arctic Archipelago: Okse Bay (77 8' 88" N, 87 39' 10" W; hereafter called "Pit"), Alexandra Fjord Dome (78 51' 31" N, 75 55' 37" W, hereafter called "DP"), and Patterson River (82 35' 47" N, 63 45' 32" W, hereafter called "Pat"), as well as Resolute Bay (74° 43' 23" N, 94° 56' 10" W, hereafter called "Res") on Cornwallis Island (Fig A1) by our colleagues at the University of Saskatchewan in summer 2010. These sites correspond to the B1 designation of the Circumpolar Arctic Vegetation Map (Walker et al. 2002). The Pit site is a small bay on the southwest peninsula of Ellesmere Island. The surrounding land is a series of raised beach crests from which the samples were taken. The top of the hills has polar desert terrain characteristics and the lower area in between is moist tundra. Soil structure is very coarse, containing mostly sand with some silt, large gravel and stones. Alexandra Fjord Dome is a valley on the east coast of Ellesmere Island. Although the lowland is a polar oasis, the DP site is in the mountainous area at the border of the valley-mountain (the dome), which is a polar desert with several glaciers covering the area. There are two different soil types at DP; dolomitic parent material to the east with a high pH (~ 7.6) and granitic parent material to the west with a moderately acidic pH (~ 5.2) (Brummell et al. 2012a). In the present study, only the dolomitic soil was used for sampling. The soil is very coarse textured, containing mostly sand with considerable amount of silt. At the Pat site on the northern edge of Ellesmere Island, the Patterson River flows from a large ice field and associated glaciers. The riverine valley is floored with polar desert terrain on glaciofluvial deposits. Soil texture is extremely coarse, at some areas sand is absent and only gravel and stones can be seen. Resolute Bay is composed of both polar desert and wetlands

on Cornwallis Island. At the Res site (polar desert-type), soil texture is similar to Pit and DP, with coarse textured soil containing mostly sand and some silt. All the soils belong to the High Arctic barren category (Goryachkin et al. 2004) with widely separated patches of plants including *Dryas integrefolia*, *Cassiope tetragona*, *Papaver radicatum*, and a few species of sedges in the genus *Carex*.

2.2.2 Soil characteristics

Soil pH, NO₃⁻, NH₄⁺ and organic carbon were measured at two different depths above permafrost layer for Pit and one depth for Pat and DP as previously described (Brummell et al. 2012a). *In situ* CO₂ concentrations and dark CO₂ flux were measured as was previously described (Brummell et al. 2012 a and b). *In situ* CO₂ concentrations were measured in soil using a probe and dark CO₂ flux was calculated from the accumulation or depletion of gas inside a closed, vented, non-steady-state chamber over a known time. No soil characteristic data were obtained for the Res site.

2.2.3 Sample collection and handling

In order to prevent soil disturbance and keep the structure of the soil cores intact, core collectors were used for sampling. Core collectors were manufactured by Rice engineering (AB, Canada): 1" internal diameter, seven-inch-long PVC pipes were slotted at every 0.5" on pipe surface with the slot size of 0.04", with no slots for the upper 1" at each end; one end was beveled. These 16 slots on the core collector allowed for free gas exchange. The core collectors were hammered into soil (beveled end down to provide a cutting surface) to collect the upper 10 cm of surface soil active layer. Each core contained approximately 50-60 g soil. Three replicate subsites 70 m apart were sampled at each site. This distance was chosen based on previously reported calculations that show no autocorrelation in measurements of soil parameters in High Arctic soils at >45 m distance (Banerjee et al. 2011). The cores were capped with PVC caps, sealed with plastic wrap to prevent loss of soil, and kept frozen at -20 $^{\circ}$ C during transport and storage until

further analysis. About six gram of soil was removed from the cores to use for total community analysis without any incubation as the original soil sample.

2.2.4 SIP microcosms and CO₂ production potential

Intact soil cores in the core collectors were unwrapped and placed inside a 2" diameter PVC pipe that was designed to hold the core and provide headspace (500 ml) for CO_2 production measurements (Fig A2). The outer pipes were capped with PVC caps, one of which (the top) had a butyl rubber stopper that was incorporated into the cap. PVC caps were sealed with a thin layer of vacuum grease. Core holders with no cores included were incubated as leakage controls: no significant leakage was observed.

In order to normalize the water content of the soils, field capacity was measured using cores for each site. A simple approximate method was developed to measure the field capacity (Veihmeyer and Hendrickson 1931). A sample core for each site was used to determine the amont of water to saturate soils without a rapid drainage and that amount of water was added to all cores for incubations.

Preliminary experiments designed to determine the minimal concentrations of ISOGRO (0.05%, 0.1%, 0.5% and 1% (w/w) that allowed detection of ¹³C-label in community DNA were performed for samples from the Res site (data not shown). ISOGRO (Sigma) is an algal lysate-derived complex organic carbon mixture that heterotrophs can use as their carbon source (Bott and Kaplan 1985). All samples for preliminary experiments were incubated at 4 ^oC for increasing periods of time. Following incubation, we checked the existence of heavy DNA in cesium chloride gradients as previously described (Neufeld et al. 2007). ¹³C-labelled DNA was detectable only in the 1% ISOGRO incubated samples and the minimal incubation period was approximately 49 days.

For each sub-site, six replicate cores were incubated at 4°C: three had no substrate added and acted as controls for incubation effects ("control") while three others were incubated with 1% (w/w) ¹³C-labeled algal lysate (ISOGRO; Sigma);

in total, there were 24 microcosms for incubations. 10-cm perforated needles (Cadence Science, Staunton, VA) were used to inject 10 mL of dH_2O containing sufficient ISOGRO for a final concentration of 1% w/w into the soil core. Soil mass was previously determined through cores used in the lab for other purposes but from the same sites. To distribute the solution evenly throughout the core, the solution was injected by squeezing the syringe very slowly in four places in the core from bottom to the top.

During the incubation, gas headspace samples (250 μ l) were periodically withdrawn from the headspace of containers and analyzed for CO₂ production using a Shimadzu GC8Agas chromatograph (Fisher Scientific) equipped with thermal conductivity detector (TCD) on column HayeSep Q 80/100 (TCD temperature 120°C, column temperature 35°C, helium as carrier gas). A standard curve for CO₂ was prepared by injecting measured volumes from a commercially prepared CO_2 (100%). The CO_2 production rate was calculated from the slope of the linear portion of a graph of CO_2 concentration vs. time (data not shown). Incubations were continued until it was clear that CO₂ concentrations had reached their maxima. After the completion of the incubation course (49 days), soil from each core was homogenized by sieving and stored at -20°C for later DNA analysis. Statistical analysis was performed in SAS 9.3 (SAS, Toronto, Canada). The Shapiro-Wilk (Shapiro and Wilk 1965) test was used to test whether the CO_2 production rate data followed a normal distribution. Levene's test (Levene 1960) was performed for homogeneity of variance. Since data followed the normal distribution and satisfied the homogeneity of variance, Tukey HSD (Zolman 1993) was carried out as the multiple comparison method.

2.2.5. SIP DNA extraction and ultracentrifugation in CsCl gradients

DNA was extracted from 10 g soil as previously described (Zhou et al.1996). Genomic DNA was visualized and quantified using a modification of the JGI Genomic DNA QC Using Standard Gel Electrophoresis (available at <u>http://my.jgi.doe.gov/general/protocols.html</u>). DNA was loaded on 1% agarose gel along with 1 Kb Plus DNA Ladder (Invitrogen, CA). The band intensity was proportionaal to DNA concentration. Therefore, Ladder band intensity with known concentration was used as a reference in Adobe® Photoshop to calculate DNA concentrations. CsCl gradient fractionation, DNA precipitation, and DNA quantitations were carried out as described previously (Lueders et al. 2004). Briefly, ¹³C-DNA separation was performed by cesium chloride density gradient centrifugation. CsCl solutions containing not less than 1 µg DNA were spun for 65 h at 41,000 rpm in a Vti 65.2 rotor in 13-by-51-mm polyallomer Quick-Seal centrifuge tubes (Beckman Coulter, CA). The resulting gradient was collected in 380-400 µl fractions from the bottom of each tube. The buoyant density (BD) of each fraction was determined with a Reichert AR200 refractometer (Ametek, Berwyn, PA). Each fraction was precipitated by addition of 2 vol 30% (w/v) polyethylene glycol (PEG 8000) and 20 µg glycogen (Fermentas, Burlington, Ontario, Canada). The pellet was dissolved in by placing 25 µl RNase-free water (Qiagen, Valencia, CA). Quantitative PCR (qPCR) with bacterial 16S rRNA gene primers 341F and 518R (Muyzer et al. 1993) was used to measure the abundance of bacterial DNA in gradient fractions with BD from 1.677 to 1.730 g ml⁻¹. qPCR was performed in triplicate 10 μ l reactions containing 5 μ l Rotor-Gene SYBR green PCR kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA), 1 µM concentration of primers, 2µl template and 1µl Qiagen RNase-Free water. A Rotor-Gene Q thermal cycler (Qiagen, Valencia, CA) was programmed for 40 cycles at 95°C for 10 s and 60°C for 15 s. Gene copy number was calculated relative to a standard curve constructed with *Escherichia coli* genomic DNA. Denser bands, containing ¹³Clabeled DNA, and lighter bands, containing unlabeled DNA, were separately pooled for each sample for downstream molecular analyses.

Denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE) of bacterial PCR products was performed using a BioRad D-CODE system (BioRad, Hercules, CA) as previously described (Kulp et al. 2006). GelCompar II (Applied Maths, Austin, TX) was used to analyze DGGE banding patterns and generate a dendrogram using a 1% band position tolerance based on Dice correlation coefficients (Kulp et al. 2006).

2.2.6 Amplicon PCR and Pyrosequencing

For each site, the V1-V3 regions of the bacterial 16S rRNA gene were amplified using the domain Bacteria-specific primer bar-coded 27F (5'-AGRGTTTGATCMTGGCTCAG-3[^]) (Lane, 1991) and 519R (5'-GTNTTACNGCGGCKGCTG-3') (Turner et al., 1999). Genomic DNA was normalized to 100 ng/ μ l and a 100 ng (1 μ l) aliquot of each samples DNA was used for a 50 µl PCR reaction (Dowd et al. 2008). Amplification was performed using HotStarTaq Plus Master Mix Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA) under the following conditions: 94°C for 3 minutes, followed by 28 cycles of 94°C for 30 seconds; $53^{\circ}C$ for 40 seconds and $72^{\circ}C$ for 1 minute with a final elongation step at 72 °C for 5 minutes. Gene-specific PCR primer sequences were tagged with the sequencing adapters for GS FLX Titanium chemistry, 8 base barcode (only on the forward primer) and a linker sequence. All PCR reactions were performed in triplicate which were mixed in equal concentrations and purified using Agencourt Ampure beads (Agencourt Bioscience Corporation, MA, USA). FLX-Titanium amplicon pyrosequencing was carried out at MRDNA lab (Shallowater, TX, USA) using Genome Sequencer FLX System (Roche, Branford, CT).

2.2.7 Sequence processing and classification

To simplify sample labeling, the name of the site alone was used for the unincubated sample, the name plus C was used to represent the control sample that was incubated without the addition of substrate, the site name plus H represents the heavy fraction containing the active community, and the site name plus L represents light fractions.

The sequences obtained from pyrosequencing reads were analyzed using MOTHUR v. 1.25.0 (Schloss et al. 2009) for quality filtering, noise removal, chimera removal, identification of operational taxonomic unit (OTU), taxonomic

assignment, community comparison, and statistical analysis. Sequences were first culled based on flowgram data to set the minimum flows to 360 and maximum flows to 720, as previously recommended (Quince et al. 2011). Sequences shorter than 200 bp and those containing primer/barcode mismatches or homopolymers longer than 8 bp were excluded. Noise removal was performed using MOTHUR implementation of the PyroNoise algorithm, which corrects PCR- and pyrosequencing generated errors (Quince et al. 2011). The trimmed and quality filtered sequences were aligned to the Silva reference alignment (Silva SEED). OTUs were assigned using the average neighbor clustering algorithm for an OTU definition of 97% similarity. The assigned OTUs then were classified to phylum, class, and/or genus level using the ribosomal database project (RDP; http://rdp.cme.msu.edu/) classifier with a 51% confidence threshold. Phylotype command was used to assign sequences to OTUs based on their taxonomy and phylotypes were used to show the related phylogenetic information in each group. Based on this classification, sequences of chloroplast and mitochondria origin were identified and subsequently removed from the data set. The sequences were subsampled to the smallest library size (n=1648) for identical sequencing depth before further alpha and beta diversity analyses.

2.2.8 Community comparison analysis

To obtain an estimate of alpha-diversity (richness) of the samples, Chao1, abundance-based coverage (ACE) estimators were calculated using MOTHUR. Good's coverage (Good 1953) was used to estimate the sample coverage. Simpson's reciprocal diversity index (INVSIMPSON) (Simpson 1949) was calculated to estimate the diversity including both richness and evenness. A rarefaction curve (Gotteli and Colwel 2001) was also generated to represent the OTUs diversity and sampling effort of all samples and treatments. For Beta-diversity measurements, Venn diagrams were generated using MOTHUR to show the overlap between the communities. Unweighted and weighted UniFrac and \int -LIBSHUFF (Schloss 2008) were employed to evaluate differences between

communities. For pair-wise comparisons among all libraries, p < 0.0001 was considered significant. Multivariate analysis of all samples using non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) (Shepard 1966) was performed based on Yue & Clayton theta measure of dissimilarity (Yue and Clayton 2005) between the structures of two communities. A clustering analysis was also performed using the relaxed neighbor joining (RNJ) method through the Clearcut program (Sheneman et al. 2006) implemented in MOTHUR using unweighted UniFrac scores.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Soil characteristics, CO₂ production rate, and in situ CO₂ flux

The three High Arctic barren sites for which we have measured soil characteristics demonstrate a wide range of soil parameters in this bioclimatic subzone (Table 2.1). These data show that these soils were all alkaline (with pHs between 7.7 and 8.6). Pit was mostly composed of sand/silt and litter. Water content (17%) was in the middle range compared to other surface soils of the High Arctic (10-20%) (Martineau et al. 2010; Steven et al. 2008; Steven et al. 2007) is a low organic content mineral soil (3.2%) based on water extractable organic carbon (WEOC) measurements and has high concentrations of inorganic nitrogen. In contrast, the soil texture of Pat was dominated by gravel. Its water content was also in the middle range (14%). Pat also falls into the category of low organic carbon mineral soils (3.3%) with high inorganic nitrogen. Similar to Pat, DP is mostly composed of gravel. DP is also a low organic carbon content soil (6.5%); however, it is considerably higher than the other two sites. The water content (10%) and nitrate and ammonia concentrations were lower compared to the Pat and Pit sites.

In situ CO_2 concentrations were in the range of 16-20 (µmoles L⁻¹; Table 2.1). Dark CO_2 flux, which is a measure of heterotrophic respiration in soils, was lowest at DP and Pat and highest at Pit (Table 2.1). In the lab, the dark CO_2 production rate (a measure of soil respiration) was measured in soil cores. There was no significant difference for no-substrate controls in CO_2 production rate between sites (P>0.05; Fig. 2.1). The addition of 1% algal lysate significantly increased CO_2 production rate compared to controls at all sites except Pat (P<0.05). The substrate-added soil cores were not significantly different between sites excluding Pat that was significantly different from Pit. The substrate-induced CO_2 flux followed a similar trend to the *in situ* dark CO_2 flux, with Pit showing the highest mean rate, followed by DP, then Res.

Site	р	ιH	WE (SE	EOC ^a) (%)	N((SE) m	D₃ ⁻ ng kg ⁻¹	NI (SE) r	H₄⁺ ng kg⁻¹	Water content (%, v/v)	Soil Temp (⁰ C)	In situ CO ₂ concentration (μmoles L ⁻¹)	Dark Flux CO ₂ (SE) nmol m ⁻² s ⁻¹	Soil texture					
	40	30	40	30	40	30	40	30										
	APL [*]	APL [*]	APL*	APL	APL ²	APL [*]	APL	APL										
													Sand/silt,					
	0.4	7.0	- -	- -	4 57	2.46	2 4 2	2.20	47		47 5	312 (52)	litter, bare					
Okse Bay (Pit)	8.1	7.8	3.2	3.2	1.57	2.16	2.12	2.29	17	10	(0.8)		rock,					
,,,,	(0.20)	(0.15)	(0.5)	(0.3)	(0.37)	(0.19)	(0.31)	(0.22)	(0.04)				bones,					
Alexandra									14		20	ГЭ	Bare soil					
Fjord Dome		8.5		3.1		bdl ^c		2.47	14	11.2	20	55	and					
(DP)									(0.020)		(1.2)	(37)	gravel					
Dattarcar		9.6		6 5		0.54		0.40	10		16	10	1 - 4	Gravel,				
		ð.0		0.5		0.54		0.49	10	3.3		154	sand/silt,					
River (Pat)		(0.09)		(1.3)							(0.36)		(0.33)	(0.05)		(0.7)	(29)	litter

Table 2.1 Soil parameters of the three High Arctic barren sites on Ellesmere Island.

Values in parentheses are ± 1 Standard Error^a WEOC = water-extractable organic carbon, ^bAPL = above permafrost layer, ^c bdl = below

detection limit

Data from Brummell et al. (submitted 2012).



Fig 2.1 CO_2 production rates of soil samples. The 13 suffix indicates samples incubated with ¹³C-labeled substrate while the C suffix indicates incubated without the addition of substrate. Values are means of triplicates. Error bars represent one standard deviation. Different letters on bars refer to significantly (P<0.05) different averages based upon the Tukey–HSD test.

2.3.2 Estimation of bacterial community diversity

We obtained a high coverage (>95%) for labeled DNA from substrate added incubations. There was moderate coverage (68-82%) for the rest of the samples (Table 2.2). Rarefaction analysis (Fig 2.2) indicated that the samples were well sampled, but not comprehensively, with the curve leveling off but not reaching an asymptote. The exception was labeled DNA of substrate-added incubations ("H" samples), which were comprehensively sampled. The rarefaction analysis is in good agreement with the coverage estimator.

The estimated OTU richness, based on the nonparametric Chao1 and ACE estimators, was high in unincubated and control samples; however, it decreased enormously upon the addition of substrate for H samples all sites. Unlabeled

DNA from Pat had the highest number of observed OTUs (1031) and ResH the lowest (88) (Table 2.2). The Simpson reciprocal index of diversity showed a high diversity for unincubated and control samples while incubation with substrate hugely reduced the diversity. The incubations alone also decreased the diversity at DP and Pit but increased diversity at Pat, with almost no change at Res. Thus, incubation alone had variable effects on assemblage diversity, while incubation with 1% algal lysate led to a strong decrease in overall diversity and especially in the active component of the community.



Fig 2.2 Rarefaction curve of observed 97% OTU richness with increasing sequencing depth

	Number				
Sample	of OTUs	Good's coverage(%)	Chao1	ACE	Invsimpson index
	(observed)				
DP	498	82.16	1011 (870; 1205)	1530 (1378; 1707)	78 (70; 90)
DPC	674	69.72	1892 (1608; 2263)	3978 (3578; 4432)	49 (42; 58)
DPH	120	96.54	209 (164; 298)	317 (261; 394)	16 (15; 17)
DPL	161	94.30	312 (248; 423)	551 (456; 676)	5 (4; 5)
Pat	588	82.52	899 (817; 1010)	1212 (1114; 1327)	189 (181; 258)
PatC	739	71.00	1630 (1428; 1890)	2797 (2559; 3065)	213 (181; 257)
PatH	126	95.15	284 (211; 419)	455 (358; 591)	4 (3; 4)
PatL	1031	50.97	3343 (2890; 3906)	6283 (5674; 6970)	131 (103; 178)
Pit	767	72.39	1474 (1315; 1679)	2162 (1989; 2359)	335 (284; 407)
pitC	734	72.0	1318 (1188; 1484)	2060 (1875; 2274)	116 (96; 147)
PitH	112	96.00	270 (190; 427)	419 (338; 436)	5 (5; 6)
PitL	133	68.63	259 (197; 380)	356 (296; 436)	13 (13; 15)
Res	775	72.94	1817 (1586; 2114)	2913 (2664; 3193)	64 (52; 83)
ResC	688	97.03	1558 (1354;1825)	2637 (2405; 2899)	62 (52; 78)
			219 (145; 383)		
ResH	88	80.58		168 (129; 242)	6 (5-6)
ResL	524	72.94	1073 (927; 1270)	1673 (1510; 1862)	28 (24; 33)

Table 2.2 Estimated OTU richness, diversity, and sample coverage for 16S rRNA gene tags for all samples

^a Number of OTUs calculated with MOTHUR using RDP database at 3% distance level 77

Values in parentheses are 95% confidence intervals

2.3.3 Community composition of active heterotrophs

SIP was performed to study labile carbon assimilating populations. Isotopic enrichment was confirmed by measuring DNA concentrations in all the fractions collected. When a peak in DNA concentration was observed in fractions with higher density than in control samples, it was considered as isotopic enriched DNA. DNA concentration peaks in fractions with similar densities to those with DNA in controls were taken as unlabeled DNA bands. DGGE fingerprinting results (Fig A3) showed smaller differences between replicates from the same site compared to between sites; therefore, DNA from replicates were pooled and later used for high throughput sequencing

For the 16 samples (before incubation, incubation without substrate, and incubation with substrate (light and heavy fraction from each of 4 sites), a total of 68878 sequences were obtained. Following quality filtering, noise removal, and removal of chimeric sequences, 54,580 sequences representing 13,880 unique sequences remained. To allow for sample comparison, all data sets were subsampled to the sample with the lowest number of samples (1648 sequences per sample).

The taxonomic information derived from phylotype classification using the RDP classifier was used along with phylotype abundance to identify the bacterial groups and their abundance. Figure 2.3-2.6 shows the relative abundance of different phylum level groups in the different samples. A broad spectrum of bacterial phyla was observed in non-incubated and no-substrate-incubated samples for all sites.

Unincubated soil samples revealed to have an overall similar phyla composition including, Proteobacteria (Alpha-Beta-Gamma), Acidobacteria, Actinobacteria, Bacteroidetes, Firmicutes, however; they varied in abundance between different sites. A large fraction (17-38 %) of the phylotypes could not be classified; indeed,

the most abundant phylotype for all sites was unclassified. Planctomycetes, Verrucomicrobia, Gemmatimonadetes appeared as 1-3 % of the total community. For the classifiable phylotypes in unincubated Res samples, phylotypes related to Acidobacteria were the most abundant (27%), while in the unincubated Pit samples, Bacteroidetes (22%), Alphaproteobacteria (21%) and Acidobacteria (16%) constituted the major phyla. The dominant phyla in the DP unincubated samples were Betaproteobacteria (27%) with abundant Bacteroidetes (11%) and Actinobacteria (11%). For the unincubated Pat site, Alphaproteobacteria was the most abundant group (17%), with Bacteroidetes (12%) and Acidobacteria (15%) in high abundance as well. Thus, Bacteroidetes, Proteobacteria, Acidobacteria, and Actinobacteria are abundant at all sites without incubation, although their relative abundance changes from site to site.

Phylotypes belonging to a broad spectrum of phyla similar to unincubated samples were observed following incubation without substrate. The most abundant phylotypes in the control-incubated samples could not be classified (Tables 2.3-2.6).

Some changes in phylotype abundance were observed; for example, in Res Gammaproteobacteria increased in abundance and Bacteroidetes disappeared from the population following incubation without substrate. In Pit samples, there were also some minor changes in abundance, with the most noticeable the near disappearance of Bacteroidetes. In fact, incubation alone led to drastic decreases in Bacteroidetes in all sites. Aside from the loss of the Bacteriodetes, incubation alone had a complex influence on community; howerver, the total community was similar.

For most sites, only a few phyla had phylotypes that actively consumed the added algal lysate. For Res, Actinobacteria (73%) and Firmicutes (18%) actively consumed the added algal lysate while the other phyla were underrepresented in the labeled DNA relative to the control incubated (C) or unlabeled (L) samples (Fig 2.3). Unclassified bacteria were decreased in the labeled DNA (3%)

compared to the unincubated soil (35%) sample. Gamma- and Alphaproteobacteria were present in the labeled DNA, but decreased to 4 and 2% of sequences, respectively. The most abundant phylotype (72%) was affiliated with the genus *Arthrobacter*. At the Pit site, unclassified bacteria totally disappeared. Actinobacteria and Gammaproteobacteria were the dominant phyla in the labeled DNA. The most abundant phylotype (46%) was affiliated with the genus *Arthrobacter*. At DP, Actinobacteria (34%), Gammaproteobacteria (26%), Alphaproteobacteria (20%) and Betaproteobacteria (11%) were predominant in the labeled DNA. Again unclassified bacteria disappeared from the population. The most abundant phylotype (34%) was affiliated with the genus *Arthrobacter*. This phylotype was the same abundant phylotype as Res and Pit.

Some of the phylotypes at phylum level are present in low abundance (1-5%) in labeled DNA fraction. In such cases, where phylotypes are more abundant in the light than the heavy band, our interpretation is that the heavy band component results from "bleed-through" from the light band; thus, we cannot confidently state that these groups are responsive to the substrate. If, on the other hand, the groups are more abundant in the heavy than the light band, our interpretation is that they directly respond to the substrate.

Res, Pit, and DP had all similar trends in community shift in response to labile carbon addition; however, at Pat, the response was quite different. Firmicutes-related phylotypes dominated (76%) the community that consumed the labeled algal lysate. Actinobacteria were present in the labeled DNA, but in less abundance (14%) compared to other sites. The most abundant phylotypes (81%) were affiliated with the family Planococcaceae and genus *Bacillus* (26%). *Arthrobacter* relatives were the third most abundant phylotype.

The most abundant phylotypes in the labeled DNA fraction are usually not found in the unlabeled fraction. We found that all sites shared similar bacterial groups without incubation. With incubation alone, they also shared the same groups. With the addition of substrate; however, Res, Pit, and DP responded similarly, while Pat responded differently.



Fig 2.3 Pie charts for bacterial 16S rRNA gene (V13) phylum level assemblage composition at the Res site of A) unincubated (Res), B) no-substrate incubation (ResC), C) unlabeled DNA from incubation with substrate (ResL), and D) 13 C - labeled DNA from incubation with substrate (ResH; heavy fraction)



Fig 2.4 Pie charts for bacterial 16SrRNA (V13) phylum level assemblage composition at the Pit site of A) unincubated (Pit), B) no-substrate incubation (PitC), C) unlabeled DNA from incubation with substrate (PitL), and D) 13 C -labeled DNA from incubation with substrate (PitH; heavy fraction)



Fig 2.5 Pie charts for bacterial 16SrRNA (V13) phylum level assemblage composition at the DP site of A) unincubated (DP), B) no-substrate incubation (DPC), C) unlabeled DNA from incubation with substrate (DPL), and D) ¹³C- labeled DNA from incubation with substrate (DPH; heavy fraction)



Fig 2.6 Pie charts for bacterial 16SrRNA (V13) phylum level assemblage composition at the Pat site of A) unincubated (Pat), B) no-substrate incubation (PatC), C) unlabeled DNA from incubation with substrate (PatL), and D) ¹³C-labeled DNA from incubation with substrate (PatH; heavy fraction).

Res	% ^a	ResC	%	ResL	%		ResH	%	
unclassified	32.5	unclassified	29.5	unclassified		23.3	Arthrobacter	69.5	
Gp4	19.9	Gp4	16.2	Gp4		19.6	Paenisporosarcina	8.2	
Pataprotophactoria	3.5	Droudomonas	4.4	Planococcacoao		7.3	Planococcaceae	5.2	
Belapioleobacteria		rseutomonas		Flatiococcaceae			_incertae_sedis		
Gp6	3.3	Gemmatimonas	4.4	Gp6		6.9	Pseudomonas	3.7	
Chitinophagaceae	3.0	Betaproteobacteria	4.2	Paenisporosarcina		4.9	Planococcaceae	2.7	
Rhizobiales	2.6	Gp6	3.8	Betaproteobacteria		4.2	Rhizobiales	1.9	
Gemmatimonas	2.2	Rhizobiales	3.7	Sphingomonadaceae		3.8	unclassified	1.5	
Solirubrobacterales	2.1	Xanthomonadaceae	3.0	Gp7		3.2	Bacillus	1.2	
Cobingomonodocooo	2.0	Cabingomonodocooo	2.3	Planococcaceae		3.1	Drotoobactoria	1.2	
Springomonadaceae		springomonadaceae		_incertae_sedis			Proteopacteria		
Planctomycetaceae	2.0	Gp7	1.9	Gemmatimonas		2.4	Microbacteriaceae	0.5	

Table 2.3 Ten most abundant phylotypes from Res

Taxonomic info is given at genus level or at higher level if the phylotype could not be classified to genus level.^a the

percentage abundance of phylotypes in each sample

Pit	% ^a	PitC	% PitL		%	PitH	%	
unclassified	18.6	unclassified	20.8	Alphaproteobacteria	15.6	Arthrobacter	44.0	
Gp4	12.2	Rhizobiales	13.8	Rhizobiales	12.5	Pseudomonas	37.6	
Chitinophagaceae	5.9	Gp4	13.5	Lactobacillales	12.2	Devosia	3.0	
Rhizobiales	5.7	Sphingomonadaceae	5.4	Bradyrhizobiaceae	11.8	Planococcaceae	2.5	
Flavobacterium	5.1	Betanroteobacteria	4.9	Planococcaceae	6.7	Microbacteriaceae	2.4	
FlavObacterium		Betaproteobacteria		_incertae_sedis		WhenObacternaceae		
Sphingomonadaceae	4.5	Gp6	4.1	Sporosarcina	5.9	Rhizobiales	1.5	
Bacteroidetes	4.0	Alphaproteobacteria	2.4	Xanthomonadaceae	4.2	Sporosarcina	0.9	
	2.9	Spartobacteria	2.4		3.7		0.8	
Alphaproteobacteria		_genera_incertae_sedis		Paenisporosarcina		unclassified		
Gp6	2.8	Burkholderiales	2.2	Planococcaceae	3.2	Pedobacter	0.8	
Proteobacteria	2.8	Vanthomonadaceae	1.8	unclassified	2.7	Planococcaceae	0.8	
TOLEODACIENTA		Aantiononauaceae	unclassified		_incertae_sedis			

Table 2.4 Ten most abundant phylotypes from Pit

Taxonomic info is given at genus level or at higher level if the phylotype could not be classified to genus level. ^a the percentage abundance of phylotypes in each sample

DP	% ^a	DPC	%		DPL	%		DPH	%
unclassified	14.9	unclassified	2	3.9	Planococcaceae		42.0	Arthrobacter	30.3
Polaromonas	9.3	Gp4	1	7.0	Paenisporosarcina		11.2	Pseudomonas	25.4
	5.8			6.7	Planococcaceae		7.2		8.6
Planococcaceae		Planococcaceae			_incertae_sedis			Massilia	
Flavobacterium	5.5	Rhizobiales		5.7	Pedobacter		4.5	Brevundimonas	5.8
Arthrobacter	5.3	Arthrobacter		4.6	Flavobacterium		4.4	Rhizobiales	4.1
Rhizobiales	4.4	Oxalobacteraceae		4.1	Bacillus		4.3	Devosia	3.8
Albidiferax	4.1	Albidiferax		3.2	unclassified		4.2	Sphingomonas	3.6
Gp4	3.3	Sphingomonadaceae		3.1	Bacillales		3.8	Planococcaceae	2.1
Betaproteobacteria	2.8	Betaproteobacteria		2.2	Sporosarcina		3.3	Microbacteriaceae	1.9
Burkholderiales	2.5	Gp6		2.0	Arthrobacter		3.2	Flavobacterium	1.8

Table 2.5 Ten most abundant phylotypes from DP

Taxonomic info is given at genus level or at higher level if the phylotype could not be classified to genus level.^a the

percentage abundance of phylotypes in each sample

Pat	% ^a	PatC	%	PatL	%	PatH	%
unclassified	27.7	unclassified	35.6	unclassified	23.1	Dianococcacoao	42.
unclassifieu		unclassified		unclassifieu		Planococcaceae	5
	9.3		6.4	<u> </u>	13.4	D 11	13.
Gp4		Gp4		Gp4		Bacillus	8
	7.0		5.5		5.3		13.
Chitinophagaceae		Betaproteobacteria		Rhizobiales		Arthrobacter	1
Cabin company de ses s	6.6		4.5	6-6	5.0	Planococcaceae	9.2
Sphingomonadaceae		брө	аро	брб		_incertae_sedis	
Rhizobiales	3.8	Rhizobiales	4.4	Betaproteobacteria	3.0	Sporosarcina	5.1
Xanthomonadaceae	3.5	Arthrobacter	4.0	Proteobacteria	2.7	Devosia	2.6
Betaproteobacteria	3.4	Betaproteobacteria	2.7	Bradyrhizobium	1.7	unclassified	2.4
Gn6	2.9	Sphingomonadacea	2.6	Actinomycetales	1.6	Paenisporosarcin	2.1
бро		е		Actinomycetales		а	
Brevundimonas	2.5	Gp17	2.4	Alphaproteobacteri	1.6	Bacillales	1.6
2.0.0.0				а	Ba		
Lysobacter	2.2	Comamonadaceae	2.4	Bacteroidetes	1.5	Rhizobiales	1.4

Taxonomic info is given at genus level or at higher level if the phylotype could not be classified to genus level. ^a the percentage abundance of phylotypes in each sample

2.3.4 Community similarity

To determine whether the addition of substrate leads to the formation of similar bacterial communities, pairwise differences in community composition and structure were measured for all samples using \int -LIBSHUFF statistics and both unweighted and weighted UniFrac (Table 2.7). Based on \int -LIBSHUFF and unweighted UniFrac statistics, bacterial community composition was similar for Res-ResC (p=0.0062), DPL-DPH (p=0.0002), PitL-PitH (p=0.063) and Pat-PatC (p=0.001). Although the Pit-PitC comparison showed two different communities, the score was very low (0.0057). Large numbers indicate bigger differences between communities for Unifrac scores. Weighted UniFrac, which takes into account the OTU abundance information, indicated that no communities were significantly similar. Therefore, the assemblages at different sites and following different treatments are quite different.

Although at the detailed level of OTU similarity the communities are different, multivariate analysis of all samples using non metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) revealed a clear clustering of bacterial communities from enriched communities (ResH, PitH, DPH and Pat H) and a high similarity between ResH, PitH and DPH (Fig 2.7). Also, control soils from different sites grouped together (PitC, PatC, ResC and DPC). Pit and Pat showed a higher similarity to one another compared to DP and Res, which tended to group together. There was more scatter observed regarding the light fraction of enriched samples from different sites, which is perhaps unsurprising as the members of the community that do not consume the algal lysate are presumably more diverse than those that do respond. A cluster analysis of samples also showed similar grouping between heavy fractions of enriched soils (Fig 2.8), supporting the findings from the NMDS analysis.

	∫-Libs	huff	Unweighted	Unweighted UniFrac Weig		
Comparisons						
	Score	P-value	Score	P-value	Score	P-value
Res-ResH	0.084	<0.0001	0.97	<0.0010	0.94	< 0.0001
ResC-ResH	0.079	<0.0001	0.96	<0.0010	0.91	< 0.0001
ResL-ResH	0.068	<0.0001	0.94	<0.0010	0.83	< 0.0001
Res-ResC	0.000	0.0062	0.78	0.005	0.42	<0.0001
Pit-PitH	0.054	<0.0001	0.95	<0.0001	0.87	<0.0001
pitC-PitH	0.038	<0.0001	0.94	<0.0001	0.89	<0.0001
PitL-PitH	0.012	<0.0001	0.83	0.063	0.83	<0.0001
Pit-PitC	0.0057	<0.0001	0.83	<0.0001	0.53	<0.0001
Pat-PatH	0.0674	<0.0001	0.94	<0.0010	0.94	<0.0010
PatC-PatH	0.0500	<0.0001	0.94	<0.0010	0.90	<0.0010
PatL-PatH	0.0535	<0.0001	0.95	<0.0010	0.89	<0.0010
Pat-PatC	0.0016	<0.0001	0.79	0.001	0.50	<0.0010
DP-DPH	0.0305	<0.0001	0.66	<0.0001	0.66	<0.0001
DPC-DPH	0.0374	<0.0001	0.71	<0.0001	0.71	<0.0001
DPL-DPH	0.0036	0.0002	0.81	0.205	0.81	<0.0001
DP-DPC	0.0024	<0.0001	0.56	<0.0001	0.56	<0.0001

Table 2.7 Results from J-Libshuff and UniFrac (weighted and unweighted) analysis of bacterial 16S rRNA gene sequences

Numbers in bold indicate similar communities.



Fig 2.7 Non-metric multidimensional scaling ordination (based on Yue & Clayton theta distance matrix) showing the degree of similarity between samples. Samples within a site have been illustrated using the same color; treatments are represented by shapes.



Fig 2.8 A relaxed neighbor joining dendrogram showing the clustering of the samples based on unweighted UniFrac scores. The scale bar shows the distance between groups in UniFrac units: a distance of 0 means 100% similarity and 1 means 100% dissimilarity.

2.5 Discussion

Climate warming leads to a variety of changes in local environments. As a result of the polar amplification of climate warming and the importance of ice in regulating various system traits (IPCC 2007), Arctic soils are particularly susceptible to climate effects. One such effect is increased labile carbon, both from stored organic carbon from melting permafrost (Ping et al. 2008) and increased plant productivity (Hill and Henry 2011).

Soil organic matter is a heterogeneous mixture of plant, microbial, and animal residues at various stages of biogeochemical oxidation and modification (Baldock and Skjemstad 2000). Several methodological approaches, including stable isotope probing (Radajewski et al. 2000), MICRO-FISH ((Lee et al. 1999), FISH-SIMS (Orphan et al. 2001), and bromodeoxyuridine labeling (McMahon et al. 2011), have been used to determine the taxonomic identity of microbial assemblage members consuming specific components of organic carbon in a variety of environments; however, these methods have not been used to examine incorporation of complex organic substrates. We used ¹³C-labeled algal lysate additions to soil cores to simulate the predicted organic carbon increases due to warming. Our goal was to directly determine which members of the microbial assemblage are active heterotrophs that would respond to the disturbance of increased labile organic carbon. To our knowledge, this study is the first attempt to characterize the entire active heterotrophic community in an intact soil core. To determine the primary consumers of the added organic carbon, it is critical to demonstrate direct consumption and incorporation of the substrate as the increased organic carbon and its consumption can have secondary effects (e.g. changes in pH, increased CO_2 concentrations in soil gas, production of secondary metabolites, etc.). We contend that utilizing ¹³C-labeled algal lysate as a substrate for stable isotope probing directly addresses this goal and can provide insight into which components of microbial assemblages directly respond to the addition of labile organic carbon because it is a complex material that can be easily taken up by heterotrophic bacterial communities (Bott and Kaplan 1985) and better represents the complexity of the organic carbon from natural sources. Our results suggest that the addition of complex labile carbon to active layer soils of High Arctic barren leads to increased microbial activity, decreased bacterial diversity, and shifts in bacterial community composition.

We determined the optimal concentration of algal lysate to maximize labeling while minimizing disturbance of the system. In order to run an ideal SIP experiment, the amount of substrate addition should be in the same range as *in situ* concentrations (Neufeld et al. 2007).These soils contained 3-6% total organic carbon; we added 1% algal lysate to simulate the increased organic carbon content in the soil.

As expected, the addition of algal lysate led to increased CO_2 production for all the investigated sites (Figure 2.1). The CO_2 production rate was not significantly different between sites except for Pit and Pat. These soils have distinct soil textures (Table 2.1); therefore the differences might originate from those variations. However, other factors related to site characteristics might have contributed to these variations as all these sites have various soil compositions. It has been shown that soil texture is a feature of soil physical environment that provides microenvironment for community growth and survival and influences the biological activity and microbial community composition (Chau et al. 2011). The overall activity increase due to increased carbon indicates significant implications for positive feedbacks to climate change in these ecosystems. With this information we know that these soils might contribute to global warming; however, more investigation is needed as to find the availability of soil organic matter for decomposition. Microbial efficiency of soil organic matter decomposition is one factor but other variables such as the chemical and physical composition of soils should be thoroughly studied alongside microbial community composition and physiology.

Previous studies have characterized microbial diversity in Arctic soils; however, our study focused on High Arctic barrens soils, which have not been previously studied. These ecosystems are significant to study because recent estimates of organic carbon contents of mineral soils in the northern circumpolar region, reveals higher soil organic matter than was assumed (Tarnocai et al. 2009). 581 Pg (57%) of the total estimated carbon is stored in Turbic Cryosolsmineral soils that have gone through cryoturbation. In addition, recent findings indicate a highlighted role in greenhouse gas productions of these environments and thus on climate feedbacks (Lee et al. 2012). Under aerobic conditions, regardless of soil type, the rate of total C release was shown to be six times greater than anaerobic conditions. Therefore, carbon mineralization and release to the atmosphere from these ecosystems will have significant consequences to global warming. Neufeld and Mohn (2005) found greater bacterial diversity in active layer Arctic tundra soils than in temperate boreal forest soils. Another study indicated that the bacterial community structure in Arctic soils is not fundamentally different from the bacterial communities in lower latitudes (Chu et al. 2010). Our results showed high diversity (Table 2.2 and Fig 2.2) in the soils of High Arctic barren as well. Most previous studies used methods such as clone libraries that are weak in sampling effort. The high throughput sequencing method we used was able to account for a larger fraction of the diversity (Table 2.2, Figure 2.2); however, we still did not completely sample the diversity of these soils.

We identified a diverse group of phyla including, Alphaproteobacteria, Betaproteobacteria, Gammaproteobacteria, Acidobacteria, Actinobacteria, Bacteroidetes, Gemmatimonadetes, Planctomycetes, Verrucomicrobia, and unclassified bacteria. Although all these phyla were present in all four sites, their abundance differed between sites. For example, in Res after unclassified bacteria, Acidobacteria was the dominant phyla. In DP, Betaproteobacteria dominated the assemblage. In Pit, unclassified bacteria, Alphaproteobacteria and Acidobacteria dominated the assemblage. In the furthest north site, Pat, unclassified bacteria, Alphaproteobacteria and Acidobacteria were the most abundant. These differences are not surprising as they have been observed before; there is a significant variability in overall community composition at multiple phylogenetic levels when examining Arctic soils (Gilichinsky et al. 2008; Liebner et al. 2008; Steven et al. 2008; Zhou et al. 1997). The most abundant phylotypesfound in Res, Pit, and Pat were similar and affiliated with unclassified, GP4, Chitinophagaceae and Rhizobiales. These phylotypes have been previously found in different abundance in several Arctic environments (Zhou et al. 1997; Neufeld and Mohn, 2005). DP had the most abundant phylotypes affiliated with unclassified, Polaromonas, Planococcaceae and Flavobacterium. These results indicate that there is a similar level of variability between sites at phylum level as well as finer taxonomic levels.

Incubation of soil cores at 4 ^oC without the addition of algal lysate did not change the diversity (table 2.2 and Fig 2.3-2.6) and composition of phyla present; however, the abundance varied for some phyla in some sites. The most abundant phylotypes were similar in unincubated and no substrate added incubations. However, incubation alone leads to a large decrease in the abundance of Bacteroidetes in all sites. Most previous studies on Arctic soils showed only a small proportion of community related to the Bacteroidetes (Zhou et al. 1997; Gilichinsky et al. 2008). However, Liebner et al (2008) found the majority of the community members in polygonal surface tundra soils of Lena Delta, Siberia, were related to Bacteroidetes. Bacteroidetes have been shown to predominate the upper permafrost layer of moist Arctic tundra upon permafrost thaw due to availability of easily degradable carbon (Coolen et al. 2011). It appears that Bacteroidetes are particularly susceptible to disturbance in our incubations. The data here may not capture all components of the community that could consume labile organic carbon. However, the other phyla and major phylotypes don't change extensively without substrate added, so we may be picking up most of the groups.

The SIP experiments showed that Actinobacteria (Arthrobacter) consumed the added labile carbon at all sites (Figures 2.3-2.6). Previous studies that characterized microbial diversity in Arctic soils based on total DNA have found Actinobacteria amongst the dominant phyla. For example, Yergeau et al. (2010) found Actinobacteria as the dominant phylum in both the active layer soil and permafrost. The authors indicated that these results, which were in agreement with previous studies in finding Actinobacteria as the dominant group (Kobabe et al. 2004; Steven et al. 2007; Liebner et al. 2008; Steven et al. 2008; Wagner et al. 2009), confirms how well-adapted Actinobacteria are to cold environments. Actinobacteria are commonly found at high abundance in the bacterial community of Arctic soils (Vishnivetskaya et al. 2006; Steven et al. 2007; Yergeau et al. 2010). They are believed to maintain metabolic activity and DNA repair mechanisms in cold environments (Johnson et al. 2007). Furthermore, they have the capacity to degrade complex organic carbon compounds which makes them an important group in organic matter degradation in these extreme ecosystems (Yergeau et al. 2010). Based on our results, these bacteria are an important component of microbial community in polar desert soils of High Arctic Barren.

Arthrobacter was found to be the most abundant phylotype in the labeled fraction of Res, Pit, and DP. *Arthrobacter* can survive long periods under stressful conditions through changing to a small coccoid like state which is described as the most stable form (Mongodin et al. 2006). Finding *Arthrobacter* as the most abundant phylotype contributes to the notion that having environmentally resistant resting states favors their presence and activity in cold environments. These soils have high concentrations of ammonia. It has been shown that Actinobacteria (*Arthrobacter*) can survive high concentrations of ammonia (Kelly et al. 2012). Pat was different, as Firmicutes affiliated with Planococcaceae and unclassified at genus level was the most abundant phylotype. The finding that the same groups consume added complex organic substrate at three of the four sites might indicate that Arthrobacter is likely to be the predominant consumer of increased organic carbon resulting from warming across High Arctic Barrens. However, the finding

that Planococcaceae and not Arthrobacter is the primary consumer at one of the sites might indicate that local conditions can influence which microbes are the primary consumers of added complex organic carbon. These findings have significant implications for our understanding of climate feedbacks as different microbes have different environmental responses and capacity for organic carbon degradation. These results can be clarified with more extensive studies at other sites.

Unclassified bacteria were not enriched in the ¹³C DNA; instead, these phylotypes were unlabeled. This is noticeable as they dominate the population in unincubated samples. Finding them in such abundance raises the question whether these sequences are representative of an ecologically significant group. As they have been mostly found through molecular based methods the question becomes if they truly have any function in the ecosystem or are the product of advanced methods biases. Given the fact that they are not present in the active heterotrophic community might indicate a lack of functionality. Alternatively, they may occupy specialized niches, which are disrupted by increased organic carbon. If the latter explanation is correct, these unclassified groups may become less prevalent in warmer, more organic-rich soils.

Addition of complex labile carbon exerts significant changes in community composition (Table 2.3). Heavy fractions from all sites were significantly different from the control and pre-incubation soil samples. In terms of phylotypes present, incubation alone did not change the communities significantly; however, their relative abundance was significantly different after incubation without substrate (Figure 2.3-2.6). In spite of the differences in the abundance of the present groups in samples between sites, all the enriched samples were the most similar and grouped together (Figure 2.7). The addition of labile organic carbon led to a convergence of the microbial communities. Given the differences in physicochemical conditions at the four study sites, and reaching this convergence

in the overall bacterial assemblage due to increased carbon, it can be concluded that our findings might be true across the Arctic for other ecosystems.

High CO_2 production rate and soil activity upon addition of labile organic carbon in polar desert soils of the High Arctic strongly indicates the possible role of these ecosystems in a future warmer climate. Our community analysis revealed a convergence in the overall community composition and presence of a few groups of active bacteria. These groups of bacteria might be of more interest, as they will be more likely to react to future climate change and contribute to global warming. Our analysis of heterotrophic bacteria using this method might be very useful for linking heterotrophy to diversity in other ecosystems and on a global basis.
3.1 Reference List

Allison, S.D., Wallenstein, M.D., and Bradford, M.A. 2010. Soil-carbon response to warming dependent on microbial physiology. Nature Geoscience 3(5): 336-340.

Baldock, J.A., and Skjemstad, J.O. 2000. Role of the soil matrix and minerals in protecting natural organic materials against biological attack. Org. Geochem. 31(7-8): 697-710.

Banerjee, S., Bedard-Haughn, A., Si, B.C., and Siciliano, S.D. 2011. Soil spatial dependence in three arctic ecosystems. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 75(2): 591-594.

Bott, T.L., and Kaplan, L.A. 1985. Bacterial biomass, metabolic state, and activity in stream sediments: Relation to environmental variables and multiple assay comparisons. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 50(2): 508-522.

Braker, G., Ayala-Del-Río, H.L., Devol, A.H., Fesefeldt, A., and Tiedje, J.M. 2001. Community Structure of Denitrifiers, Bacteria, and Archaea along Redox Gradients in Pacific Northwest Marine Sediments by Terminal Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism Analysis of Amplified Nitrite Reductase (nirS) and 16S rRNA Genes. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 67(4): 1893-1901.

Brummell, M.E., Farrell, R.E., and Siciliano, S.D. 2012 a. Greenhouse gas soil production and surface fluxes at a high arctic polar oasis. Soil Biol. Biochem. 52: 1-12.

Brummell, M.E., Farrell, R.E., Hardy, S. and Siciliano, S.D. 2012 b. Greenhouse gas soil production and consumption in high arctic deserts. Submitted to ISME J.

Carney, K.M., Hungate, B.A., Drake, B.G., and Megonigal, J.P. 2007. Altered soil microbial community at elevated CO₂ leads to loss of soil carbon. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 104(12): 4990-4995.

Chau, J.F., Bagtzoglou, A.C., and Willig, M.R. 2011. The Effect of Soil Texture on Richness and Diversity of Bacterial Communities. Environmental Forensics 12(4): 333-341.

Chu, H., Fierer, N., Lauber, C.L., Caporaso, J.G., Knight, R., and Grogan, P. 2010. Soil bacterial diversity in the Arctic is not fundamentally different from that found in other biomes. Environ. Microbiol. 12(11): 2998-3006.

Coolen, M.J.L., van de Giessen, J., Zhu, E.Y., and Wuchter, C. 2011. Bioavailability of soil organic matter and microbial community dynamics upon permafrost thaw. Environ. Microbiol. 13(8): 2299-2314.

Crecchio, C., Curci, M., Pellegrino, A., Ricciuti, P., Tursi, N., and Ruggiero, P. 2007. Soil microbial dynamics and genetic diversity in soil under monoculture wheat grown in different long-term management systems. Soil Biol. Biochem. 39(6): 1391-1400.

Dowd, S.E., Callaway, T.R., Wolcott, R.D., Sun, Y., McKeehan, T., Hagevoort, R.G., and Edrington, T.S. 2008. Evaluation of the bacterial diversity in the feces of cattle using 16S rDNA bacterial tag-encoded FLX amplicon pyrosequencing (bTEFAP). BMC Microbiology 8.

Fierer, N., and Jackson, R.B. 2006. The diversity and biogeography of soil bacterial communities. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 103(3): 626-631.

Gilichinsky, D., Vishnivetskaya, T., Petrova, M., Spirina, E., Mamykin, V., and Rivkina, E. 2008. Bacteria in Permafrost. Psychrophiles: From Biodiversity to Biotechnology : 83-102.

Good, I.J. 1953. The population frequencies of species and the estimation of population parameters. Biometrika 40(3-4): 237-264.

Goryachkin SV, Blume HP, Beyer L, Campbell I, Claridge G,Bockheim JG, Karavaeva NA, Targulin V, Tarnocai C, 2004.Similarities and differences in Arctic and Antarctic soil zones. In: Kimble JM (ed), Cryosols. Springer Verlag, pp. 49-70.

Gotelli, N.J., and Colwell, R.K. 2001. Quantifying biodiversity: Procedures and pitfalls in the measurement and comparison of species richness. Ecol. Lett. 4(4): 379-391.

Hill, G.B., and Henry, G.H.R. 2011. Responses of High Arctic wet sedge tundra to climate warming since 1980. Global Change Biol. 17(1): 276-287.

Hinsa-Leasure, S.M., Bhavaraju, L., Rodrigues, J.L.M., Bakermans, C., Gilichinsky, D.A., and Tiedje, J.M. 2010. Characterization of a bacterial community from a Northeast Siberian seacoast permafrost sample. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 74(1): 103-113.

Hogan, M.C., (Lead Author); McGinley, M (Topic Editor). 2011. "Polar desert". In: Encyclopedia of Earth. Eds. Cutler J. Cleveland (Washington, D.C.: Environmental Information Coalition, National Council for Science and the Environment). [First published in the Encyclopedia of Earth November 30, 2011; Last revised Date December 5, 2011; Retrieved July 2, 2012

IPCC. 2007. Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.

Johnson, S.S., Hebsgaard, M.B., Christensen, T.R., Mastepanov, M., Nielsen, R., Munch, K., Brand, T., Gilbert, M.T.P., Zuber, M.T., Bunce, M., Rønn, R., Gilichinsky, D., Froese, D., and Willerslev, E. 2008. Ancient bacteria show evidence of DNA repair (Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America (2007) 104, 36, (14401-14405) DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0706787104). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 105(30): 10631.

Kandeler, E., Tscherko, D., Bruce, K.D., Stemmer, M., Hobbs, P.J., Bardgett, R.D., and Amelung, W. 2000. Structure and function of the soil microbial community in microhabitats of a heavy metal polluted soil. Biol. Fertility Soils 32(5): 390-400.

Kelly, L.C., Cockell, C.S., and Summers, S. 2012. Diverse microbial species survive high ammonia concentrations. International Journal of Astrobiology 11(2): 125-131.

Kobabe, S., Wagner, D., and Pfeiffer, E.-. 2004. Characterisation of microbial community composition of a Siberian tundra soil by fluorescence in situ hybridisation. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 50(1): 13-23.

Kuhry, P., Dorrepaal, E., Hugelius, G., Schuur, E.A.G., and Tarnocai, C. 2010. Short communication: Potential remobilization of belowground permafrost carbon under future global warming. Permafrost Periglacial Processes 21(2): 208-214. Kulp, T.R., Hoeft, S.E., Miller, L.G., Saltikov, C., Murphy, J.N., Han, S., Lanoil, B., and Oremland, R.S. 2006. Dissimilatory arsenate and sulfate reduction in sediments of two hypersaline, arsenic-rich soda lakes: Mono and Searles Lakes, California. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 72(10): 6514-6526.

Lamb, E.G., Han, S., Lanoil, B.D., Henry, G.H.R., Brummell, M.E., Banerjee, S., and Siciliano, S.D. 2011. A High Arctic soil ecosystem resists long-term environmental manipulations. Global Change Biol. 17(10): 3187-3194.

Lane, D.J. 1991. 16S/23S rRNA sequencing. Nucleic Acid Techniques in Bacterial Systematics : 115-175.

Lee, N., Nielsen, P.H., Andreasen, K.H., Juretschko, S., Nielsen, J.L., Schleifer, K.-., and Wagner, M. 1999. Combination of fluorescent in situ hybridization and microautoradiography - A new tool for structure-function analyses in microbial ecology. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 65(3): 1289-1297.

Lee, H., Schuur, E.A.G., Inglett, K.S., Lavoie, M., and Chanton, J.P. 2012. The rate of permafrost carbon release under aerobic and anaerobic conditions and its potential effects on climate. Global Change Biol. 18(2): 515-527.

Levene, H. 1960. Robust tests for equality of variances. IN I. Olkin, H. Hotelling, et al. (eds.) Contributions to Probability and Statistics: Essays in Honor of Harold Hotelling. Stanford University Press. pp. 278–292.

Liebner, S., Harder, J., and Wagner, D. 2008. Bacterial diversity and community structure in polygonal tundra soils from Samoylov Island, Lena Delta, Siberia. International Microbiology 11(3): 195-202.

Lueders, T., Manefield, M., and Friedrich, M.W. 2004. Enhanced sensitivity of DNA- and rRNA-based stable isotope probing by fractionation and quantitative analysis of isopycnic centrifugation gradients. Environ. Microbiol. 6(1): 73-78.

Martineau, C., Whyte, L.G., and Greer, C.W. 2010. Stable isotope probing analysis of the diversity and activity of Methanotrophic bacteria in soils from the Canadian high Arctic. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 76(17): 5773-5784.

Moffett, B.F., Nicholson, F.A., Uwakwe, N.C., Chambers, B.J., Harris, J.A., and Hill, T.C.J. 2003. Zinc contamination decreases the bacterial diversity of agricultural soil. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 43(1): 13-19.

Mongodin, E.F., Shapir, N., Daugherty, S.C., DeBoy, R.T., Emerson, J.B., Shvartzbeyn, A., Radune, D., Vamathevan, J., Riggs, F., Grinberg, V., Khouri, H., Wackett, L.P., Nelson, K.E., and Sadowsky, M.J. 2006. Secrets of soil survival revealed by the genome sequence of Arthrobacter aurescens TC1. PLoS Genetics 2(12): 2094-2106.

Neufeld, J.D., Vohra, J., Dumont, M.G., Lueders, T., Manefield, M., Friedrich, M.W., and Murrell, C.J. 2007. DNA stable-isotope probing. Nature Protocols 2(4): 860-866.

Neufeld, J.D., and Mohn, W.W. 2005. Unexpectedly high bacterial diversity in arctic tundra relative to boreal forest soils, revealed by serial analysis of ribosomal sequence tags. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 71(10): 5710-5718.

Neufeld, J.D., Dumont, M.G., Vohra, J., and Murrell, J.C. 2007. Methodological considerations for the use of stable isotope probing in microbial ecology. Microb. Ecol. 53(3): 435-442.

Norby, R.J., DeLucia, E.H., Gielen, B., Calfapietra, C., Giardina, C.P., Kings, J.S., Ledford, J., McCarthy, H.R., Moore, D.J.P., Ceulemans, R., De Angelis, P., Finzi, A.C., Karnosky, D.F., Kubiske, M.E., Lukac, M., Pregitzer, K.S., Scarascia-Mugnozza, G.E., Schlesinger, W.H., and Oren, R. 2005. Forest response to elevated CO₂ is conserved across a broad range of productivity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 102(50): 18052-18056.

Nüsslein, K., and Tiedje, J.M. 1999. Soil bacterial community shift correlated with change from forest to pasture vegetation in a tropical soil. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 65(8): 3622-3626.

Oechel, W.C., Vourlitis, G.L., Hastings, S.J., Zuluete, R.C., Maxman, L., and Kane, D. 2000. Acclimation of ecosystem CO₂ exchange in the Alaskan Arctic in response to decadal climate warming. Nature 406(6799): 978-981.

Orphan, V.J., House, C.H., Hinrichs, K.-., McKeegan, K.D., and DeLong, E.F. 2001. Methane-consuming archaea revealed by directly coupled isotopic and phylogenetic analysis. Science 293(5529): 484-487.

Ping, C.-., Michaelson, G.J., Jorgenson, M.T., Kimble, J.M., Epstein, H., Romanovsky, V.E., and Walker, D.A. 2008. High stocks of soil organic carbon in the North American Arctic region. Nature Geoscience 1(9): 615-619. Quince, C., Lanzen, A., Davenport, R.J., and Turnbaugh, P.J. 2011. Removing Noise From Pyrosequenced Amplicons. BMC Bioinformatics 12.

Radajewski, S., Ineson, P., Parekh, N.R., and Murrell, J.C. 2000. Stable-isotope probing as a tool in microbial ecology. Nature 403(6770): 646-649.

Roesch, L.F.W., Fulthorpe, R.R., Riva, A., Casella, G., Hadwin, A.K.M., Kent, A.D., Daroub, S.H., Camargo, F.A.O., Farmerie, W.G., and Triplett, E.W. 2007. Pyrosequencing enumerates and contrasts soil microbial diversity. ISME Journal 1(4): 283-290.

Schloss, P.D., Westcott, S.L., Ryabin, T., Hall, J.R., Hartmann, M., Hollister, E.B., Lesniewski, R.A., Oakley, B.B., Parks, D.H., Robinson, C.J., Sahl, J.W., Stres, B., Thallinger, G.G., Van Horn, D.J., and Weber, C.F. 2009. Introducing mothur: Open-source, platform-independent, community-supported software for describing and comparing microbial communities. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 75(23): 7537-7541.

Schloss, P.D. 2008. Evaluating different approaches that test whether microbial communities have the same structure. ISME Journal 2(3): 265-275.

Schuur, E.A.G., Bockheim, J., Canadell, J.G., Euskirchen, E., Field, C.B., Goryachkin, S.V., Hagemann, S., Kuhry, P., Lafleur, P.M., Lee, H., Mazhitova, G., Nelson, F.E., Rinke, A., Romanovsky, V.E., Shiklomanov, N., Tarnocai, C., Venevsky, S., Vogel, J.G., and Zimov, S.A. 2008. Vulnerability of permafrost carbon to climate change: Implications for the global carbon cycle. Bioscience 58(8): 701-714.

Shapiro, S.S., and Wilk, M.B. 1965. An analysis of variance test for normality (complete samples). Biometrika 52: 591-611.

Sheneman, L., Evans, J., and Foster, J.A. 2006. Clearcut: A fast implementation of relaxed neighbor joining. Bioinformatics 22(22): 2823-2824.

Shepard, R.N. 1966. Metric structures in ordinal data. J. Math. Psychol. 3(2): 287-315.

Simpson, E.H. 1949. Measurement of diversity [16]. Nature 163(4148): 688.

Steven, B., Pollard, W.H., Greer, C.W., and Whyte, L.G. 2008. Microbial diversity and activity through a permafrost/ground ice core profile from the Canadian high Arctic. Environ. Microbiol. 10(12): 3388-3403.

Steven, B., Briggs, G., McKay, C.P., Pollard, W.H., Greer, C.W., and Whyte, L.G. 2007. Characterization of the microbial diversity in a permafrost sample from the Canadian high Arctic using culture-dependent and culture-independent methods. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 59(2): 513-523.

Tarnocai, C., Canadell, J.G., Schuur, E.A.G., Kuhry, P., Mazhitova, G., and Zimov, S. 2009. Soil organic carbon pools in the northern circumpolar permafrost region. Global Biogeochem. Cycles 23(2).

Turner, S., Pryer, K.M., Miao, V.P.W., and Palmer, J.D. 1999. Investigating deep phylogenetic relationships among cyanobacteria and plastids by small subunit rRNA sequence analysis. J. Eukaryot. Microbiol. 46(4): 327-338.

Veihmeyer, F.J., and Hendrickson, A.H. 1931. The moisture equivalent as a measure of the field capacity of soils. Soil Sci. 32: 181-193.

Vishnivetskaya, T.A., Petrova, M.A., Urbance, J., Ponder, M., Moyer, C.L., Gilichinsky, D.A., and Tiedje, J.M. 2006. Bacterial community in ancient Siberian permafrost as characterized by culture and culture-independent methods. Astrobiology 6(3): 400-414.

Wagner, D., Kobabe, S., and Liebner, S. 2009. Bacterial community structure and carbon turnover in permafrost-affected soils of the Lena Delta, northeastern Siberia. Can. J. Microbiol. 55(1): 73-83.

Walker, D.A., Gould, W.A., Maier, H.A., and Raynolds, M.K. 2002. The circumpolar Arctic Vegetation Map: AVHRR-derived base maps, environmental controls, and integrated mapping procedures. Int. J. Remote Sens. 23(21): 4551-4570.

Walter, K.M., Zimov, S.A., Chanton, J.P., Verbyla, D., and Chapin III, F.S. 2006. Methane bubbling from Siberian thaw lakes as a positive feedback to climate warming. Nature 443(7107): 71-75. Yergeau, E., Hogues, H., Whyte, L.G., and Greer, C.W. 2010. The functional potential of high Arctic permafrost revealed by metagenomic sequencing, qPCR and microarray analyses. ISME Journal 4(9): 1206-1214.

Zhou, J., Davey, M.E., Figueras, J.B., Rivkina, E., Gilichinsky, D., and Tiedje, J.M. 1997. Phylogenetic diversity of a bacterial community determined from Siberian tundra soil DNA. Microbiology 143(12): 3913-3919.

Zhou, J., Xia, B., Treves, D.S., Wu, L.-., Marsh, T.L., O'Neill, R.V., Palumbo, A.V., and Tiedje, J.M. 2002. Spatial and resource factors influencing high microbial diversity in soil. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 68(1): 326-334.

Zolman JF, 1993. Biostatistics : experimental design and statistical inference. Oxford University Press

Zimov, S.A., Schuur, E.A.G., and Stuart Chapin III, F. 2006. Permafrost and the global carbon budget. Science 312(5780): 1612-1613.

Yue, J.C., and Clayton, M.K. 2005. A similarity measure based on species proportions. Communications in Statistics - Theory and Methods 34(11): 2123-2131.

3. Conclusion

Polar warming will lead to increased labile organic carbon in Arctic soils, both from the release of organic carbon stored in permafrost and increased plant production. The impact of increasing organic carbon on Arctic soil microbial community composition and activity was the focus of this research because microbial decomposition of Arctic soil organic carbon is a potential major source of CO₂ to the atmosphere. Mainly we were interested in finding the links between bacterial community structure, activity, and carbon turnover in Arctic soils. We specifically chose permafrost-affected mineral soils in the High Arctic as these ecosystems account for 5,000,000 square kilometers of land surface (Hogan 2011) and it is not clear how a changing environment will affect these ecosystems or what role they may play in climate change. In addition, most studies regarding climate feedbacks have focused on peatlands or generally address the tundra biome. Therefore, we addressed the bacterial diversity and community composition and their response to increased carbon. We expected this study to lead us to a better understanding of the role of bacterial assemblages in climate change as having a positive or negative feedback.

This research was the first extensive study of bacterial diversity and community composition of polar desert soils in Arctic. I found as high bacterial diversity in these environments as other biomes in Arctic soils. A broad spectrum of bacterial phylogenetic groups dominated by Proteobacteria (Alpha-Beta-Gamma), Acidobacteria, Actinobacteria, Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes were found to be present in these soils. These groups have also been shown in Middle Arctic, Low Arctic and other cold ecosystems including alpine and Antarctic soils. The fact that these bacterial groups are similar in all sites studied and also similar to other biomes indicates that the total community structure of polar desert soils based on total DNA analysis is not unique to that environment and shares many phylogenetic groups at the phylum level with other environments; however there was a highly localized pattern at the OTU level. In addition, the extreme environment of these polar desert soils does not bring strong differences in the bacterial communities. This is worth mentioning our study only addressed microbial ecology of surface soils (active layer). Another question to address would be if we could generalize these findings to permafrost layer and find similar responses for it.

With all our knowledge about microbial diversity in these ecosystems, we face the limitation of identifying total community structure only based on total DNA analysis which does not give us insight toward active members of the community. Use of SIP enabled us to 1) characterize the active heterotrophic bacterial communities 2) determine the effect of release of labile organic carbon from permafrost into Arctic soils on climate change and CO₂ production in a warmer climate through changing bacterial community composition. The results highlighted the presence of a few active and responsive groups in the community in all sites and our hypothesis that the addition of labile carbon to the polar desert soils would lead to a decrease in the diversity of heterotrophic bacterial community was supported. The presence of Actinobacteria in all sites and as the most active and responsive in three of the four sites indicates its importance and role in handling the release of organic carbon to the soil. This finding highlights their function in these ecosystems as they have been shown to exist in high abundance in cold environments and are believed to maintain metabolic activity and DNA repair mechanisms in cold environments (Johnson et al. 2007). Our results suggest their ecological role in metabolizing highly complex organic carbon in extreme cold ecosystems. Finding Arthrobacter as the most abundant active phylotype might contribute to the notion that having environmentally resistant resting states favors their presence and activity in cold environments. In one of the sites studied (Pat) we found Firmicutes as the phylum that most actively consumes the added algal lysate. We still do not know the reason behind their higher activity in this site or the lack of Arthrobacter. Pat was the most northerly site and might have some climatic or physicochemical features that possibly regulate microbial community interactions. A more extensive

longitudinal and latitudinal survey of the active bacteria across the High Arctic barrens will help to determine whether our findings are universal or more local.

Based on the taxonomic information obtained, microbial community in all sites were similar in unincubated samples considering the phylotypes at Phylum and class level and then converging to a low diversity community with the addition of substrate. Our new method in linking heterotrophic activity to diversity and identity might be helpful in identifying heterotrophic bacteria in other ecosystems. Since the overall community was similar in polar desert soils to other cold environments, our findings can be useful for those environments as well. However, we do not know certainly how other ecosystems will respond regarding labile carbon addition.

The CO_2 production capacity of these soils in response to labile carbon addition was high and similar in different sites. This finding suggests Arctic soil microbes might have an important role in CO_2 production upon the release of carbon from permafrost thaw in warmer future conditions. ¹³C-labeled substrate we used was highly labile and an analogue to soil organic matter. However, the question becomes to what degree these results can be generalized for in situ interactions. Bioavailability of soil organic matter has been considered as a factor influencing organic carbon degradation which might vary in different permafrost environments across the Arctic (Coolen et al. 2011). Therefore, reaching a global picture on the extent of microbial contribution to climate feedbacks will be dependent on incorporating similar data to our study into climate change models to better predict soil organic matter turnover in the Arctic.

Future directions

This study focused on the bacterial communities from active layer soils. Future investigations should be directed toward determining the response of microbial communities in permafrost layer to the release of organic carbon in these ecosystems. It will be interesting to look for the active communities and find whether they are different from what we found in active layers. Yergeau et al. (2010) suggested that since there was a highly similar functional and phylogenetic community composition between active layer and permafrost, permafrost microbial community could be a subset of the active layer microbial community and originated from overlying active layer. Further research is needed to confirm if the same bacterial communities are active in permafrost.

A systematic approach should be taken to find the environmental factors that control the active communities. In this study, we had only samples from four sites and site data only for three of them. More samples from different locations are needed to be able to statistically analyze the correlations between soil physicochemical characteristics and bacterial taxa.

Our approach utilizing an analogue of soil organic carbon gives insight toward specific bacterial groups that might be of great importance as having ecological roles critical in climate feedbacks. In order to provide more *in situ* conditions, plant extracts could be labeled instead of algal lysate and used for SIP. Also this knowledge can narrow our focus toward studying the community at single cell level. With the advances in methods in linking environmental functions to specific microbial taxa which combines SIP with highly sensitive methods such as NanoSIMS, single cell level activity should be investigated for these soils to confirm the data and obtain a better understanding of the function of the bacteria found in our research.

3.1 Reference list

Coolen, M.J.L., van de Giessen, J., Zhu, E.Y., and Wuchter, C. 2011. Bioavailability of soil organic matter and microbial community dynamics upon permafrost thaw. Environ. Microbiol. 13(8): 2299-2314.

Hogan, M.C., (Lead Author); McGinley, M (Topic Editor). 2011. "Polar desert". In: Encyclopedia of Earth. Eds. Cutler J. Cleveland (Washington, D.C.: Environmental Information Coalition, National Council for Science and the Environment). [First published in the Encyclopedia of Earth November 30, 2011; Last revised Date December 5, 2011; Retrieved July 2, 2012

Johnson, S.S., Hebsgaard, M.B., Christensen, T.R., Mastepanov, M., Nielsen, R., Munch, K., Brand, T., Gilbert, M.T.P., Zuber, M.T., Bunce, M., Rønn, R., Gilichinsky, D., Froese, D., and Willerslev, E. 2008. Ancient bacteria show evidence of DNA repair (Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America (2007) 104, 36, (14401-14405) DOI: 10.1073/pnas.0706787104). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 105(30): 10631.

Yergeau, E., Hogues, H., Whyte, L.G., and Greer, C.W. 2010. The functional potential of high Arctic permafrost revealed by metagenomic sequencing, qPCR and microarray analyses. ISME Journal 4(9): 1206-1214.

Appendix



Fig A 1. Soil sampling sites. A-Patterson River (Pat), B-Dome Pit (DP), C-Okse Bay (Pit), D-Resolute Bay (Res). The image was obtained from Google Maps. A, B and C are located in Ellesmere Island in the Canadian High Arctic Archipelago: Okse Bay (77 8' 88" N, 87 39' 10" W), Alexandra Fjord Dome (78 51' 31" N, 75 55' 37" W and Patterson River (82 35' 47" N, 63 45' 32" W). D is located on Cornwallis Island: Resolute Bay (74° 43' 23" N, 94° 56' 10" W). These sites correspond to the B1 designation of the Circumpolar Arctic Vegetation Map (Walker et al. 2002). The Pit site is a small bay on the southwest peninsula of Ellesmere Island. The surrounding land is a series of raised beach crests from which the samples were taken. The top of the hills has polar desert terrain characteristics and the lower area in between is moist tundra. Soil structure is very coarse, containing mostly sand with some silt, large gravel and stones. Alexandra Fjord Dome is a valley on the east coast of Ellesmere Island. Although the lowland is a polar oasis, the DP site is in the mountainous area at the border of the valley-mountain (the dome), which is a polar desert with several glaciers covering the area. See text p 65.



Fig A 2. a) Incubation experiment; PVC pipes containing soil cores b) slotted PVC pipe for soil sampling and the core container.

Soil samples were collected using the slotted cores shown in Fig 2.b above. The slots on the core collector allowed for free gas exchange. The core collectors were hammered into soil (beveled end down to provide a cutting surface) to collect the upper 10 cm of surface soil active layer. The cores were then capped and secured with plastic wraps and tape, kept frozen and delivered to the lab. For the incubations, the cap was removed and the core was placed inside a larger PVC pipe shown above in Fig 2.a. The large pipes were capped and sealed applying vaccum grease. The caps had a rubber stopper built in it to allow gas sampling. For more details see text p 67.

DGGE analysis

In order to justify homogenizing triplicate samples for each site for high throughput sequencing, it was necessary to demonstrate that within site replicate variability was lower than between site variability. To test that hypothesis, DGGE profiles of PCR-amplified 16S rRNA gene fragments from triplicate samples at each site were compared, both within and between sites. Replicate samples showed higher similarity within sites than between sites for all treatments/fractions (Figure A3). Thus, the hypothesis was supported and DNA from triplicate cores was homogenized for each site prior to sending samples for high throughput 16S rRNA gene sequencing.



Fig A 3. DGGE and cluster analysis of PCR-amplified 16S rRNA gene fragments from DNA fractions retrieved from CsCl density gradients from three replicates of each site. For each sample, 2 or 3 heavy DNA fractions and 2 or 3 light DNA fractions were selected for DGGE analysis. Replicates include: DP 7, DPH and DP 3; Pat J, Pat M, PatH; PitH, PitI, PitL and ResJ, ResK, ResH. C refers to controls.

In order to illustrate the distribution of unique OTUs in different groups and shared OTUs between groups, Venn diagrams were generated using MOTHUR (Figure A4 a,b,c and d). In each site, different treatments were compared. In all sites, there are few shared OTUs between the different treatments. The non-incubated soils shared the highest number of OTUs with the soils incubated without the addition of substrate. Numbers of OTUs shared with heavy and light bands are much lower. The total numbers of OTUs are as follows: Res 775, Res C 688, Res H 88, Res L 524, Pit 767, Pit C 734, Pit H 112, Pit L 133, DP 496, DPC 674, DPH 120, Pit L 161, Pat 588, PatC 739, PatH 126, Pat L 1031.



Fig A 4.A. Venn diagram for bacterial $OTUs_{0.03}$ found in site Res; Res, non-incubated soil; ResC, incubated soil without the addition of substrate; ResH, heavy fraction from incubated soil with ¹³C-labeled algal lysate; ResL, light fraction from incubated soil with ¹³C-labeled algal lysate. OTU 0.03 is the cut off level for generating OTUs which was used for Venn diarams as well.



Fig A 4.b. Venn diagram for bacterial $OTUs_{0.03}$ found in site Pit; Pit, non-incubated soil; pitC, incubated soil without the addition of substrate; PitH, heavy fraction from incubated soil with ¹³C-labeled algal lysate; PitL, light fraction from incubated soil with ¹³C-labeled algal lysate.



Fig A 4.c. Venn diagram for bacterial $OTUs_{0.03}$ found in site DP; DP, non-incubated soil; DPC, incubated soil without the addition of substrate; DPH, heavy fraction from incubated soil with ¹³C-labeled algal lysate; DPL, light fraction from incubated soil with ¹³C-labeled algal lysate.





Fig A 4.d. Venn diagram for bacterial $OTUs_{0.03}$ found in site Pat; Pat, non-incubated soil; PatC, incubated soil without the addition of substrate; PatH, heavy fraction from incubated soil with ¹³C-labeled algal lysate; PatL, light fraction from incubated soil with ¹³C-labeled algal lysate.